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Boe per day

600,000

EBITDA 2019 USD million

709.9
Number of units

15

Certified net reserves  
and resources

247 mmbbl

Employees

2,126 

We deliver efficient offshore 
production by meticulously 
integrating BW Offshore’s 
and our clients’ know-how 
for ever better solutions.

This philosophy is the foundation of BW Offshore’s open and collaborative approach with clients across 
projects and operations. It fosters the sharing of experience, engineering considerations and agreement 
on best practices. The result: a shared, smarter solution and a long-term work relationship.

Executed projects

40
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2019 in brief

BW Offshore is a leading provider of floating production services to the oil 
and gas industry. The company also participates in developing proven offshore 
hydrocarbon reservoirs. BW Offshore is represented in all major oil and gas regions 
worldwide with a fleet of 15 owned FPSOs. The company has over 35 years of 
production track record, having executed 40 FPSO and FSO projects. 

Key events
•	 High uptime of the FPSO Fleet and strong production from  

the Dussafu field
•	 Ruche Phase 1 development plan revised after significant oil 

discovery at Hibiscus
•	 Acquisition of the Maromba field offshore Brazil
•	 BW Energy established as an independent E&P company listed 

on the Oslo Stock Exchange in February 2020 
•	 BW Catcher operating consistently above nameplate capacity
•	 Change in management: Marco Beenen appointed new CEO 

and Ståle Andreassen appointed new CFO 
•	 Contract extension for FPSO Petróleo Nautipa
•	 Contract extension for Abo FPSO
•	 Contract extension for BW Cidade de São Vicente
•	 Contract extension for FPSO Polvo
•	 FPSO Umuroa contract not extended 

Running complex 
operations for over 
35 years has taught 
us the importance of 
thorough engineering, 
trust and teamwork

Key figures

Commercial Uptime 99.6 %

LTI per million hours 0.48

HPI per million hours 0.78

Operating revenues USD million 1,153.0

EBITDA USD million 709.9

EBIT USD million 297.6

Net profit/(loss) USD million 106.1

Total assets USD million 3,369.1

Total equity USD million 1,458.5

Equity ratio 43.3%

Market cap USD million 1,390.0

Enterprise value USD million 3,389.89

Performance
With an average uptime routinely at 99% over the past 
5 years, BW Offshore exceeds client expectations while 
recognising internally that uptime must never be prioritised 
over safe operations. 

Global footprint
BW Offshore is represented in all the major oil and gas 
regions worldwide, across Asia Pacific, the Americas, Europe 
and West Africa. The Group currently operates FPSOs in 
eight countries, supported by local onshore teams and an 
organisation with a global presence.
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Global footprint

BW PIONEER, MURPHY OIL

1

YÙUM K’AK’ NÁAB, PEMEX

2

BW CIDADE DE SÃO VICENTE,
PETROBRAS

3

FPSO POLVO, PETRORIO

4

ABO FPSO, AGIP/ENI

6

SENDJE BERGE, ADDAX/SINOPEC

7

ESPOIR IVOIRIEN, CNR

5

PETRÓLEO NAUTIPA, VAALCO

8



INDIA

CHINA

SINGAPORE
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NEW ZEALAND

12

14

15

BERGE HELENE

13

BW ATHENA

10

BW CATCHER, PREMIER OIL

11

BW ADOLO, BW ENERGY

9

BW OPPORTUNITY,
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BW JOKO TOLE, KANGEAN
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UMUROA, TAMARIND 

15
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OFFICES
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OWNED FIELDS

BW Offshore Limited  |  Annual Report 2019 5



BERGESEN

WORLD-WIDE

1967 
Dry bulk
market 
entry

1969 
First 

VLCC:
World 
Chief

1935
Founded by 

Sig. Bergesen

1955
Founded by 

Y.K. Pao

1978
LPG 

market 
entry

1979
Largest 

independent 
shipping group  

in the world: 
200 vessels of  
20 million dwt

1999
Acqusition  

of N&T  
Argonaut

2003
Bergesen 
acquisition

and de-listing

1986
Bergesen 

listing

1996
Leader in 
crude and  

gas shipping
markets with 
100 vessels

2000
LNG 

market 
entry

2005
Restructuring

and re-branding

2006
BW Offshore
listing on the
Oslo Stock
Exchange

 History
 
BW Offshore is a leading global provider of floating production services to the 
oil and gas industry. BW Offshore is represented in all major oil and gas regions 
worldwide with a fleet of 15 owned FPSOs. 

BW Offshore has a long track record of project execution 
and operations, as well as a robust balance sheet and strong 
financial capabilities. In more than 35 years of production, 
BW Offshore has executed 40 FPSO and FSO projects. The 
company is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

The origin of BW Offshore dates back to 1982, as a depart-
ment of Bergesen d.y., when Berge Sisar (an LPG FPSO later 
replaced by Berge Troll) was installed in Angola. 

In 2003, World-Wide acquired Norway’s Bergesen d.y. ASA, 
the world’s largest gas carrier operator. The acquisition 
brought together two well-established businesses with 
similar commitments to quality and industry leadership. 
Bergesen Worldwide was established as a holding com-
pany incorporated in Bermuda on 29 October 2003 under 
an internal group restructuring implemented in 2003 and 
2004.

In 2005, a further re-organisation took place, accompanied 
by the re-branding of the business under a single group 
brand, BW. BW Offshore Ltd was listed on the Oslo Stock 

Exchange in 2006, while BW Group Ltd was incorporated 
in Bermuda and became the holding company of the Group 
on 10 April 2007.

The BW Group includes significant shareholding in BW 
Offshore, BW LPG, BW LNG, BW Energy, Hafnia, Epic Gas, 
DHT, and BW Dry Cargo.

In 2007, BW Offshore acquired APL ASA (Advanced 
Production and Loading), a producer of technology for the 
offshore oil and gas industry, and in 2010 this was followed 
by the acquisition of Prosafe ASA, another FPSO company 
listed in Norway. The merged company constituted the sec-
ond largest FPSO fleet, a position that has been maintained 
to date. 

Through continuous development and exploration of new 
business segments, BW Offshore has been an industry 
pioneer, and executing complex projects and operating 
advanced production systems for more than three decades 
has instilled the importance of thorough engineering, trust 
and teamwork throughout the organisation.
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80 YEARS OF MARITIME ENERGY HISTORY
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CEO's report

Delivering on  
strategic priorities

At BW Offshore, we 
are proud to be part 

of an industry that 
supports economic 

and social development 
through access to safe 

and affordable energy. 
We use our competence, 

ambition and international 
footprint to deliver innovative 

and efficient solutions and 
to create value for all our 

stakeholders. This was reflected 
in strong HSE performance, 

record revenue and operational 
cash flow in 2019.

Marco Beenen 
CEO BW Offshore



It was a year of progress on many fronts. The hard work and 
dedication of our offshore staff, supported by all disciplines 
of our onshore organisation, made these results possible. My 
sincere appreciation goes to all the teams across the world. 
It is the perseverance and dedication of our people that keep 
us moving forward. I would also like to thank our customers 
and business partners for sharing this journey with us. 

Delivering on long-term strategy
Safety is our number one priority and we consider High 
Potential Incidents to be the most material indicator of 
safety performance. We saw a significant decline in 2019 
due to continuous focus on building a strong offshore safety 
culture and leveraging our Operational Integrity function. 

The FPSO segment delivered continued high uptime and 
improved HSE performance, a reflection of the steady long-
term nature of the business and continuous commitment 
to safe operations. Our E&P segment had strong opera-
tional results supported by the FPSO Adolo, which led to 
upward revisions of production targets through the year. 
The Dussafu licence exploration programme delivered out-
standing results with the Hibiscus well triggering a revised 
development Ruche Phase 1 plan and accelerated produc-
tion growth in Gabon. 

In March, we announced the acquisition of the Maromba 
field in the Campos Basin offshore Brazil in an area well 
known to us—close to the Peregrino, Papa Terra and Polvo 
oil fields where BW Offshore has or has had FPSO opera-
tions. Our subsidiary BW Energy was later approved by local 
regulators as a field operator in Brazil. 

The investment confirms the strong value proposition of the 
combined BW Offshore and BW Energy business model, 
which enables the unlocking of proven reserves with a low-
risk development approach very well-suited to the current oil 
price environment. It meets the criteria upon which our E&P 
strategy is founded: proven resources, high upside potential, 
location in a country where we currently operate, a phased 

development and the use of our own FPSOs—the Berge 
Helene, currently at Keppel Shipyard awaiting modifications. 

The high uptime on our FPSO fleet of 12 operational units 
in 2019, reflects our long-term commitment to asset quality 
and operational integrity through continuous fleet main-
tenance and modification projects. We signed contract 
extensions for FPSO Polvo, BW Cidade de São Vicente, Abo 
FPSO and Petróleo Nautipa, again proving that FPSOs have 
a commercial life far beyond fixed contract periods. 

A new chapter has begun 
2019 was a year of management transition in accordance 
with an established internal succession plan. As of 1 July, I 
was appointed as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Ståle 
Andreassen assumed the position of Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO). Former CEO Carl Arnet and CFO Knut Sæthre moved 
on to assume the same positions at BW Energy, to develop 
it as a fast-growing and separately listed E&P company. 

I am honoured and pleased to take the helm at BW Offshore 
at a time of transition for the global energy sector. We are 
very much part of that change and aspire to achieve sustain-
able development by striking a fair balance between financial 
results, value creation, sustainability and corporate respon-
sibility. We deliver affordable energy through sustainable 
operations, and contribute to developing local communities 
where we operate by providing safe and meaningful jobs.

It is also a time to look at our strengths and competencies 
based on nearly 40 years of offshore projects in all major 
oil and gas producing basins, and to consider how we can 
position ourselves for the future. We are a leading FPSO 
operator and we have developed a highly successful E&P 
business in less than three years. It is only natural to look at 
how we can use our knowledge, experience and resources 
to explore new solutions for tomorrow and develop new 
business segments to ensure long-term growth and a prof-
itable and sustainable future. 
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The company’s main activities are engineering, 
procurement, construction and installation, as well as 
lease and operation services for FPSOs. The company 
also participates in developing proven offshore 
hydrocarbon reservoirs.

Safe and 
efficient offshore 
development

E&P  FPSO

BW Energy listed as a separate  
company in February 2020
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Operational capabilities 

Performance commitment
BW Offshore prioritises safety in all its operations and has 
‘zero harm’ as an overriding objective for personnel and the 
environment to ensure all assets are operated in the saf-
est manner. Safe operations and high uptime are not only 
requirements but obligations for BW Offshore to clients 
and employees. Safety is the highest priority and the Group 
maintains relentless focus and commitment to best-in-class 
Health, Safety, Security, Environmental and Quality (HSSEQ) 
standards and asset integrity management. 

Experience and results
The safety focus is embedded throughout the organisation, 
which in turn is reflected by the FPSO fleet’s commercial 
uptime. With an average uptime routinely at 99% over the 
past 5 years, BW Offshore exceeds client expectations while 
recognising internally that uptime must never be a prior-
ity over safe operations. More than 600,000 barrels of oil 
equivalent in daily volume is handled by 11 FPSOs in areas as 
diverse as West Africa, the South Atlantic off Brazil, the Gulf 
of Mexico, the US Gulf, the North Sea and South East Asia.

Competent and motivated workforce
BW Offshore places high emphasis on work ethic and culture. 
The level of experience and competence required to execute 
industry-leading assignments requires BW Offshore to be 
an attractive employer offering global work opportunities. 
Global recruitment centres and manning supply partners 
select best-in-class candidates for offshore and onshore posi-
tions. BW Offshore’s international employee base allows for 
global rotation of talent based on required competence. 

The Group is committed to the deployment of local content 
in its operating countries, with substantial investments in 
training and development of local personnel. BW Offshore’s 
operational performance requires a highly qualified, compe-
tent and dedicated technical support and logistics service 
staff. A strong network of onshore in-country offices ensures 
operational support linking the FPSOs to shore, in addition to 
corporate offices supporting the operational teams.

Operations and maintenance expertise
BW Offshore is a trusted partner for clients seeking to out-
source technical competence to run and operate complex 
offshore units. With its existing operational network, the 
Group offers synergies that are difficult for a client to obtain 
on a stand-alone basis. Well-established infrastructure, man-
ning pools and supply chain networks are some immediate 
advantages, in addition to the familiarity with regulatory 
requirements, technical maintenance and lifecycle cost man-
agement offered by BW Offshore.

Capturing life extension 
Modifications of existing FPSOs in situ to extend production, 
increase capacity or redeployment can unlock significant value 
for clients and BW Offshore. BW Offshore’s project and engi-
neering expertise makes this possible. Working closely with cli-
ent teams, BW Offshore has set up internal groups specifically 
for this purpose, combining competent project and operations 
staff from across the organisation. Managing modifications and 
upgrades on live producing units calls for specialised compe-
tence, as safety-related and economic risks multiply compared 
to projects run on site in a shipyard. Maintaining asset integrity 
in situ in such scenarios represents some of the most advanced 
technical execution challenges in the business. 

Vision and purpose
BW Offshore shall be the preferred partner in development  

and operation of discovered offshore fields

To be a partner  
means sharing the  

risk and reward  
of the reservoir

Use existing produc-
tion assets to trigger  

development of  
discovered offshore  

oil and gas fields

Unique focus  
on small to  

medium sized E&P  
companies specialis-

ing in exploration

Maximise return to 
shareholders whilst  
understanding the  
long term nature  
of our business
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Enabling redeployment opportunities
BW Offshore introduced a strategic shift in 2017 through 
the subsidiary BW Energy, which was successfully executed 
in 2018 with first oil from the Dussafu licence. In 2019, BW 
Offshore expanded the asset and reserve base with the 
acquisition of the Maromba field offshore Brazil. BW Energy 
holds a diversified portfolio of production and development 
assets offshore West Africa and Brazil, and currently holds 
majority interests in three hydrocarbon licences in Dussafu, 
Gabon; Maromba, Brazil; and Kudu, Namibia. 

BW Offshore’s strategy is to be the preferred business partner 
of small- to medium-sized E&P companies in developing and 
operating discovered offshore fields, a strategy that delivers 
shorter development cycles, lower costs and significantly 
reduced capital at risk prior to commercial production. The 
use of existing FPSOs to trigger offshore developments is an 
instrumental part of this strategy, as FPSO redeployments 
require less time and capital than traditional tanker con-
versions or newbuilds. This approach can unlock otherwise 
uneconomical offshore developments and create significant 
value even at low oil price scenarios. 

Matching field requirements with the capabilities of existing 
assets is a key competency in BW Offshore’s engineering 
and operations staff. Through extensive experience in res-
ervoir management, exploration, geosciences, drilling and 
completions, production and facility engineering, field oper-
ations, FPSO operations, government and partner relations, 
the Group has successfully implemented a unique, low-cost 
approach to the development of oil and gas projects, which 
has generated significant value.

Design  
& Build  

integrity

Sustain 
integrity

Operate with  
integrity

OPERATIONAL 
INTEGRITY
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Leasing the production asset from BW Offshore has 
allowed clients to focus on their core competencies 
of reservoir development and management. The lease 
model also allows for reduced investments and financial 
exposure for clients related to FPSO projects. 

21%
BW Energy

30%
Independent

3%
National Oil 
Companies

46%
Catcher 

partnership

51%
Option

49 %
Firm

BW OFFSHORE'S REVENUE BACKLOG

The FPSO  
Fleet
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Over the past 35 years, BW Offshore has completed 40 
FPSO and FSO conversions and operated most of the units 
after completion, developing a unique conversion and oper-
ating competence and a very robust foundation for future 
projects. With experience in phases from design engineering 
through to long-term operations, BW Offshore has a com-
petitive advantage when it comes to providing clients with 
an efficient total lifecycle cost. Additionally, BW Offshore is 
gaining valuable insights into developing and managing res-
ervoirs through the E&P segment, making BW Offshore an 
even stronger partner for current and future clients. 

Lifetime maintenance, modifications and support
BW Offshore takes full responsibility for operating, main-
taining, upgrading and/or modifying the production asset as 
required by the client in a lease arrangement. This ensures 
that production requirements are met for the total duration 
of the field life, including necessary funding and the avail-
ability of appropriate competencies, as well as know-how 
regarding the production equipment. Taking care of the 
existing fleet is a key priority for the Company, and consist-
ent focus on good communication between the offshore 
personnel and the onshore support functions is central to 
the continuous fleet modification and maintenance projects. 

Digitalisation 
By harnessing available technology in innovative ways, 
BW Offshore is tapping into the growing fields of 
Artificial Intelligence (AI), the Internet of Things (IoT) and 
Machine Learning. This approach is part of BW Offshore’s 
Digitalisation Strategy. With the successful go-live in 2019 
of Lighthouse, a digital platform that analyses and displays 
real-time operational data, a major milestone in the strategy 
has already been met. The Lighthouse pilot is a first step 
towards a vision of an integrated operations centre, and the 
Company continues to evolve with several other initiatives 
already being implemented.

Funding based on contracts with clients
BW Offshore has a strong relationship with a large number 
of international banks and close contact with the equity 
market through the Oslo Stock Exchange listing. This ena-
bles the structuring of financial packages, enhanced by 
lease contracts with reputable clients. BW Offshore has also 
successfully created funding alternatives through the bond 
market, in addition to interest from equity partners on indi-
vidual projects. 

Unit 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

BW Adolo 1) BW Energy, Gabon: 2018-2028 (2038)

BW Catcher Premier Oil, UK: 2018-2025 (2043)

Yúum K’ak’ Náab Pemex, Mexico: 2007-2022 (2025)

BW Joko Tole Kangean, Indonesia: 2012-2022 (2026)

Espoir Ivorien CNR, Ivory Coast: 2002-2022 (2036)

Sendje Berge Addax/Sinopec, Nigeria: 2005-2021 (2023)

FPSO Polvo PetroRio, Brazil: 2007-2021 (2022)

Petróleo Nautipa VAALCO, Gabon: 2002-2021 (2022)

Abo FPSO Agip/Eni, Nigeria: 2003-2020 (2021) 

BW Cidade de São Vicente Petrobras, Brazil: 2009-2020 (2024) 

BW Pioneer Murphy Oil, US: 2012-2020

Umuroa Tamarind, New Zealand: 2007-2019

Berge Helene (Reserved) Petronas, Mauritania: 2006-2017

BW Opportunity 2) Petrobras, Brazil: 2009-2019 (2024)

BW Athena (Tendering) Ithaca, UK: 2012-2016

	 Lease & Operate - fixed period	 Operation - fixed period	 Construction / EPC

	 Lease & Operate - option period	 Operation - option period

1)	 Contract duration reflects BWO estimated field life (2028) and current license (2038) 

2)	At yard pending agreement with Client, formerly known as Cidade de São Mateus

FLEET CONTRACTUAL VIEW 
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BW Energy
BW Energy holds a 73.5% operated working interest in 
the Dussafu Marin block offshore Gabon, a 95% operated 
working interest (after farm-in) of the Maromba field in the 
Campos Basin offshore Brazil, and a 56% operated working 
interest of the Kudu field offshore Namibia.

Targeting robust business opportunities based on discovered 
reserves with significant growth potential, BW Energy aims to 
unlock significant value that traditional, larger E&P companies 
are not addressing. Collaborating with BW Offshore for 
FPSO deployment, BW Energy develops commercially viable 
solutions that can fast-track field development and achieve 
first oil with lower costs and significantly reduced capital at 
risk prior to commercial production.

This strategy was successfully employed to develop Dussafu, 
with first oil achieved 18 months after acquisition.
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Following the listing of BW 
Energy as a separate company 
in February 2020, BW Offshore 

holds 38.8% ownership.

Dussafu

The Dussafu licence is situated within the Ruche Exclusive 
Exploitation Area (Ruche EEA), which covers 850 km2 
and includes six discovered oil fields and numerous leads 
and prospects. The average water depth is 116 metres. The 
Production Sharing Contract allows for the production of 
hydrocarbons from the Ruche EEA for up to 20 years from 
first production. Fields in the Dussafu block produce to the 
BW Adolo FPSO, which has an oil production capacity of 
40,000 bopd. Phase 1 of the Dussafu development included 
two horizontal production wells with subsea trees at the 
Tortue field, which are tied back to the FPSO. Four addi-
tional subsea production wells are being drilled at the Tortue 
field as part of Dussafu Phase 2 development. Drilling for 
Phase 2 will be completed in 2020. 

Current status
Tortue Phase 1 started production on 16 September 2018 and 
has produced approximately 5.5 mmbbl as of year-end 2019. 
Field uptime since start-up has been 99%. Through year-end 
2019, BW Energy recorded zero lost time incidents (LTIs), 
showcasing the continuous focus on safety in all aspects of 
operational and project work groups.

Development Drilling
Phase 2 development at Tortue was sanctioned in late 2018 
and consists of drilling four additional production wells at 
Tortue, three of which will target the Gamba reservoir and 

one in the Dentale 6 reservoir. The wells will be tied back to 
the BW Adolo FPSO. Drilling of these wells began in late 2019 
and will continue into 2020. DTM-4H, the first Gamba well 
in Phase 2, has been drilled and completed while DTM-5H 
drilling is underway. The first wells are expected to start 
producing during the first quarter of 2020. All four wells are 
forecast to be on-line by mid-2020, which is expected to 
result in an increase in production from the Tortue field to 
around 20,000 bopd. 

Exploration 
In October 2019, an appraisal well was successfully com-
pleted at the Dussafu Hibiscus Updip prospect, which 
yielded positive geological results in the Gamba Formation. 
An appraisal side-track was drilled to further evaluate the 
reservoir and both the exploration well and the appraisal 
side-track encountered oil on the Hibiscus structure. 

Future strategy and plans
BW Energy is currently preparing to execute a third devel-
opment phase, Ruche Phase 1, targeting the Hibiscus and 
Ruche fields, approximately 20 kilometres northwest of the 
Tortue field. The current plan is to drill a total of six hori-
zontal production wells that will be connected to a fixed 
wellhead platform. Four of the wells will be drilled at the 
Hibiscus field targeting the Gamba reservoir. Two wells will 
be drilled at the Ruche field targeting the Gamba reservoir. 
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Maromba

The Maromba discovery is in the southern part of the 
Campos Basin offshore Brazil, approximately 100 kilometres 
southeast of the city of Cabro Frio. The water depth in the 
area is approximately 160 metres. Maromba lies within a 
375-square-kilometre ‘ring-fence’ carved out of the former 
BC-20 exploration block, called the BC-20A concession. 
Nine wells were drilled in the licence between 1980 and 
2006, and oil has been found in eight of these across various 
reservoirs, including in the Eocene, Maastrichtian, Albian, 
Aptian and Barremian levels.

The licence (concession contract) governing Maromba was 
awarded to Petrobras in 1998 as part of Licencing Round 
Zero. Chevron joined as a 30% working interest partner in 
2000. In March 2019, BW Energy, through its subsidiary 
BW Energy Maromba do Brasil Ltda, signed agreements 
to acquire the interests of both Petrobras and Chevron in 
the licence. In August 2019, the Brazilian National Agency 
of Petroleum, Natural Gas and Biofuels (ANP) granted BW 
Energy status as operator in Brazil and approved the trans-
actions with Petrobras and Chevron for the acquisition of 
the Maromba field. The acquisition was closed in September 
2019, upon which BW Energy became the holder of a 100% 
operated working interest. 

Following the successful experience at Dussafu, BW Energy 
plans to develop the Maromba licence in phases, thereby 
minimising up-front capital expenditure, accelerating time 
to first production, and allowing the production and the 
supporting organisation to grow organically. Phasing will 
provide important reservoir performance data, which will be 
used to optimise future development phases.

Phase 1 will target heavy crude oil (API gravity of 16°) in the 
Maastrichtian reservoir. It will consist of two to three hori-
zontal subsea wells that will be tied back to an FPSO. The 
wells will be completed with electric submersible pumps 
(‘ESP’). BW Offshore’s Berge Helene FPSO has been iden-
tified as suitable for the project, and the current plan is to 
modify this vessel to serve as the production hub for wells in 
the Maromba licence. Phase 1 is expected to begin produc-
tion in the second half of 2022, and gross peak production is 
expected to reach approximately 40,000 bopd. 

Brazil

Polvo

Remora

Peregrino

Papa Terra

Maromba

Tulum

Tubarao Areia

Tubarao Tigre

Vesuvio Krakatoa

Tubarao Azul

Tubarao 
Gato

The wellhead platform will be tied back to BW Adolo FPSO, 
which will continue to serve as the hub for production in the 
Dussafu licence. First oil from Ruche Phase 1 is expected in 
late 2021, adding up to 30,000 bopd to gross production 
from the Dussafu block. The Ruche Phase 1 development is 
expected to recover gross reserves of approximately 54.5 
mmbbl based on BW Energy management estimates. 

As a prudent and responsible operator, BW Energy is com-
mitted to developing safe and long-term stable production 
from the EEA while maximising recovery for the Gabonese 
state and partners. As a socially responsible corporation, 
BW Energy supports the region by contributing to the 
Gabonese Hydrocarbon Support Fund, as well as to local 
training and social programmes.

Etame-
Ebouri
Complex

Lucina
Field

M’Bya &
M’Wengui

Feilds

Moubenga

Ruche

Lucina
Feild       

Gabon

Kongo

Walt Whitman

Prospect A

Bourdon 
(Prospect B)

Espadon

Ruche NE

Hibiscus

Tortue
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Namibia

The Kudu gas discovery is in the northern Orange sub-basin 
approximately 130 km off the south-west coast of Namibia. 
It is situated in Production Licence 003 (‘PL003’), which 
has an area of 4,567 square kilometres and the field water 
depth is approximately 170 metres. The field was discovered 
in 1974 with Kudu-1 and is delineated by eight subsequent 
wells.

BW Energy entered into a farm-in agreement for a 56% 
operated interest in early 2017, with NAMCOR holding a 
44% joint venture interest. BW Energy has signed a Heads of 
Term agreement with NAMCOR to acquire up to 95% inter-
est in the licence. BW Energy remains committed to finding 
a viable commercial development solution for Kudu.

Kudu
Block

Lunderitz
Basin

Orange
Basin

Walvis bay

Luderitz

Oranjemund

Ownership
On 1 October 2019, BW Offshore’s ownership in the Dussafu 
Marine Permit, and the Maromba and Kudu licences were 
transferred to BW Energy Limited.

On 19 March 2019, BW Energy Gabon SA concluded the 
previously announced agreement with Gabon Oil Company 
(GOC) for the sale (farm-out) of a total of 10% interest in the 
Dussafu licence. The transaction price was USD 28.6 million, 
representing a reimbursement equivalent to 10% of develop-
ment and production costs to that date. BW Energy Gabon 
SA’s interest was thereby reduced to 81.667%, while Panoro 
continued to hold 8.333%.

The PSC for the Dussafu block stipulates that the Gabonese 
national government had a ‘back-in right’ for a 10% working 
interest in the licence. Tullow Oil plc (‘Tullow Oil’) acquired 
the Gabonese state’s back-in right in 2006, meaning that 
Tullow Oil had an option to acquire a 10% interest in the 
Dussafu licence by paying its share of historical costs. Tullow 

Oil exercised this 10% back-in right into the Dussafu licence 
in December 2019. The net amount payable by Tullow Oil to 
the existing partners was USD 19.8 million after adjusting for 
Tullow Oil’s net lifting entitlement since the commencement 
of oil production in September 2018 and some surplus cash-
calls made on their behalf. The net amount payable to BW 
Energy was USD 15.9 million. Negotiations are ongoing to 
resolve certain disputed costs, which amount to an additional 
USD 18.7 million. In the event an agreement is not reached, 
the dispute will be submitted to a simplified arbitration; BW 
Energy’s share of the disputed costs is 81.667%. 

Following the exercise of the back-in right, BW Energy Gabon 
SA’s ownership interest was reduced to 73.5%, while GOC and 
Panoro’s ownership interests were reduced to 9% and 7.5%, 
respectively. Tullow Oil’s ownership interest is 10%.

For 2020, BW has allocated funds to local initiatives in Mayumba, a village located nearby the Dussafu field. A task 
force has decided to finance solar-powered streetlights to improve lighting in the village following local presence 
and discussions with the local community. In addition, 20 navigation GPS will be issued to local fishermen to help 
safeguard navigation, and tutors will be appointed to support education at local schools. These activities are part of a 
long-term licence commitment to further support the development of Mayumba.
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Directors'
report

During 2019, BW Offshore demonstrated the competitive 
advantage of the combined FPSO and E&P business model, 
evident in the successful development of the Dussafu field in 
Gabon into a world-class oil producing asset. This is expected 
to continue after the successful listing of BWE in February 
2020. Combined with the continued positive impact of the 
recent accretive BW Adolo and BW Catcher FPSO projects, 
this translated into a strong financial performance for the year 
and improved financial solidity. 

Several operational milestones were reached in 2019, with 
99.6% commercial uptime on the FPSO fleet. Oil production 
at Dussafu exceeded expectations and successful exploration 
drilling increased the field’s 2P reserves by 237% and triggered 
an acceleration of future production growth. BW Offshore 
acquired the Maromba field in Brazil, adding 145 mmboe of 2C 
reserves and a second E&P asset to be developed by applying 
the unique phased development strategy targeting proven oil 
and gas deposits with low reservoir risk and that are suitable 
for efficient redeployment of existing FPSOs. 

In the financial market, BW Offshore successfully refinanced 
its main loan facility and outstanding bond portfolio at attrac-
tive terms to extend the instalment profile and finance growth 
investments. This included raising USD 297.4 million though a 
convertible bond. The BW Offshore share was included in the 
OBX Index, which reflects the 25 most actively traded compa-
nies on the Oslo Stock Exchange.        

These achievements were made against a volatile market 
backdrop, with crude oil prices rising early in the year, followed 
by a correction and then a recovery to just above USD 60 per 
barrel by year-end. The global economy was also adversely 
affected by reduced industrial activity and escalations in the 
US – China trade dispute. 

On the supply side, conventional oil companies are not invest-
ing enough to offset natural depletion. In 2020, it appears 
likely that a combination of long-term impact of reduced E&P 
spending in 2015 and 2016 will impact production at the same 
time as the US shale industry seems to be moving into a phase 
where capital discipline and consolidation will replace growth 
as the main objective. 

The combined E&P and FPSO strategy offers attractive risk-re-
ward in the current market environment. The Group can focus 
on developing fields with low reservoir risk through cost effi-
cient redeployment of the existing FPSO fleet. BW Offshore’s 

subsidiary BW Energy as operator has control of the timing of 
capital expenditures, and the phased approach reduces invest-
ment requirements and the break-even oil price. 

The Maromba field-acquisition represents the next step of the 
strategic shift initiated in 2017 with the Dussafu investment. 
At Maromba, BW Offshore can leverage significant operating 
experience from three different FPSOs at neighbouring fields 
sharing similar characteristics. 

The disciplined, low-risk E&P strategy reduces cost and time to 
first oil, as well as the environmental development footprint by 
addressing already proven reserves and the redeployment of 
existing production units.

Additionally, BW Offshore can utilise in-house E&P capabilities 
to better evaluate field risk and potential in new and exist-
ing FPSO projects with third-party oil companies, including 
improved insights into the likelihood of existing FPSO con-
tracts being extended. These are all factors that reduce risk 
and support high returns in both the E&P and FPSO segment.  

BW Offshore prioritises safety in all its operations and has 
“zero harm” as an overriding objective for personnel and the 
environment to ensure all assets are operated in the safest 
manner.

BW Catcher, which is the Company’s largest investment to 
date, performed with a 100% commercial uptime during 2019. 
BW Adolo achieved 99% uptime and produced 11,800 bopd 
during the year from the Dussafu field. The field continues to 
exceed expectations while the August 2019 Hibiscus discovery 
significantly increased 2P reserves and furthermore triggered 
a revised and expanded Ruche Phase 1 field development plan. 

For BW Offshore, the investment in the E&P segment is seen 
as a success and it is important to continue to build this further. 
To enable financing of further growth, the E&P assets were 
organised in a new separate entity BW Energy Ltd, in prepara-
tion for a contemplated listing and Initial Public Offering (IPO). 
The IPO and listing on the Oslo Stock Exchange was suc-
cessfully executed in early 2020 and the BWE Energy shares 
started trading on 19 February.           

BW Offshore has experienced increased tendering activity for 
traditional FPSO lease projects throughout 2019 and sees pro-
ject opportunities ahead as several competitors have recently 
committed to new projects. While increased activity provides 
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positive indications for the long-term outlook, BW Offshore 
will maintain its disciplined approach to bidding, as high com-
petition continues to challenge project risk-reward. 

BW Offshore is furthermore well positioned with its access to 
existing FPSOs combined with financial and operational capa-
bilities to successfully execute field developments with BW 
Energy such as the Dussafu project with short lead-time from 
investment decision to first oil. Going forward, BW Offshore 
will look to maximise the potential from existing assets by par-
ticipating in oil and gas fields where existing FPSOs are a key 
resource to unlocking and de-risking the developments and 
which offer an attractive risk reward profile.

Health, safety, security, environment, quality 
Health, safety, security, environment and quality (“HSSEQ”) 
have the highest priority throughout the BW Offshore organ-
isation. The Group has established policies for safety, security, 
occupational health and environmental management. 

Throughout 2019, the Operational Integrity function continued 
to be a strong driver behind the Company achieving its HSSEQ 
objectives. The primary objective is to ensure that the Group 
achieves zero harm to personnel, effective management of 
major accident hazard risks, effective mitigation of impact on 
the environment, maintaining a sustainable business through 
prudent operations, including taking proper care of Group 
property, without compromising other key business objectives.

Total LTI-rate (Lost Time Injury) and total TRI-rate (Total 
Recordable Injury) for BW Offshore in 2019 were 0.48 and 1.45, 
respectively. The comparable rates for 2018 were 0.68 and 1.94 

For more information, please see the Sustainability section of 
this Annual Report. 

FPSO operations
As of 31 December 2019, BW Offshore had 11 out of 15 FPSOs 
in operation. The average commercial uptime for the operating 
fleet in 2019 was 99.6% (98.5% in 2018).

The Group’s order backlog amounted to approximately USD 
2,7 billion of firm contracts and USD 5.5 billion when including 
contract extension options.

In 2019, BW Offshore signed contract extensions for the 
FPSO’s Cidade de Sao Vicente, FPSO Polvo, Abo FPSO and 
Petróleo Nautipa. 

Berge Helene is reserved for redeployment on the Maromba 
field and the unit is under preservation with the condition 
assessment ongoing at Keppel Shipyard.  Modifications will 
start once FID is reached on Maromba.  

BW Opportunity is currently in lay-up but still on contract with 
Petrobras. The Group is awaiting an agreement with Petrobras 
to free up the unit for new projects. 

BW Athena is currently in lay-up while being marketed for new 
projects. 

The contract for the FPSO Umuroa was terminated at year-
end and the unit is being demobilised from the field in New 
Zealand. The Umuroa is a versatile turret moored FPSO and 
an attractive redeployment candidate for field development.

E&P operations
Production from Tortue has exceeded expectations from the 
current two-well Tortue Phase 1 development with 11,800 bopd 
gross production during 2019.  The Tortue Phase 2 develop-
ment is on track for additional production coming onstream in 
the first half of 2020.   

Financial performance 
Income statement
Group revenue was USD 1,153.0 million in 2019 compared to 
USD 870.4 million in 2018. Total operating expenses were USD 
443.8 million compared to USD 382.6 million in 2018. 
 
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) for 2019 was USD 709.9 million compared to USD 
489.2 million in 2018. 

Operating profit was USD 297.6 million, compared to USD 157.5 
million in 2018.

The increased revenue and operational profit were mainly due 
to oil production from the Dussafu field and higher revenue 
from BW Catcher as 2018 was affected by a lower day rate due 
to delays in start-up activities. 

Net financial expenses were USD 113.3 million compared to 
USD 80.7 million in 2018. The increase was mainly related to 
Mark-to-market fluctuations on financial instruments.  
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Tax expense amounted to USD 78.2 million compared to 
USD 40.3 million in 2018. The increase was mainly related to 
increased tax related to oil production at Dussafu in 2019.

Net profit for 2019 was USD 106.1 million compared to USD 
36.5 million in 2018. 

Financial position
As of 31 December 2019, the Group had a net equity of 
USD 1,458.5 million compared to USD 1,320.9 million as of 31 
December 2018. The net equity ratio at the end of 2019 was 
43.3%, compared to 38.7% at the end of 2018. 

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had interest-bearing debt 
of USD 1,246.8 million compared to USD 1,373.7 million in 2018. 
The interest-bearing debt comprises mainly of the Catcher 
facility, the corporate loan facility, convertible bond and unse-
cured bond loans.

Net interest-bearing debt as of 31 December 2019 was USD 
996.6 million compared to USD 1,231.6 million in 2018. 

Cash flow
Net cash inflow from operating activities was USD 608.3 mil-
lion compared to net cash inflow of USD 435.9 million in 2018. 
The increase was mainly related to oil production from the 
Dussafu field. 

Net cash outflow from investment activities amounted to 
USD 224.7 million, compared to USD 354.8 million in 2018. The 
investments were mainly related to the Dussafu and Maromba 
project and life extension activities on units in operation. 

Net cash outflow from financing activities amounted to USD 
275.5 million compared to USD 84.5 million in 2018. The net 
cash outflow was mainly related to cash transfer to non-con-
trolling interest, repayments on the corporate loan facility, the 
Catcher facility and bonds, partly offset by new bond debt and 
a new corporate loan facility.

Dividends
At the end of 2019, BW Offshore was restricted from pay-
ing dividends under agreements related to an aggregate of 
USD 141.1 million in four outstanding bonds including related 
swaps. These bonds were called in December 2019 and repaid 
in January 2020. The company is allowed to pay a certain 
amount of dividends under the new BWO05 bond loan agree-
ment and will recommence distributions in 2020.  

Parent company accounts
BW Offshore Limited is a holding company. The Company 
reported a net loss of USD 196.7 million for 2019, compared 
to a net loss of USD 52.9 million in 2018. The loss for 2019 is 
mainly related to loss from the sale of subsidiaries in 2019. 

Total assets were USD 2,080.4 million as of 31 December 2019 
compared to USD 1,593.3 million in 2018. 

Total shareholders’ equity in BW Offshore Limited as of 
December 31, 2019 was USD 864.7 million, corresponding to 
an equity ratio of 41.6%.

Going concern
Based on the Group’s overall position at the end of the year, as 
well as the current outlook, the Board believes BW Offshore 
has a good foundation for continued operations. The accounts 
have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Organisation
In 2019, Marco Beenen and Ståle Andreassen took over the 
roles of CEO and CFO respectively in a smooth transition 
process, with Carl Arnet and Knut Sæthre taking on the same 
roles in BW Energy.

 BW Offshore is represented in all the major oil and gas regions 
worldwide, across Asia Pacific, the Americas, Europe and West 
Africa, supported by local onshore teams and is an organisa-
tion with a global presence. 

At year-end 2019, BW Offshore had 2,126 employees including 
contract staff, compared to 2,138 in 2018.

The working environment and culture in BW Offshore are 
considered positive and strong, and there is continuous focus 
on initiatives for improvement. Culture surveys are performed 
regularly to assess the strength of the working culture and 
show a steady improvement on an already high base. In 2019, 
onshore absence due to sickness was 1.9% of the total hours 
worked by employees. This compares to 2.1% in 2018.

BW Offshore strives to be an attractive workplace that offers 
challenging and motivating jobs and equal development 
opportunities for all. There is no discrimination due to gender, 
nationality, culture or religion with respect to remuneration, 
promotion or recruitment.

Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted a 
Corporate Governance policy to reflect BW Offshore’s 
commitment to good corporate governance. This policy is 
based on the latest update to the ‘Norwegian Guidelines on 
Corporate Governance’, prepared by the Norwegian Corporate 
Governance Board. BW Offshore’s Corporate Governance 
policy complies with the Norwegian Guidelines, with certain 
deviations, as outlined and explained in the chapter named 
Corporate Governance in this annual report.

Risk 
BW Offshore’s risk exposure is analysed and evaluated to 
ensure sound internal control and appropriate risk manage-
ment based on internal values, policies and code of ethics. 
The Group is exposed to market risk (including currency risk 
and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. 
Development of oil and gas fields is associated with risks not 
limited to, cost overruns, production disruptions as well as 
delays compared to initial plans. Some of the most important 
risk factors are related to the estimation and recoverability of 
reserves. Changes to oil price might influence the economic 
viability of planned developments and anticipated revenues 
from the production of such developments. The overall 
risk management programme focuses on addressing these 
risks and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance. The most important opera-
tional risk factors are related to the operation of Dussafu, the 
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current fleet of FPSOs and the execution of projects, which 
could lead to accidents and oil spills to the environment if not 
managed properly.

On a fleet-wide basis, the Group takes out insurance cov-
erage for its crew and support staff, pollution and clean up, 
damage to vessels, third-party liabilities and on some units’ 
loss of hire. The Group has also taken out loss of produc-
tion cover for the development on Dussafu. The insurance 
also covers losses resulting from acts of war and terrorism. 
Coverage for oil pollution and oil pollution caused by war and 
war-like actions is limited per incident.

BW Offshore’s operational activities are subject to tax in var-
ious jurisdictions. As contracts with clients are long-term in 
nature, the Group’s results are exposed to risk of changes to 
tax legislation. 

Please refer to the IPO prospectus dated 29 January 2020 for 
specific risks related to BW Energy.

Events after the balance sheet date
The remaining outstanding USD 141.1 million bonds under The 
remaining outstanding USD 141.1 million bonds under BWO01, 
BWO02, BWO03 and BWO04 were repaid in full in January 
2020.

BW Energy was listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange on 19 
February 2020, raising an initial USD  125 million of new equity. 

Outlook
Several years of under-investment has led to declining 
offshore production of oil and gas. The decrease will likely 
become more evident in the coming years, as production 

tied to developments made in the previous investment cycle 
are increasingly subject to natural depletion. 

A tighter global balance of crude oil supply and demand 
and lower break-even costs from increased efficiencies and 
significant repricing of oil exploration assets are expected to 
lead to more projects sanctioned going forward. The mar-
ket outlook for offshore field developments, and FPSOs in 
particular, is favourable. Initially, the Company expects an 
increased focus on incremental investments tied to existing 
infrastructure, with green-field investments following later 
in the cycle.

BW Offshore’s service offering and ability to partner with 
field owners to provide cost-effective solutions have been 
well received in the market. The Company is currently 
evaluating several field-development prospects, including 
FPSOs. The Company maintains a commercially disciplined 
approach to new investments and bids selectively on new 
projects.  

The majority of BW Offshore’s fleet remains on long-term 
contracts with national and independent oil companies. 
The fleet should continue to generate significant cash flow 
in the time ahead. BW Offshore has continued to reduce 
leverage and strengthen its financial position. The Group is 
ready to execute its strategy of redeploying existing assets 
and assuming new FPSO lease and operate projects only 
when strict risk-reward criteria are met. The successful BW 
Energy listing and relating capital raise ensures that the E&P 
business is financed on a stand-alone basis, leaving BW 
Offshore to deploy capital towards accretive FPSO projects. 
This positions BW Offshore to capture significant value cre-
ation going forward. 

27 February 2020

Mr. Andreas  
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BW Offshore Limited  |  Annual Report 2019 23



Board of Directors

Mr. Andreas  
Sohmen-Pao
Chairman

Mr. Christophe  
Pettenati-Auzière
Vice Chairman

Ms. Clare  
Spottiswoode
Director

Mr. René Kofod-Olsen
Director

Mr. Carl K. Arnet
Director

Mr. Maarten  
Scholten
Director

Audit Committee Gender Role

Christophe Pettenati-Auziere M Chair

Rene Kofod-Olsen M Member

Nomination Committee Gender Role

Andreas Sohmen-Pao M Chair

Bjarte Boe F Member

Elaine Yew F Member

Technical and Commercial 
Committee Gender Role

Carl K. Arnet M

Maarten R. Scholten M

Compensation Committee Gender Role

Clare Spottiswood F Chair

Maarten R. Scholten M Member
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BW Offshore Limited is a Bermuda limited liability 
company listed on Oslo Børs (the Oslo Stock Exchange).

BW Offshore Limited (hereinafter ‘BW Offshore’ or 
‘Company’) and its activities are primarily governed by the 
Bermuda Companies Act, its Memorandum of Association 
and its Bye-laws. Certain aspects of the Company’s activi-
ties are governed by Norwegian law pursuant to the Listing 
Agreement between the Oslo Stock Exchange and the 
Company. In particular, the Norwegian Securities Trading 
Act and the Norwegian Stock Exchange Regulations will 
generally apply. 

1 Implementation and reporting  
on corporate governance
The Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) is of the opinion that 
the interests of the Company, and its shareholders taken as 
a whole, are best served by the adoption of business pol-
icies and practices which are legal, compliant, ethical and 
open in relation to all dealings with customers, potential 
customers and other third parties. These policies are fair 
and in accordance with best market practice in relationships 
with employees and are also sensitive to reasonable expec-
tations of public interest. 

The Board therefore commits the Company to good corpo-
rate governance, and has adopted the most current version 
- including the changes introduced on October 17, 2018 - of 
the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance 
(the ‘Code’), prepared by the Norwegian Corporate 
Governance Board. 

The Board shall provide an overall overview of the Company’s 
corporate governance in the Company’s annual report. The 
review shall include each individual point of the Code. If the 
Company does not fully comply with the Code, this shall be 
explained in the Company’s annual report.

2 The Business
In accordance with common practice for Bermuda incor-
porated companies, the Company’s objects as set out in 

the Company’s Memorandum of Association are wider and 
more extensive than recommended by the Code.

The Board are responsible for and shall take the lead on 
the Company's strategic planning, and should define clear 
objectives, strategies and risk profile for the Company's 
business activities such that the company creates value for 
the shareholders. The Company’s objectives, main strategies 
and risk profile are described in the annual report.

BW Offshore has implemented corporate values, ethical 
guidelines and guidelines for corporate social responsibility. 
These values and guidelines are described in BW Offshore’s 
Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and internal policies. 

3 Equity and Dividends
The Board continuously evaluates the Company’s capital 
requirements to ensure that the Company’s capital struc-
ture is at a level which is suitable in light of the Company’s 
objectives, strategy and risk profile.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board is author-
ised to declare dividend to the shareholders. The Board has 
drawn up a clear and predictable dividend policy approved 
by the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2011. Full details of 
the dividend policy can be found on BW Offshore’s website.

Pursuant to Bermuda law and common practice for Bermuda 
incorporated companies, the Board has wide powers to 
issue any authorised unissued shares in the Company on 
such terms and conditions as it may decide, and may exer-
cise all powers of the Company to purchase the Company’s 
own shares. 

The powers of the Board to issue and purchase shares are 
neither limited to specific purposes nor to a specified period 
as recommended in the Code.

Corporate  
governance Code
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4 Equitable treatment of shareholders  
and transactions with close associates
The Company has one class of shares. Each share in the 
Company carries one vote, and all shares carry equal rights, 
including the right to participate in general meetings. All 
shareholders shall be treated on an equal basis, unless there 
is just cause for treating them differently.

Pursuant to Bermuda law and common practice for Bermuda 
incorporated companies, the shareholders of the Company 
do not have pre-emption rights in share issues unless oth-
erwise resolved by the Company. Any decision to issue 
shares without pre-emption rights for existing shareholders 
shall be justified. In the event that BW Offshore waives the 
pre-emption rights of existing shareholders, the Board of 
Directors will explain the justification in the stock exchange 
announcement issued in connection with the increase in 
share capital.

Any transactions the Company carries out in its own shares 
shall be carried out either through the Oslo Stock Exchange 
or with reference to prevailing stock exchange prices if car-
ried out in another way. If there is limited liquidity in the 
Company’s shares, the Company shall consider other ways 
to ensure equal treatment of all shareholders.

In case of material transactions between the Company and 
a shareholder, a shareholder’s parent company, director, 
officer, or persons closely related to any of these, the Board 
will obtain a valuation from an independent third party. 
Independent valuations shall also be obtained in respect of 
transactions between companies in the same group where 
any of the companies involved have minority shareholders.

5 Shares and negotiability
The Company’s constituting documents do not impose any 
restrictions on the ability to own, trade or vote for shares 
in the Company and the shares in the Company are freely 

transferable. However, the bye-laws include a right for the 
Board to decline to register the transfer of any share, and 
may direct the Registrar to decline (and the Registrar shall 
decline if so requested) to register the transfer of any inter-
est in a share held through Verdipapirsentralen (VPS), where 
such transfer would, in the opinion of the Board, likely result 
in 50% or more of the aggregate issued and outstanding 
share capital of the Company, or shares of the Company to 
which are attached 50% or more of the votes attached to all 
issued and outstanding shares of the Company, being held 
or owned directly or indirectly by individuals or legal per-
sons resident for tax purposes in Norway or, alternatively, 
such shares being effectively connected to a Norwegian 
business activity, or the Company otherwise being deemed 
a Controlled Foreign Company as such term is defined pur-
suant to Norwegian tax legislation. The purpose of this pro-
vision is to avoid the Company being deemed a Controlled 
Foreign Company pursuant to Norwegian tax rules.

6 General meetings
The annual general meeting will normally take place on or 
before 31 May each year. The Board shall make efforts to 
ensure that as many shareholders can participate in the 
Company’s general meetings and that the general meetings 
are an effective forum for the views of shareholders and the 
Board. In order to facilitate this:

•	the notice and the supporting documents and information 
on the resolutions to be considered at the general meeting 
shall be available on the Company’s website no later than 
21 calendar days prior to the date of the general meeting;

•	the resolutions and supporting documentation, if any, 
shall be sufficiently detailed, comprehensive and specific 
to allow shareholders to understand and form a view on 
matters that are to be considered at the meeting;

•	the registration deadline, if any, for shareholders to par-
ticipate at the general meeting shall be set as closely to 
the date of the general meeting as practically possible and 
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permissible under the provision in the Bye-laws; 
•	the members of the board of directors and the chairman 

of the nomination committee are present at the general 
meeting; and

•	the shareholders shall have the opportunity to vote sep-
arately on each individual matter, including on each indi-
vidual candidate nominated for election to the Company’s 
Board and committees (if applicable)

Registration is made in writing, per telefax or by e-mail. 
Shareholders who cannot be present at the general meet-
ing must be given the opportunity to vote by proxy or to 
participate by using electronic means. The Company shall 
in this respect:

•	provide information on the procedure for attending by 
proxy;

•	nominate a person who will be available to vote on behalf 
of shareholders as their proxy; and

•	prepare a proxy form, which shall, insofar as this is possi-
ble, be formulated in such a manner that the shareholder 
can vote on each item that is to be addressed and vote for 
each of the candidates that are nominated for election.

Pursuant to common practice for Bermuda incorporated 
companies, the Company’s Bye-laws states that the gen-
eral meeting shall be chaired by the chairman of the Board 
unless otherwise agreed by a majority of those shares rep-
resented at the meeting. 

The minutes of the annual general meeting will be published 
on the Company’s website no later than 15 days after the 
date of the meeting. 

7 Nomination Committee
The Company shall have a Nomination Committee com-
prising such number of persons as determined by the 
Company’s general meeting from time to time, and which 
members shall be appointed by a resolution of the general 
meeting, including the chairman of the committee. The 
general meeting shall determine the remuneration of the 
Nomination Committee and shall stipulate guidelines for the 
duties of the Nomination Committee.
 
The composition of the Nomination Committee should 
reflect a broad range of shareholder interests. The majority 
of the committee shall be independent of the Board and 
the executive personnel of the Company. No more than one 
member of the Nomination Committee shall be a member of 

the Board of Directors. The Nomination Committee shall not 
include the Company’s chief executive officer or any other 
executive personnel.

The Nomination Committee’s primary duty is to propose 
candidates for election as members of the Board of Directors 
and to propose the remuneration to be paid to the members 
of the Board of Directors. The Nomination Committee shall 
justify its recommendations for each candidate separately.

Any member of the Board of Directors who is also a mem-
ber of the Nomination Committee may offer himself for 
re-election to the Board of Directors. This deviation from 
the Code has been implemented to facilitate cooperation 
between the Nomination Committee and the Board, and 
continuity in the Board.

The Company shall provide information on the Nomination 
Committee and any deadlines for submitting proposals to 
the committee by shareholders.

8 The composition and independence of the Board
The Board shall consist of between five to ten directors. The 
directors are elected for a period of two years unless oth-
erwise determined by the general meeting. Members of the 
Board may be re-elected. Only a minority of the directors 
participating in any decision can be domiciled or living in 
Norway. The same shall be reflected in the composition of 
the Board. The Board appoints the chairman amongst the 
elected Board members.

The composition of the Board shall ensure that it can act 
independently of any special interests. A majority of the 
shareholder-elected members of the Board must be inde-
pendent of the Company’s executive personnel and material 
business connections of the Company. In addition, at least 
two of the members of the Board must be independent 
of the Company’s major shareholder(s). For the purposes 
of this Corporate Governance Policy, a major shareholder 
shall mean a shareholder that owns 10% or more of the 
Company’s shares or votes, and independence shall entail 
that there are no circumstances or relations that may be 
expected to be able to influence independent assessments 
of the person in question. The Board does not include the 
Company’s chief executive officer or any other executive 
personnel. The composition of the Board does not meet the 
recommended gender guidelines of the Code, but meets 
the Company’s need for expertise and diversity. A short 
description of our directors and their respective areas of 
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expertise are presented on the Company’s website www.
bwoffshore.com. 

Members of the Board are welcome to own shares in the 
Company.

9 The work of the Board
The Board is ultimately responsible for the management of 
the Company and for supervising its day-to-day manage-
ment. The duties and tasks of the Board are detailed in the 
Company’s Bye-laws.
The Board shall produce an annual plan for its work, with 
particular emphasis on objectives, strategy and implemen-
tation. The Board shall issue instructions for its own work, as 
well as for the executive personnel, with particular emphasis 
on clear internal allocation of responsibilities and duties.

Directors and officers of the Company and other leading 
personnel shall notify the Board if they directly or indirectly 
have a significant interest in matters to be considered by the 
board of directors.

In order to conduct its work, the Board each year fixes in 
advance a number of regular scheduled meetings of the 
Board for the following calendar year, although additional 
meetings may be called by the chairman. The directors shall 
normally meet in person, but if so allowed by the chairman, 
directors may participate in any meeting of the Board by 
means of telephone. Minutes in respect of the meetings of 
the Board of Directors are kept by the Company in Bermuda. 

The Board shall provide details in the annual report of any 
Board committees appointed. The Board shall have an Audit 
Committee as a preparatory and advisory committee for the 
Board, and the entire Board shall not act as the Company’s 
Audit Committee. In addition, the Board shall have a 
Remuneration Committee as a preparatory and advisory 
committee for the Board in order to ensure thorough and 
independent preparation of matters relating to compensa-
tion to the executive personnel.

The Board carries out an annual evaluation of its perfor-
mance and expertise. 

10 Risk management and internal control
The Board ensures that the Company has sound internal 
control procedures and systems to manage its exposure to 
risks related to the conduct of the Company’s business, to 
support the quality of its financial reporting and to ensure 

compliance with laws and regulations. Such procedures and 
systems shall contribute to securing shareholders’ invest-
ment and the Company’s assets.

Management and internal control is based on Company-
wide policies and internal guidelines in areas such as Finance 
and Accounting, HSE, Project Management, Operation, 
Technical and Business Development, in addition to imple-
mentation and follow-up of a risk assessment process. The 
Company’s management system is central in the Company’s 
internal control and ensures that the Company’s vision, poli-
cies, goals and procedures are known and adhered to. 

The Board shall carry out an annual review of the Company’s 
most important areas of exposure to risk and its inter-
nal control arrangements and an annual supervisory plan 
for internal audit work is approved by the CEO, based on 
HSSEQ recommendations and risk assessments carried out. 

The internal auditor position is independent from the line 
management and reports directly to the CEO. In addition to 
its own controlling bodies and external audit, the Company 
is subject to external supervision by DNV GL for classifica-
tion in accordance with relevant ISO standards.

The Board’s Audit Committee follows up internal control 
in connection with quarterly reviews of the Group’s finan-
cial reporting in addition to two meetings in which internal 
control issues are addressed specifically. The chief financial 
officer, the Company’s other relevant senior staff and rep-
resentatives of the external auditor, attend the meetings of 
the Audit Committee. 

The systems for risk management and internal control also 
encompass the Company’s guidelines regarding how the 
Company integrates considerations related to stakeholders 
into its creation of value. 

BW Offshore has established a Code of Conduct for the 
Company and its employees providing guidance to employ-
ees on how they can communicate with the board to report 
matters relating to illegal or unethical conduct by the 
Company.

11 Remuneration of the Board of Directors
The general meeting decides the remuneration of the Board. 
The remuneration of the Board and its individual directors 
shall reflect the Board’s responsibility, competence, use of 
resources and the complexity of the business activities. 
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The remuneration of the directors shall not be linked to the 
Company’s performance and the directors do not receive 
profit related remuneration or share options or retirement 
benefits from the Company. Any remuneration in addition 
to normal fees to the directors is specifically stated in the 
annual report.

Directors or companies related to BW Offshore, shall not 
normally undertake special tasks for the Company in addi-
tion to the directorship. However, if they do so, the entire 
Board shall be informed, and the fee shall be approved by 
the Board.

12 Remuneration of the executive personnel
Remuneration of the executive personnel is reviewed annu-
ally. The work is carried out by the Remuneration Committee, 
which generally considers the executive personnel’s per-
formance and also gathers information from comparable 
companies before making its recommendation to the Board 
for approval. Such recommendation aims to ensure conver-
gence of the financial interests of the executive personnel 
and the shareholders.

Any performance-related remuneration to executive per-
sonnel is subject to an absolute limit. The limit is approved 
by the Board of Directors based on a recommendation from 
the Remuneration Committee.

The Board approves any share option programmes in the 
Company available to the employees of the Company and sub-
sidiaries. Detailed information of remuneration, loans, share-
holding of the management and any share option programmes 
can be found in the consolidated financial statements.

13 Information and communications
The Company is committed to provide information in a 
manner that contributes to establishing and maintaining 
confidence with important interest groups and stakehold-
ers. The information shall be based upon transparency, 
openness and equal treatment of all shareholders. A pre-
condition for the share value to reflect the underlying values 
in the Company is that all relevant information is disclosed 
to the market. Based on this, the Company will endeavour to 
keep the shareholders informed about profit developments, 
prospects and other relevant factors for their analysis of 
the Company’s position and value. It is emphasised that the 
information is uniform and simultaneous.

A currently updated financial calendar with dates for impor-
tant events, such as general meeting, publishing of interim 
annual reports, dates for payment of potential dividend etc. 
shall be accessible for the shareholders on www.oslobors.no 
and on the Company’s website www.bwoffshore.com. 

Public investor presentations are arranged in connection 
with submission of annual and quarterly results for the 
Company. The presentations are also accessible on the 
Company’s website. Furthermore, continuous dialogue 
is held with, and presentations are given to, analysts and 
investors.

14 Take-overs
In the event of a take-over process, the Board shall ensure 
that the Company’s shareholders are treated equally and 
that the Company’s activities are not unnecessarily inter-
rupted. The Board shall also ensure that the shareholders 
have sufficient information and time to assess the offer.
In the event of a take-over process, the Board shall abide by 
the principles of the Code, and also ensure that the follow-
ing take place:

• the Board shall ensure that the offer is made to all share-
holders, and on the same terms;
• the Board shall not undertake any actions intended to give 
shareholders or others an unreasonable advantage at the 
expense of other shareholders or the Company;
• the Board shall strive to be completely open about the 
take-over situation;
• the Board shall not institute measures which have the 
intention of protecting the personal interests of its members 
at the expense of the interests of the shareholders; and
• the Board must be aware of the particular duty the Board 
carries for ensuring that the values and interests of the 
shareholders are safeguarded.

The Board shall not attempt to prevent or impede the 
take-over bid unless this has been decided by the share-
holders in general meeting in accordance with applica-
ble laws. The main underlying principles shall be that the 
Company’s shares shall be kept freely transferable and that 
the Company shall not establish any mechanisms which 
can prevent or deter take-over offers unless this has been 
decided by the shareholders in general meeting in accord-
ance with applicable law.
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If an offer is made for a Company’s shares, the Board shall 
issue a statement evaluating the offer and making a recom-
mendation as to whether shareholders should or should not 
accept the offer. If the Board finds itself unable to give a 
recommendation to the shareholders on whether or not to 
accept the offer, it should explain the reasons for this. The 
Board’s statement on a bid shall make it clear whether the 
views expressed are unanimous, and if this is not the case, it 
shall explain the reasons why specific members of the Board 
have excluded themselves from the statement.

The Board shall consider whether to obtain a valuation from 
an independent expert. If any member of the Board, or close 
associates of such member, or anyone who has recently 
held a position but has ceased to hold such a position as 
a member of the Board, is either the bidder or has a par-
ticular personal interest in the bid, the Board shall obtain 
an independent valuation. This shall also apply if the bidder 
is a major shareholder (as defined in section 8 above). Any 
such valuation should either be enclosed with the Board’s 
statement, or reproduced or referred to in the statement.

15 Auditor
The Company’s auditor is appointed by the general meeting 
and shall hold office for the term resolved by the general 
meeting or until a successor is appointed. The auditor is 
responsible for the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company. The board of directors shall ensure 
that the auditor annually presents an audit plan to the Audit 
Committee and/or the Board.

The auditor’s remuneration shall be fixed by the sharehold-
ers at the general meeting or in such manner as the general 
meeting may determine.

The Audit Committee shall invite the auditor to participate 
in the Audit Committee’s review and discussion of the 
annual accounts and quarterly interim accounts. In these 
meetings, the Audit Committee is informed of the annual 
and quarterly accounts and issues of special interest to the 
auditor. Further, the auditor shall participate in meeting(s) 
of the Board that deal with the annual accounts. At these 
meetings the auditor should review any material changes 
in the Company’s accounting principles, comment on any 
material estimated accounting figures and report all mate-
rial matters on which there has been disagreement between 
the auditor and the management of the Company and/or 
the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee should at least once a year review of 
the Company’s internal control procedures with the auditor, 
including weaknesses identified by the auditor and propos-
als for improvement.

The Board shall specify the right of the Company’s execu-
tive management to use the auditor for purposes other than 
auditing.

The auditor shall annually confirm his independence in writ-
ing to the Audit Committee. 
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Investor relations policy
It is in the interest of BW Offshore as a public listed com-
pany to effectively communicate with the financial com-
munity and other stakeholders in order to ensure a fair 
valuation and increase the shareholder value. The integrity 
of the capital markets is based on full and fair disclosure of 
information.

BW Offshore will maintain a reliable and open relationship with 
investors, and the Company’s objective is to provide a higher 
return compared to alternative investments with a comparable 
risk profile. Return is measured on a total shareholder return 
basis, including both share price performance and dividend 
payments. Based on these value parameters, the BW Offshore 
share shall be an attractive investment opportunity.

All shareholders in BW Offshore have equal rights and the 
Company treats all shareholders equally. The Company 
has one share class and each share carries one vote at the 
Company’s general meetings. BW Offshore is a Bermuda 
limited liability company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. 
The Company is therefore obliged to comply with the 
Bermuda Companies Act, its Memorandum of Association 
and its by-laws, as well as the disclosure requirements of the 
Oslo Stock Exchange.

Certain aspects of the Company’s activities are governed by 
Norwegian law pursuant to the Listing Agreement between 
Oslo Stock Exchange and the Company. In particular, the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the Norwegian Stock 
Exchange Regulations will generally apply. 

BW Offshore commits to good corporate governance and 
generally comply also with the Norwegian Code of Practice 
for Corporate Governance. Divergence from this code is 
clearly described in BW Offshore’s Corporate Governance 
policy, which is included in the Annual Report and available 
on the company’s website.

BW Offshore is committed to providing timely, orderly, 
consistent and credible information. Information and com-
munication are regulated by the Company’s media policy 
and investor relation policy, and covers disclosures to the 
investment community, the press, industry consultants and 
other audiences. All investors have equal access to material 
information, and all information provided externally by the 
Company shall be consistent with disclosures to the inves-
tors community. 

During a period of two weeks before the planned release of 
an interim financial report, BW Offshore will not comment 
on matters related to the Company’s financial performance 
or expectations, save for ordinary communication with ana-
lysts and investors on general aspects of the business. 

BW Offshore maintains a list of primary insiders in the 
Company and will also maintain internal lists for insiders in 
cases sensitive to the stock prices. 

The investor relations activities aim to ensure that:

•	The information it provides to the financial markets gives 
market players the best possible basis for establishing a 
precise picture of the Company’s financial condition and 
factors which might affect its future value creation 

•	The market price of BW Offshore’s shares reflects the fair 
value of the Company 

•	BW Offshore’s shares remain as liquid as possible, with the 
lowest possible volatility 

•	BW Offshore maintains access to capital markets on the 
most favourable possible terms 

•	BW Offshore’s Board of Directors and executive man-
agement are adequately informed about developments 
in financial markets and about stakeholder views on the 
Company’s position and development

Bermuda 49.9%

Norway 29.3%

Switzerland 1.2%

Sweden 2.1%

US 6.6%

Ireland 4.2%

Other 6.7%

GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION  
OF SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholder  
information 
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20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name No of shares Holding

1 BW Group Limited 92,332,844 49.92

2 FOLKETRYGDFONDET 4,488,031 2.42654

3 VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALFRED BERG GAMBA 3,446,877 1.86362

4 Citibank, N.A. 3,238,782 1.75111

5 VERDIPAPIRFONDET NORGE SELEKTIV 2,720,188 1.47072

6 DNB Markets Aksjehandel/-analyse 2,528,659 1.36717

7 VERDIPAPIRFONDET PARETO INVESTMENT 2,430,000 1.31382

8 Carl K. Arnet 2,310,000 1.25219

9 State Street Bank and Trust Comp 2,134,968 1.15431

10 Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 1,920,010 1.03809

11 VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALFRED BERG NORGE 1,918,131 1.03707

12 ARCTIC FUNDS PLC 1,725,361 0.93285

13 UBS Switzerland AG 1,714,083 0.92675

14 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., London 1,481,776 0.80115

15 VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALFRED BERG AKTIV 1,407,975 0.76125

16 State Street Bank and Trust Comp 1,162,536 0.62855

17 J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. 1,085,619 0.58696

18 VERDIPAPIRFONDET DNB NORGE 1,059,432 0.57280

19 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 1,027,994 0.55580

20 Nordnet Bank AB 1,023,404 0.55332

Date: 31 December 2019

0

50

100

150

200

Q
4'

19

Q
3'

19

Q
2'

19

Q
1'

19

Q
4'

19

Q
3'

18

Q
2'

18

Q
1'

18

Q
4'

17

Q
3'

17

Q
2'

17

Q
1'

17

Q
4'

16

Q
3'

16

Q
2'

16

Q
1'

16

Reported            Reported ex one-o�s

30

40

50

60

70

80

January 
2019

December
2019

0

500

1000

1500

2000

Q
4'

19
Q

3'
19

Q
2'

19
Q

1'
19

Q
4'

18
Q

3'
18

Q
2'

18
Q

1'
18

Q
4'

17
Q

3'
17

Q
2'

17
Q

1'
17

Q
4'

16
Q

3'
16

Q
2'

16
Q

1'
16

Q
4'

15
Q

3'
15

Q
2'

15
Q

1'
15

0

10

20

30

40

Net debt (USD mill, LHS)          Equity ratio (RHS)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

January 
2019

December
2019

EBITDA
Quarterly, USD million

SHARE PRICE
NOK

NET DEBT & EQUITY RATIO

VOLUME
NOK

BW Offshore Limited  |  Annual Report 2019 33



Guided by its vision, purpose and principles, 
BW Offshore aspires to achieve sustainable 
development by striking a fair balance 
between financial results, value creation, 
sustainability and corporate responsibility. 
BW Offshore will inform stakeholders about 
objectives, priorities and achievements that 
are relevant to their interests, expectations 
and concerns from a sustainability 
perspective. 

Sustainability  
report
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BW Offshore takes part in a value chain providing safe and 
affordable energy supply, an important factor for economic 
growth in both developed and undeveloped economies. The 
Company has an established framework for risk management 
to ensure safe and effective operations by adhering to a ‘zero 
harm’ policy and by minimising unnecessary use of resources 
and environmental impact. As a responsible and inclusive 
employer, BW Offshore impacts positively on local job crea-
tion and development. 

BW Offshore has defined the following as the most 
important factors for long-term value creation: 

• Safe and secure operations

• Environmentally conscious operations

• A strong governance framework 

• Being a non-discriminating and fair employer

BW Offshore has an established, holistic approach to Health, 
Safety, Security, Environment and Quality (HSSEQ) across all 
its operations. The Company also shows due respect for the 
individual, human rights and employment practices. 

Materiality analysis
BW Offshore holds a leading position as a provider of FPSOs 
to energy companies worldwide with employees and assets 
in most oil and gas producing basins. The Company conducts 
its business in a responsible manner and seeks to exert a posi-
tive influence on matters related to corporate responsibility in 
activities and operations that are important for the Company 
and for long-term value creation for its stakeholders. 

BW Offshore has chosen to develop its framework for provid-
ing information about the Company’s corporate responsibil-
ity as a part of the annual report rather than as a stand-alone 
document. This reflects a continuous commitment to 
integrate corporate responsibility in all processes and daily 
operations. Satisfactory financial performance over time is 
considered a pre-requisite for creating stakeholder value.

To better understand stakeholders’ expectations and the risk 
factors and opportunities they perceive as important to the 
Company’s long-term value creation, BW Offshore prepared 
a materiality analysis in January 2020, which has been sum-
marised in a materiality matrix. The analysis identifies the 
areas where BW Offshore may make the biggest contribution 
related to environmental, social and governance topics for the 
society at large and to support value creation over time.

The materiality analysis is based on feedback from exter-
nal and internal stakeholders who have responded to and 
provided comments on a questionnaire based on relevant 
topics (inspired by Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) stand-
ards), either electronically or through interviews. External 
stakeholders included customers, partners, regulators, supply 
chain, investors and lenders. Internal stakeholders Included 
various Group functions and employee feedback provided 
through the annual culture survey.

The survey covers key factors for BW Offshore’s daily oper-
ations and long-term value creation related to the environ-
ment, people, safety and governance. The responses help 
identify the most material challenges and opportunities 
that the Company needs to address in both its day-to-day 
operations and long-term strategic development, to ensure 
sustainable value creation.
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Materiality analysis

Based on the materiality analysis, BW Offshore has defined 
the following as the most important factors for long-term 
value creation: safe and secure operations; environmentally 
conscious operations; a strong governance framework; and 
being a non-discriminating and fair employer.

These factors tie in with the Company’s commitment to 
Operational Integrity and safety and its ‘zero harm’ objective 
for personnel and the environment at large, supported by 
the I LEAD principles that guide and motivate leadership at 
all levels in the organisation. The factors are also reflected in 
the Company’s support for the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs). 

1	 Safety

2	 Security

3	 Environmental footprint (high-level)

4	 Air emissions

5	 Energy usage

6	 Offshore recycling and waste 
management

7	 Onshore recycling and waste 
management

8	 Emissions to sea

9	 Life below water

10	 Diversity, non-discrimination  
and equal opportunities

11	 People development

12	 Fair and attractive employer

13	 Community involvement

14	 Corporate governance

15	 Business conduct

16	 Anti-corruption/compliance

17	 Responsible Supply Chain Management

18	 Stakeholder engagement
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Importance to internal stakeholders

Safe and secure  
operations

Environmentally  
conscious operations

A strong governance 
framework

Being a non-discriminating 
and fair employer

KPI HPI Spills to sea Corruption incidents
National content in local 

offices 1) and offshore 

2019 0.78 19.23 litres Zero 72%

Ambition Zero Zero Zero 90% by 2025 

Actions
Continuous safety 

improvements
Continuous improvement  
of containment integrity Training

Targeted recruitment and 
development programme

1

15 16

10

2
11

12
8

17

3

14

4

6
18

9

13
5

7

1)	 Not including corporate offices in Oslo, Houston and Singapore 
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Contribution to UN Sustainable Development Goals 1)

The SDGs described below are those considered to be the most material for BW Offshore and where the Company can 
have the greatest impact. 

UN Goal UN definition BW Offshore’s Contribution Future priorities (2020)

Create conditions 
that allow people 
to have quality jobs 
that stimulate the 
economy while 
not harming the 
environment

•	Providing safe, meaningful 
jobs to a substantial local 
workforce 

•	Offering training, 
education and 
development programmes 
for employees 

•		Being a diversity and equal 
opportunity employer 

•	Contributing to local value 
creation 

•	Global young talent 
programmes. Recruit 
5–10 new talents  
every year

•	Culture improvement 
programme as a response 
to culture survey 

•	Train on leadership 
behaviours for leaders 
and the whole workforce

•	Nationalisation 
programmes

•	Recruitment and 
development with the 
global organisation as an 
arena 

Take urgent action 
to combat climate 
change and its 
impacts

•	Safe and secure operations

•	Managing impact to the 
environment, to as low as 
reasonably practicable

•	Optimising use of 
energy, water and other 
consumables

•	Study the potential 
for early phase out 
of controlled ozone 
depleting substances 

•	Study reductions and 
fugitive emissions

•	Implement a standard for 
Best Available Techniques 
(BAT) for new projects

•	Study optimising power 
and utility system, to 
reduce fuel consumption 

Conserve and 
sustainably use the 
oceans, seas and 
marine resources 
for sustainable 
development

Promote peaceful and 
inclusive societies 
for sustainable 
development, provide 
access to justice for 
all and build effective, 
accountable and 
inclusive institutions 
at all levels

•	Continuous reporting of 
operational, financial and 
governance-related data 

•	Guidelines for ethical and 
good business conduct 

•	High anti-corruption focus

•	Responsible procurement 

•	Further develop the 
Company's Code of 
Ethics and Business 
Conduct compliance 
programme by providing 
training sessions on all 
locations

•	Vendor qualification 
programme 

1)	 The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were agreed upon by all 193 UN member states in 2015, and guide 
governments, civil society and the private sector in a collaborative effort for change towards sustainable development.
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I

L

E

A

D

Integrity
Do what you say you will 
Be trustworthy 
Be transparent 
Be authentic

Leverage the team
Collaborate and share 
Respect the individual 
Talk to and not about each other 
Inspire and influence 

Excellence
Be good at what you do 
Anything worth doing is worth doing well 
Be part of the solution 
Create value

Accountability
Value the company’s resources as your own 
Take responsibility 
Take ownership 
Engage

Disciplined delivery
Be realistic 
Understand what is to be done, when and how 
Get things done 
Respect the BWO system

BW Offshore prioritises safety first in all its operations and has “zero harm”  
as an overriding objective for its personnel and the environment at large. 

BW Offshore has established a set of five Principles to guide towards effective 
leadership behaviour at all levels in the organisation. These are summed up in ILEAD.
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BW Offshore is committed to efficient, reliable and 
compliant operations with zero harm to people, the 
environment and the communities in which it operates. 
The Company applies best-in-class as a benchmark for 
monitoring, assurance and improvement of operational 
performance and compliance.

Safe and secure 
operations 

Assure 
and vertify

Set 
expectations

Promote 
understanding

Seek 
improvements

Perform 
our work

Control 
our losses

Operational 
Integrity
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Operational Integrity (OI) is a corporate support function for 
the wider BW Offshore organisation. The function defines 
the relevant performance requirements and targets. It also 
provides an assurance framework to demonstrate OI perfor-
mance throughout the lifecycle, from design and construc-
tion to installation and operations.

The Operational Integrity function also manages Health, 
Safety, Security, Environmental, Quality (HSSEQ) protocols 
that enable BW Offshore to meet and exceed mandatory 
requirements and those the Company has chosen to apply 
as best practice. 

The Company is certified to the ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and 
OHSAS 18001 international standards, which recognise the 
way it manages its business processes, its commitment to 
minimising environmental impact and its health and safety 
systems. The Group also holds a Document of Compliance 
from the International Safety Management Code.

BW Offshore has a target of being an industry leader, with 
the lowest reasonably possible frequencies for lost time inju-
ries, high-risk incidents—including spills to the environment 
and unplanned emissions—and occupational illnesses. The 
Company’s Operational Integrity function continuously moni-
tors trends and takes prompt action to prevent or reverse any 
unwanted developments. BW Offshore gives all employees 
the explicit authority to stop all actions that they think are 
unsafe and/or are unsure of, and to initiate a process to define 
and clarify without any repercussions or questions.

Operational Integrity has established processes and tools to 
demonstrate operational performance and compliance in a 
transparent manner. The process is based on BW Offshore’s 
operational objectives and how the Operational Integrity 
function supports the organisation in meeting and exceeding 
these targets through a continuous improvement cycle.

BW Offshore Stop Work Policy
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No task is so important that you must put yourself or 
others at risk of injury or illness to get it done.

This policy covers all employees, visitors, contractors 
and any other person affected by BW Offshore activities.

All employees, contractors and visitors have the permis-
sion and the responsibility to stop a work task or decline 
to perform an assigned task, without fear of negative 
consequences, when they believe there is a threat to the 
health and safety of themselves or others.

Individuals calling for Stop Work should inform their 
Supervisor or the person in charge of the work imme-
diately. All people with the responsibility for performing 
work also have the responsibility to stop and reassess 
the work when a safety concern is raised.

If you are worried about your safety  
or the safety of others 

If something feels wrong

STOP – don’t do it

You have my support

Marco Beenen 
CEO BW Offshore 

01st July 2019

STOP WORK
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Operational Integrity Framework 
The Operational Integrity framework promotes repeatable 
operational excellence and provides a platform for contin-
uous improvement. It is based on the three core elements: 
people, process and plant.

 
People
Strong competence and behaviour 
delivering operational excellence 

Process
Robust and transparent policies,  
standards and procedures that set  
clear expectations and accountabilities 

Plant
Asset integrity maintained to deliver 
safe, efficient and reliable operations 

This framework is defined within the BW Offshore 
Management System, with the desired outcome of efficient, 
reliable and compliant operations delivered with zero harm 
through a comprehensive assurance programme. This assur-
ance programme then allows for opportunities for improve-
ment to be identified and realised.

Operational Integrity Performance
BW Offshore monitors Process Safety, Occupational Safety, 
Environmental and Asset Integrity, that are leading indicators 
to anticipate future performance issues and take proactive 
action to improve. The Company follows the International 
Association of Oil and Gas Producers (IOGP) guidelines for 
incident reporting, thus allowing for benchmarking with the 
wider industry. 

A Lost Time Injury (LTI) is an injury in the workplace that 
means the injured person is unable to resume normal duties 
in their next shift or subsequent shifts. Total Recordable 
Injuries (TRI) are the sum of lost time injuries, restricted 
work cases and medical treatment cases. A High Potential 
Incident (HPI) is an incident not causing harm or damage 
but that, under slightly different circumstances, could 
have realistically resulted in one or more fatalities or major 
damage. 

BW Offshore registered 5 LTI incidents in 2019 (8 in 2018). 
The LTI ratio (number of LTIs/million man-hours) was 0.48, 
down from 0.68 in 2018. This compares to an industry 
average ratio of 1.44 (International Association of Oil and 
Gas Producers Benchmark). The HPI ratio was 0.78 in 2019, 
down from 2.7 in 2018. 

BW OFFSHORE HSE STATISTICS
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Operational Integrity Compliance
The BW Offshore Management System is consistent with 
industry best practices, such as the Energy Institute Process 
Safety Management framework, and is certified to the 
International Safety Management (ISM) code for safe oper-
ation of ships and pollution prevention, ISO 9001 for Quality 
Management and OHSAS 18001 for Occupational Health 
and Safety Management.

All of BW Offshore’s FPSOs are certified in accordance with 
the requirements of the International Ship and Port Facility 
Security (IPSS) code. The security policy of the Company, 
the FPSOs and Company premises is to prevent unauthor-
ised access and the introduction of weapons and other dan-
gerous devices or substances. The security policy underpins 
the Company’s commitment to ensure zero harm to per-
sonnel and prevent damage to the Company’s assets. The 
Company had no material security incidents in 2019 (2018: 
no incidents).

Continuous Improvement
BW Offshore considers failures as an opportunity to learn 
and improve. An effective process has been established to 
identify root causes of deviations and transform these into 
real improvements, which allows us to progressively build on 
our experience and strengthen our performance.

The ‘learning from failure’ approach will be further strength-
ened through the implementation of the ‘I LEAD Next Phase’ 
programme, WE LEAD, in 2020, which will install continuous 
improvements related to eight key leadership behaviours 
that promote positive I LEAD outcomes. The programme is 
based on a companywide I LEAD culture survey, followed by 
detailed engagement and feedback with the workforce. The 
programme involves the extensive continual personal devel-
opment of leaders and teams throughout the organisation.
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Future Priorities
Throughout 2020, BW Offshore will target full alignment of 
operations with the expectations set within the Management 
System. The objective is full transparency and ownership of 
the key activities that are instrumental in delivering efficient, 
reliable and compliant operations with zero harm.

 
BW Offshore will fully implement the WE LEAD programme 
to ensure an effective framework for continuous improve-
ment of the learning culture within the company.

Eight key leadership behaviours:

TRUST FEEDBACKOPENNESS TEAMWORK

CARE SPEAK-UPLEARN DILLEMMAS

See the value of and 
have confidence in other 

people. Believing that 
people act with good 

intentions (and without 
hidden agendas), even 

when they act and think 
in a way that is different 

from you.

Take ownership of 
your job by resolving 

problems and managing 
failures, even when 
they are outside of 

your formal role. Show 
colleagues that you care 

about their wellbeing. 

Give personal feedback 
to show that you see, 

appreciate what people 
around you do. Give 

critical feedback without 
blame or causing shame. 

Speak up if you observe 
non-compliance or 

hazards, or if you have 
any concerns. Encourage 
and empower others to 

do the same. 

Be open to the possibility 
that no one (not even 
you) is right and that 

this might have severe 
consequences. Be open 
to feedback from others.

Having the attitude that 
you can always learn 
something new, and 

to see failure as a vital 
source of learning. 

Collaborating towards 
common goals and 
agreed-upon norms, 

while helping each other 
become better in the 

process.

Seek out and manage 
failures arising from 

conflicts and dilemmas 
between goals, policies 

and people. 

In 2019, BW Offshore performed a culture survey based on eight key leadership behaviors, 
conducted by PROPEL SAYFR. 
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BW Offshore is committed to contributing to a sustainable 
environment. The Company recognises that its operations 
may have wide-ranging impacts on the environment and 
therefore applies systematic risk management processes 
to identify, assess and mitigate impacts. 

BW Offshore’s environmental management system is 
third-party certified to ISO14001:2015 environmental 
management system standards. The Company seeks 
to align activities and operations with the collective UN 
Sustainability Development Goals #13 and #14 regarding 
climate action and life below water. 

Environmentally 
conscious  
operations
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BW Offshore operates in a highly regulated industry with 
a growing body of environmental legislation and emerging 
industry best practice. The Company engages with industry, 
regulatory bodies and maritime administrations to ensure 
that all operations that may have a significant environmental 
impact apply the ‘precautionary principle’. The environmental 
management system identifies and integrates all relevant reg-
ulatory compliance requirements and industry best practice. 

BW Offshore monitors emerging environmental issues, tech-
nologies and practices to ensure it remains compliant, rele-
vant and positioned to operate sustainably in the future.

Environmental performance
BW Offshore’s environmental impact is measured by the 
operational performance of its FPSOs against key perfor-
mance indicators. In 2019, environmental reporting was 
integrated into the assets’ electronic daily reporting process. 
The quality of environmental performance monitoring has 
improved by enhancing the use of digitised data gathering 
from the asset’s Integrated Control and Safety System.

Asset Management Teams ensure that facilities are effectively 
operated in accordance with the corporate environmen-
tal management system and environmental management 
standards. Relevant aspects are recorded through the digital 
environmental reporting system (ERS), which provides trans-
parent, real-time data accessible to all employees within the 
organisation. Consolidated asset environmental performance 
is reviewed quarterly by the Senior Management Team. The 
management system is audited annually—both internally 
and by independent third parties. For environmental factors 
that are not fully within the control of the organisation, BW 
Offshore endeavours to collaborate with field operators and 
regulatory authorities to achieve the best practicable environ-
mental performance.

Air emissions
On average, the BW Offshore FPSOs emitted 15kg of CO2, 
per barrel of oil equivalent (boe) produced in 2019. The total 
volume of reported flared gas was significantly reduced from 
2018 values. This is mainly due to the Cidade de São Vicente 
not being in operation and improved monitoring of fleet 
flaring. 

In 2019, direct emission sources were included in emissions 
accounting and reporting. The addition of these direct emis-
sions sources explains the increase in methane and non-meth-
ane volatile organic compounds reported compared to 2018. 
In 2020, BW Offshore will seek to improve the quantification 
of direct emissions through a fugitive emissions programme.

Energy efficiency
Gas flaring is normally a condition of the Field Operator’s 
regulatory consent to operate to ensure responsible man-
agement of natural resources and maximise the licensing 
State’s economic recovery. The FPSO operator’s influence is 
limited to minimising operational irregularities that may lead 
to excess gas flaring and to maintaining the availability of gas 
processing systems.

Associated gas has traditionally been considered an 
unwanted by-product of oil production. BW Energy consid-
ers flaring of associated gas from oil production an inefficient 
use of energy (resource wastage). Where feasible, field devel-
opments are designed to capture and either export or re-use 
hydrocarbon gas associated with oil production. 

In 2019, the BW Offshore fleet flared 110 cubic feet of asso-
ciated gas per barrel of oil produced. The gross energy 
consumption of the BW Offshore fleet was reduced by 10% 
compared to the prior reporting period, partly due to the 
FPSO Cidade de Sao Vicente not being in operation. Energy 
efficiencies are asset-specific and depend upon individual 
operating and field conditions. However, minimising opera-
tional downtime and maintaining operating processes and 
utility systems at their optimal levels are key to maximising 
energy efficient performance.

In 2020, BW Offshore plans to perform a study of power 
and utility systems onboard its operating assets to opti-
mise energy efficiency and reduce consumption of natural 
resources to operate power and heating systems. The study 
follows on from the asset-specific energy efficiency assess-
ments performed in 2019, based on the ISO 50001 Energy 
Management System standard.

BW Offshore monitors power and heating consumption at 
onshore sites and seeks to implement energy-saving meas-
ures, including selecting energy-efficient consumables and 
partnerships where applicable.

BW Offshore acknowledges its global footprint 
and impact on the environment. The Company 
has invested in communication systems enabling 
efficient video meetings and promotes the use of 
such systems to minimise unnecessary travel. Due to 
international operations, some air travel is inevitable. 
However, CO2 emissions related to corporate travel 
were reduced by more than 25% from 2018 to 2019 
due to increased focus and implemented measures. 
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Consumption, wastes and materials management
In 2019, the BW Offshore fleet significantly reduced waste 
generated offshore and shipped to shore. The quantities 
of both hazardous waste and proportion of recyclable 
waste improved significantly compared to 2018. Asset 
teams audited shipboard waste management plans to 

ensure that current arrangements and practices for waste 
management onboard comply with international maritime 
waste management standards. Some FPSOs have initi-
ated their own programmes to reduce consumption of 
plastic waste. 

Case study: Battery to balance energy peaks 

BW Offshore has completed an initial study to explore the feasibility of installing a Hybrid Energy Storage System 
(HESS) on the BW Adolo FPSO as part of the Phase 3 upgrade. The HESS would be designed to provide up to 5 
MW (megawatts) of power for 30 minutes. 

The HESS will have several benefits, including reduction in emissions; reduction in operating costs by minimising 
breakdowns and maintenance of generators; and an increase in production by reducing unplanned shutdowns. The 
next stage will be to work on a FEED level study. 

Case study: Floating plastic to fuel production—plastic waste to useful resource

Currently, BW Offshore is conducting a study to explore the feasibility of converting an existing vessel into a mobile 
‘plastics to fuel’ processing plant. The vessel would be brought to regions that experience challenges with high 
volumes of plastic waste. Plastic that might have otherwise reached the ocean may instead be received at BW 
Offshore’s facility and converted into a fuel product for further utilisation. Related discussions are ongoing with 
technology providers and government officials. 
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Emission to sea
The most significant, short-term risk to the marine environ-
ment and biodiversity associated with offshore oil and gas 
operations is the potential for an event that leads to a signifi-
cant oil spill to sea. In 2019, all facilities performed scheduled 

annual oil spill response drills to test their responsiveness 
and preparedness for unplanned oil pollution events. Where 
oil pollution preparedness and response drills simulated an 
uncontained spill to sea, these exercises were coordinated 
with the Field Operator to maximise their effectiveness.

Produced water
Produced water is a by-product of the oil production pro-
cess. The most environmentally friendly option for managing 
produced water is to re-inject the water into the reservoir, 
provided facilities have been incorporated as part of the field 
development plan. Alternatively, produced water is processed 
onboard to a threshold cleanliness quality prior to discharge 
to the marine environment. 

The operating fleet continues to outperform industry 
standards for the quality of produced water discharged to 
sea. The World Banking Group has established a guideline 
limit of 29 parts per million (ppm) oil in water content for 
produced water discharges. The BW Offshore fleet per-
formance in 2019 was 17.3 ppm oil in water content for 
produced water discharges—an improvement on its 2018 
performance. 

Management marine environment impact 
BW Energy is the licence holder of the Dussafu field. As Field 

Operator, BW Energy is responsible for the environmental 
licencing process for the Dussafu field Development, con-
sisting of Environmental and Social Impact Assessments. 
The environmental management system for the Dussafu 
field Development has been audited by third-party ERM 
(Environmental Resource Management) and is currently 
being implemented. 

Future priorities
In 2020, BW Offshore will:

•	Seek to improve quantification of fugitive emissions. 

•	Study the potential for early phase out of controlled ozone 
depleting substances 

•	Study reductions and fugitive emissions

•	 Implement a standard for Best Available Techniques (BAT)  
for new projects

•	Study optimising power and utility system, to reduce fuel 
consumption 

NUMBER OF OIL SPILLS

Year Overboard spills >100 bbls Overboard spill < 100 bbls 

2019 0 19 litres

2018 0 319 litres

2017 0 401 litres

2016 0 237 litres

2015 0 238 litres

The Dussafu Marine Exclusive Exploitation Area is situated 15 miles away from the buffer zone of the Mayumba 
Marine Park. Following BW Energy’s approval to proceed with the Phase I development plan from the Ministry of 
Oil and Hydrocarbons, an Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) was carried out by an independent 
third party prior to installation of the FPSO anchors. Another ESIA was performed for the installation of the FPSO 
and the drilling operations of two development wells and one appraisal well. These assessments were performed 
under Gabonese law and involved several governmental entities, including the Ministry of Oil and Hydrocarbons, 
Ministries of Fisheries, Ministry of the Environment, Merchant Marine and the National Park Agency. BW Energy also 
organised a general information meeting with the representatives of the entities along with the local communities 
to explain operations and development activities in Gabon.
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BW Offshore seeks to comply with applicable laws, rules 
and regulations in every country in which it operates. 
The materiality analysis reflects the importance of 
Business Conduct and Anti-Corruption compliance to the 
stakeholders. The Company is actively engaged with local 
authorities and follows international laws and standards 
for its operations. BW Offshore is also a fair and non-
discriminating local employer and its activities generate 
substantial local revenue in terms of salaries and tax 
income. These are factors supporting the UN Sustainable 
Development goal #6 regarding peace and justice and 
strong institutions, and UN SDG #8 on decent work and 
economic growth. 

A strong  
governance 
framework
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Ethics and Business Conduct Compliance
The Company has developed policies for ethics and busi-
ness conduct, which provide a basis for the attitudes and 
principles that should govern the culture in BW Offshore. 
These policies include the ‘BW Offshore Code of Ethics and 
Business Conduct’ (‘the Code’), which applies to all employ-
ees in BW Offshore and companies in which BW Offshore has 
a majority interest (including joint ventures), and to all BW 
Offshore Board members, officers, temporary employees and 
legal agents, consultants, intermediaries and others who act 
on behalf of BW Offshore. 

The latest version of the Code is available on the Company 
website. The Code is supplemented by specific ‘Ethics and 
Business Conduct Guidelines’ (‘the Guidelines’), other sub-
ject matter policies and relevant internal procedures in BW 
Offshore’s management system. The BW Offshore Ethics and 
Business Conduct compliance programme covers a range of 
subjects and comprises compliance management activities 
administered by BW Offshore’s Head of Corporate Integrity, 
who reports directly to the CEO. 

The programme, activities and progress of the Ethics and 
Business Conduct compliance programme are reported to 
and discussed by the BW Offshore Board of Directors on a 
quarterly basis. 

BW Offshore has mandatory e-learning modules for all 
employees that must be completed on a regular basis to 
ensure that the entire workforce knows and understands 
the Company’s expectations and commitment to com-
pliance. The Company also provides job-role or geogra-
phy-specific compliance training on-site, as dictated by the 
Ethics and Business Conduct risk assessment. The comple-
tion rate for the mandatory e-learning modules was 95% 
in 2019. BW Offshore’s Corporate Integrity team has also 
given 33 on-site training sessions covering all 10 Company 
locations. In total, 421 employees, or approximately 52% 
of the onshore workforce, participated in these training 
sessions. 

The Code, Guidelines and other key compliance pro-
gramme documents and activities (including e-learning) 
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are available in BW Offshore’s common languages: English, 
French, Portuguese, Spanish and Bahasa Indonesian. 

Anti-Corruption
BW Offshore opposes any and all forms of corruption and 
is—together with the other Companies related to the BW 
Group—a member of the Maritime Anti-Corruption Network 
(MACN), a global business network working towards the 
vision of a maritime industry free of corruption that enables 
fair trade to the benefit of society at large.

Corruption can often be hidden in common forms of disguise, 
such as through gifts and entertainment, donations, spon-
sorship or political contributions. The exchange of corporate 
gifts and entertainment in a business context can help build 
goodwill and is a legitimate and valuable component of how 
the Company conducts its business, provided that any giv-
ing or receipt complies with the relevant laws and locally 
accepted good practice. Instances that are excessive or 
could be seen to influence decision-making or judgements 
are not acceptable, and BW Offshore has created corporate 
reporting and approval mechanisms to review and monitor 
the giving or receipt of gifts or hospitality.

The Company does not make political contributions, nor 
does it authorise any personnel or representatives to do so 
on its behalf. However, BW Offshore respects its personnel’s 
right to voluntarily participate in political and democratic 
processes with their own time and resources. 

BW Offshore is open to providing responsible and ethical 
community support: sponsorship, charitable contributions and 
donations, be it in-kind, services, knowledge, or direct finan-
cial contributions, aimed at improving the lives and welfare of 
the local communities in which it operates. The Company is 
careful to ensure that charitable contributions and sponsor-
ships are not used as a cover for and do not constitute bribery. 
Appropriate compliance and corporate authorisation review 
and approval mechanisms are in place for this purpose.

It is the expectation of BW Offshore that all applicable busi-
ness partners, suppliers, agents or other third parties (collec-
tively referred to as ‘suppliers’) will also observe equivalent 
anti-corruption principles when conducting businesses with 
BW Offshore. BW Offshore has established a ‘Supplier Code 
of Ethics and Business Conduct’, in which it expresses the 
expectations the Company holds for its suppliers. 

During the 2019 financial year, BW Offshore was not made 
aware of any confirmed cases of corruption. 

Conflicts of Interest
BW Offshore requires its personnel and representatives to 
be loyal to BW Offshore, and to refrain from actions or from 
having interests that make it difficult to perform their work 
objectively and effectively. They must behave impartially in 
all business dealings and not give other companies, organi-
sations or individuals improper advantages. 

BW Offshore requires annual Conflict of Interest declarations to 
be made by all Personnel and in addition requires supplemen-
tal declarations to be made during the year, if a new conflict 

presents itself. The declaration includes questions on personal 
interests and any relationship to public officials or politically 
exposed personnel. Key personnel within BW Offshore, such 
as the board, management, subsidiary Company directors or 
officers and functional leaders, are required to complete an 
extended declaration of their interests.

The declarations are reviewed by the Corporate Integrity 
department. From 2020, the declarations are collected 
through a new compliance IT portal with the objective of 
making reporting easier and allowing for more comprehen-
sive review and recording of decision-making related to 
declared conflicts of interest. 

Compliance Assessment of Business Partners
A key focus of the Ethics and Business Conduct compliance 
management programme at BW Offshore is the assessment of 
external related parties who work for the various business units 
or are part of their value chain. All business partners (including 
country partners, agents acting on behalf of the Company, and 
suppliers who provide goods and services) are assessed for: 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations; compliance 
with the principles and spirit of the BW Offshore Code of 
Ethics and Business Conduct (and the Guidelines); and any red 
flags that might indicate that use of the external party might 
have an adverse effect on BW Offshore’s reputation, as part of 
the Company’s ‘Supplier Qualification’ processes. 

The Company’s commitment to ‘Respect for the Individual, 
Human Rights and Ethical Employment Practices’ is also 
reflected in the Qualification compliance assessment work. 
The BW Offshore Supplier Code of Ethics and Business 
Conduct and BW Offshore’s ‘Modern Slavery Statement’—
which can be found on the Company website—detail the 
risk assessments and the activities that aim to eradicate the 
risk of modern slavery, human trafficking and forced or child 
labour within the Company’s business and supply chain. 

The Corporate Integrity department performs the assess-
ment of the vendors as part of the Qualification process, 
and may also request further information, perform in-person 
audits or mandate specific activities (such as certifications 
or trainings) to be completed by the supplier, as deemed 
necessary to manage the compliance risk the party might 
pose to BW Offshore. The Company will not engage an 
external party if the compliance risk is deemed too high. 

In 2019, BW Offshore compliance assessed 1100 new poten-
tial business partners, of whom 160 (or roughly 15%) were 
subject to additional compliance activities prior to being 
accepted as a potential tenderer, or prior to being engaged, 
to provide goods or services to the Company. 

Reporting concerns, asking questions  
and raising grievances 
BW Offshore encourages open discussions about responsi-
ble conduct and if any relevant party discovers any unethical 
or illegal practice or finds themselves in an ethical dilemma, 
they are obliged to seek advice. 

BW Offshore has established routines and an externally avail-
able reporting channel (the BW Offshore ‘Speak Up Channel’) 
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allowing employees, business partners and relevant stakehold-
ers to report a concern in respect to breach of laws, regulations 
or BW Offshore’s expectations in the Code and Guidelines. The 
‘Speak Up Channel’ enables reporting via web and telephone, 
with local access numbers provided for most countries in the 
world and with the ability for reporters to speak to operators in 
58 languages, including the official languages of all the coun-
tries in which BW Offshore operates. Reports can be made 
anonymously, and even when anonymity is chosen, the func-
tionality of the ‘Speak Up Channel’ allows a reporter to create 
an access number and password to re-enter the report, which 
enables two-way communication between the Company and 
the reporter, thereby increasing the ability of the Company 
to request further information to properly understand and 
investigate the report. The ‘Speak Up Channel’ web portal has 
an ‘Ask a Question’ function, which can also be posed anon-
ymously in the same way as the reporting mechanism. This 
‘Ask a Question’ functionality aims to increase transparency 
and respect for the views and concerns of its key stakeholders. 

BW Offshore commits that no retaliation will be taken 
against any personnel for raising any concern, question, 
grievance or complaint in good faith. All reports will be 

treated confidentially and will be investigated promptly, 
thoroughly and fairly. Reports received and questions asked 
through the ‘Speak Up Channel’ function are communicated 
to the BW Offshore Board of Directors on a quarterly basis—
with as much detail as is practical based on the Company’s 
commitments to confidentiality and carrying out a fair and 
thorough investigation.

Breaches of BW Offshore’s Code or relevant statutory pro-
visions may result in disciplinary action, or dismissal with 
or without notice, and may also be reported to the relevant 
authorities. BW Offshore is committed to making necessary 
corrections and taking remedial action to prevent recur-
rence, should improper practice occur. 

The BW Offshore Expressions of Concern policy elaborates 
several routes for BW Offshore Personnel to raise concerns, 
grievances or make reports and the BW Offshore Speak Up 
Channel is only one of those possible avenues. In 2019, BW 
Offshore recorded 10 reports across the BW Offshore Speak 
Up Channel, of which 7 were subject to further investigation 
and specific actions taken by the Company. None included 
any confirmed cases of corruption.

Governance structure
BW Offshore has a well-developed corporate governance structure and adheres to the Norwegian Corporate 
Governance Board (NUES) Code of Practice, last updated 17 October 2018. Please refer to the Corporate Governance 
section of the Annual Report for more details.

Management of the Company:

Senior Management: has the responsibility to discuss and decide upon strategic objectives, business evaluation, 
opportunities and risks review, priorities and financial results

Functional Management: includes Heads of functions; has the responsibility to develop and implement plans in 
accordance with the Company’s strategy and priorities

External auditors Annual General Meeting Nomination Committee

Compensation Committee

Internal Framework

CEO & Senior Management Team

Functional Management Team

Board of Directors

Technical and  
Commercial CommitteeAudit Committee

External Framework

Internal Audit
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BW Offshore focuses on its employees and organisation, 
and the opportunities it can provide for the wider 
community. The Company is deeply aware of the 
importance of its people and their contribution to 
meeting operational and financial objectives. Ensuring the 
safety and wellbeing of its employees is BW Offshore’s 
greatest responsibility and is reflected in its zero harm 
principle. Therefore, all processes seek to leverage human 
performance and a strong culture of care, and are in 
support of the UN Sustainable Development Goal #8 
regarding decent work and economic growth. 

Being a  
non-discriminating  
and fair employer
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Human rights, anti-discrimination  
and fair employment 
The BW Offshore Code of Ethics and Business Conduct 
represents the commitment to respect for the individual, 
upholding human rights and instituting fair and ethical 
employment practices. BW Offshore has established sev-
eral human capital policies with routines and procedures 
aligned with ethical and compliant business practices, 
such as rules for transparent recruitment and provision of 
employment agreements establishing its personnel’s rights 
and entitlements. 

The Company is committed to treating all persons with dignity 
and respect in the conducting of their duties and responsibilities. 
BW Offshore prohibits unlawful discrimination based on ethnic 
or national origin (including protection for indigenous peoples), 
age, gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, marital 
status or family structure, religion or disability. Inappropriate 
workplace conduct, such as harassment, violence or discrimina-
tion is not tolerated.

BW Offshore supports the United Nations Universal Declaration 
of Human Rights and the standards advised by the International 
Labour Organisation. Slavery, forced labour, child labour, torture 
and other violations of human rights are totally unacceptable. 

Third parties providing goods and services to BW Offshore are 
expected to comply with human rights and relevant employ-
ment practices and the Company performs due diligence to 
support the effort to ensure that the various supply chains 
operate in an ethical and responsible manner to prevent slavery, 
human trafficking, forced or child labour and any other viola-
tions of human rights and labour standards. 

Culture survey—employee input  
as to what is important 
BW Offshore has a continuous focus on developing the com-
pany culture. In 2019, BW Offshore engaged an external com-
pany to assess the corporate culture which are defined by the 
I LEAD principles. A culture survey was carried out to assess 
the current situation and to identify areas for improvement. 
Seventy-two per cent of all employees and consultants, onshore 
and offshore, participated in the survey.

The overall outcome was a score based on a methodology 
developed to measure the company culture maturity level. 
BW Offshore scored in the top quartile relative to other 
companies in a large database of several company respond-
ents, defined as an ‘industry benchmark’. To address the 
identified areas for improvement, a culture improvement 
programme will be established and rolled out in 2020. 

The employees, as important Company stakeholders, were 
additionally asked to address any topics in the qualitative input 
section of the survey. The topics most frequently addressed 
were interpreted as the ones of highest materiality to the 
employees as stakeholders. 

The top five topics interpreted to be of  
highest materiality to the employees: 

• Following rules and procedures 

• Safety awareness

• Onshore management

• Offshore leadership

• Appraisal process

These topics support the future priorities of internal develop-
ment related to management systems, culture and leadership 
behaviour for the whole organisation. 

The culture improvement will be assessed again at regular 
intervals.

Working for BW Offshore
The headcount in BW Offshore is stable, with a slight decline 
of less than 1% from 2018 to 2019. Most workers are permanent, 
and fewer than 10% are contractors/consultants. Temporary 
employment is used for short-term requirements, specialists in 
specific areas or to cover project peaks. 

Workforce diversity and equal opportunity
BW Offshore consists of employees with a wide range of experi-
ences, backgrounds and characteristics. The Company continues 
to build a diverse workforce by attracting, recruiting, developing 
and retaining people of both genders, different nationalities 
and age groups, across all types of positions. The Company has 
employees from 61 nationalities, aged between 22 to 71. 

BW Offshore monitors improvement on gender diversity in the 
Company. As of 31 December 2019, 13% of the workforce was 
female and 87% male. Onshore, the workforce was 30% female 
and 70% male. Women held 17% of the seats on the Board of 
Directors and women accounted for 25% of the management 
team. In 2019, 41% of new joiners were women, contributing to a 
positive trend and improvement in the coming years. 

The average age of the management team is 50 years. 
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Team composition 
BW Offshore believes that diversity promotes healthy collabo-
ration and positive development of the Company’s capabilities 
and operates with multinational teams on all offshore units and 
in all onshore locations. 

The Company’s strategy is to deliver local content to meet and 
exceed local requirements. Developing local content and com-
petencies strengthens BW Offshore’s position and operational 
abilities; BW Offshore proactively plans for this at an early stage 
of entry in any new country or any new operations, with the 
objective of achieving a high level of local content at the start of 
any new activity. A strong local connection provides knowledge, 
widens the available competence base and supports the devel-
opment of a joint company culture. Local offshore management 
has increased from 22% in 2018 to 30% in 2019, showing the 
commitment to developing local competencies in leading posi-
tions. Future focus and strategy is to increase this percentage. 
 
Training, competency and assessment
BW Offshore continuously invests in employee training and 
competency. The BW Academy, which is an internal e-learning 
platform, currently offers over 75 courses, which are available 
for all employees. This platform will continue to develop new 
updated courses in various formats to promote the best possi-
ble training. In 2019, a total of 12,944 courses were completed. 
Each employee on average completed 6.3 e-learning courses, 

spending approximately 4.4 hours each to complete the train-
ing (9,708 hours in total). 

In addition to e-learning, the Company supports personal 
development and training by internal or external courses, within 
the categories of Leadership development, induction training, 
young talent programmes, professional and technical training. 
The Company is in process to start measuring reporting training 
hours for internal and external courses. 

A reporting system is in place to monitor and ensure all employ-
ees have satisfactory training and certificates to comply with 
internal and external requirements. The system adapts to the 
requirements for each position. Requirements for training and 
certificates are applicable for contractors as specified in the 
Management System, in the same manner as for employees. 
Contractors can access internal courses. 

In 2019, the completion rate of the mandatory training and 
required certificates was 99%.

As an initiative to promote learning, a section of the Company’s 
e-learning portal has been made available to the public. Visitors 
to the Company website can access all the courses listed under 
‘FPSO University’. The aim is to provide a general understanding 
of how an FPSO works, and to motivate and attract interest in 
BW Offshore and its business. 

GENDER RATIO FOR ONSHORE MANAGERS

Title Female Male Total 

Senior Management 25 % 75 % 12

SVP/ VP (Vice President) 21 % 79 % 24

Manager 23 % 77 % 150

    

Grand Total 23 % 77 % 186

Nationals       Expats        
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OFFSHORE EXPATS AND NATIONALS

To secure the transfer of knowledge and train local 
competencies during the start-up of FPSO Adolo,  
40 industry specialists were assigned as a shadow 
crew in 2018. They ensured safe operations and  
provided direct hands-on training to the local  
workforce recruited specifically for the unit. Today, 
the Gabonese crew has assumed most responsibili-
ties and the shadow crew is being phased out. 
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BW Offshore Nigeria serves as a good example of the 
Company’s commitment to the development of com-
petence and capability in local markets. The Company 
operates a training programme in compliance with 
the requirements set out by the Nigerian Content 
Development and Monitoring Board (NCDMB) and has, 
since 2016, trained over 50 young men and women across 
various disciplines—QHSE, Engineering and Project 
Management, Supply Chain and Human Resources, as 
well as several technical offshore disciplines. 

Ten trainees will get an opportunity to join the next 
section of the programme in Q4, 2020. In addition to 
the certificated technical courses and robust on-the 
job-training to which they are exposed, the trainees are 
given the opportunity to apply to join the award-win-
ning BW Offshore Global Internship Programme, and 
approximately 40% of the trainees go on to be retained 
by the Company. 

These initiatives tie-in to BW Offshore’s commitment to 
developing a strong local workforce. In 2019, 91% of the 
employees in Nigeria were Nigerian nationals, up from 
86% in 2018 and 64% in 2016. The Company is commit-
ted to a local content personnel target of 99% by 2023. 

In 2019, BW Offshore Nigeria partnered with Rivers 
State University (formerly Rivers State University of 
Science and Technology), providing six-month intern-
ship opportunities to three master’s degree candidates. 
This partnership will continue into 2020. 

"The tasks I performed during my internship allowed me 
to apply my university learning in a real-world environ-
ment and I managed to develop my interpersonal and 
problem-solving skills by interacting and working with 
other team members. I thoroughly enjoyed working 
with everyone and it was a pleasure being part of such 
a creative team. Working on many different projects 
allowed me to experience numerous aspects of the BW 
Offshore business and culture. I will personally take with 
me the I LEAD principles and use them in my everyday 
life onwards." Daniel Inemugha, RSU master’s candidate

In 2020, BW Offshore Nigeria will continue to promote 
two key local initiatives, with focus on in-country capac-
ity development and the local environment.

BW Offshore Nigeria will award 22 educational scholar-
ships to Nigerian graduates and undergraduates in engi-
neering and technology disciplines. The scholarships 
cover tuition, room and board, and an upkeep allowance 
per year for the duration of the degree courses. 

BW Offshore Nigeria will launch a ‘Plastics & the Ocean’ 
Campaign, in partnership with credible environmental 
agencies, towards ending the plastic pollution of the 
oceans, waterways and environment. The campaign is 
targeted both at raising awareness and actively promot-
ing behavioural change. This initiative follows on from the 
2018/2019 initiatives promoting reduction in the use of 
single-use plastics within BW Offshore Nigeria operations.

Social initiative Nigeria: Supporting local  
communities by training and job creation 

Young Talents
BW Offshore’s Young Talent Programmes are aimed at 
attracting and retaining talent even before graduation. The 
Company tailors the programmes for students and recent 
graduates from targeted universities in areas we operate.

The award-winning BW Offshore Summer Internship 
Programme focuses on building awareness among students 
regarding what the Company can offer upon completion of 
their degrees, across departments, disciplines and locations. 
In 2019, six summer interns from four different countries 
participated in the global programme. In addition to this 
global programme, the Company facilitates several local 
initiatives for young talent. 

The BW Offshore Graduate Programme aims to give recent 
graduates a comprehensive introduction to the business, as 
well as a strong understanding of expectations and oppor-
tunities within the Company. The three-year programme, 
which includes close mentorship from dedicated senior 
personnel, builds a strong foundation for a long-term per-
sonal development and career with BW Offshore. In 2019, 
12 graduates was enrolled in the programme at 3 different 
locations. 

The Company is committed to support the UN SDG Goal 
#8 Decent Work and Economic Growth. The strategy is to 
recruit 5-10 young talents every year. 
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Performance Management 
BW Offshore holds Performance Dialogues (formerly 
Performance Appraisals) with all employees to formalise the 
performance management process as an important element 
of leadership and people development for both managers 
and employees. The process ensures open discussion on 
expectations, feedback on achievements, and positive and 
constructive feedback between managers and employees, 
as well as setting objectives for the coming period. 

All managers and employees, as well as consultants 
engaged for longer terms, are encouraged to complete the 
Performance Dialogues, and in 2019 the completion rate of 
Performance Dialogues was 95%. Future focus is to con-
tinue the training of managers to ensure the best value of 
the performance management process.

Fair compensation structures 
BW Offshore applies a meritocratic approach to ensure 
that the compensation framework supports the Company’s 
long-term business strategy and delivers a total compen-
sation that fairly reflects each Employee’s contribution 
and performance. The salaries and benefits offered by 
the Company are significantly higher than local minimum 
wages. The Company is committed to the UN SDG #1 goal 
of No Poverty and decent living, 

The BW Offshore Compensation Committee appointed 
by the Board of Directors is responsible for assisting and 
facilitating decision-making by the Board of Directors 
regarding executive remuneration. Executive remuneration 

and variable compensation schemes (VCS) are subject to 
annual review and the discretion of the Board of Directors in 
accordance with the Company’s governance. The VCS pay-
out is determined according to overall Company results and 
HSEQ performance every year.

Compensation Principles
BW Offshore takes a holistic view of various factors to 
determine and ensure that total employee compensation is 
fair and above the minimum legal requirements in the vari-
ous locations in which the Company operates. These factors 
include:

•	Pay for Position: Independent compensation consultants 
are engaged periodically to ensure that pay levels in the 
Company are competitive with other companies of com-
parable size and nature of business in the same markets.

•	Pay for Person: An employee’s personal attributes, such as 
skills, experience and competency, influence the individual 
pay level and salary reviews. 

•	Pay for Results and Performance: The individual remuner-
ation should reflect achievement of results, accomplish-
ments and performance. The differentiation of base pay 
and variable pay should be a fair recognition and reward.

The fair evaluation of compensation is secured through 
alignment processes as part of the yearly salary review. The 
management team, guided by the human capital function, 
is collectively reviewing all evaluations and salaries across 
teams and locations. 

YOUNG TALENT 

Year
Participation in the Global 

Summer Internship Programme
Participation in 3-year 
Graduate Programme

2015 8 9

2016 0 10

2017 7 4

2018 6 9

2019 6 12

Since 2015, BW Offshore Brazil has been committed to 
the local Apprentice’s Act, which encourages compa-
nies to hire workers between the ages of 14 and 24. It is 
required by the Act that they receive training and courses 
to enhance their work skills. 

As of 2019, the Company is supporting five apprentices 
through a two-year programme and is responsible for 

enrolling them in training courses provided by one of 
the official professional qualification agencies certi-
fied by the Ministry of Labour, also known as SENAI. 
The courses include classes on workers’ rights, worker 
health and safety, alcohol and drug prevention, and 
consumer education. The programme helps prepare the 
youth for transition to professional work and supports 
and strengthens their ability to find gainful employment.

Case study Brazil: Apprentice programme
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Compensation Elements
The BW Offshore compensation model consist of the fol-
lowing main components: 

•	Fixed Payment: A base salary and cash compensation that 
is aligned and competitive in the markets in which the 
Company operates.

•	  Variable Payment: Short-term incentive (STI) programme—
Variable Compensation Scheme (VCS). Employees are 
rewarded based on the annual performance related to the 
Company (financial and HSEQ results) and the Employee’s 
individual performance contribution, criticality and adher-
ence to ILEAD principles. 

•	Long-term incentive (LTI) programme—Share Option 
Scheme. This is to incentivise long-term value creation for 
the Company, and to align the interests of the participat-
ing employees with the interests of the shareholders over 
a long period of time. Awards and participants are in on an 
annual basis.

Benefits: The Company offers pension plans and insurance 
schemes to all employees in all locations aligned with or 
above local legislations and markets. 

Collective bargaining agreement
BW Offshore is committed to supporting Freedom of 
Association and Collective Bargaining. This is clearly stated 
in the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. Collective 
Bargaining is a negotiation process between the Employers 
and unionised Employees to regulate the terms and con-
ditions, which include wages, working conditions, benefits 
and other aspects of workers’ compensation and rights for 
workers. 

Collective bargaining is used in Brazil, Gabon and Nigeria. 
The interests of the employees are commonly presented 
by representatives of a trade union to which the employees 
belong, and the negotiation timeframe may vary according 
to local regulations. Currently, 36% of the total global work-
force is covered by collective agreements.

Singapore, the largest office, is covered under the Collective 
agreement by the Shipbuilding and Marine Engineering 
Employees’ Union (SMEEU). The Collective Agreement 
enables a tripartite employment arrangement where the 
government, employer and union work together to provide 
employees with a fair and progressive work environment.

% OF GLOBAL WORKFORCE COVERED BY COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Africa Region includes Nigeria, Gabon and Cote d'lvoire

American Region includes Brazil, Mexico and the USA

Europe Region includes Cyprus, France, Norway, 
Netherlands and the UK. None of these countries record 
employee union memberships.

Asia Region includes Singapore, Indonesia,  
New Zealand and China
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Labour relations 
Local Work Environment Committees or equivalent are in 
place to ensure that a secure, safe and healthy working envi-
ronment is implemented, discussed between management 
and employee representatives and maintained appropri-
ately. At all offshore units in operation, there is an equivalent 
organisation called the Offshore Safety Committee (OSC) 
that maintains monthly meetings between employee repre-
sentatives and the Company to discuss subjects regarding 
occupational health and HSE-related topics. 

Future priorities
In 2020, BW Offshore will prioritise to establish and run the 
culture improvement programme I LEAD next phase.

The purpose of the programme is to emphasise continuous 
improvement of the company culture by providing training 
to leaders and employees on safe and efficient operations 
and people development.

BW Offshore will maintain its focus to further develop the 
existing young talent programmes and recruit 5-10 new 
young talents every year. 

BW Offshore will continue focus on nationalisation pro-
grammes to increase the percentage of local workforce 
offshore and onshore.
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Summary of ESG KPIs

2019 2018

Environmental impact

Energy  

Energy consumption offshore GJ 14,717,502 16,353,555

Greenhouse Gas

CO2 equivalent Te 1,670,719 2,513,000

N2O Te 80 -

CH4 (Methane) Te 9,123 5,448

CO2 Te 1,393,695 -

CO2 equivalent per barrel produced Kg/bbl 15 -

Non-Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Discharges

CO Te 2898 -

NOx Te 8,233 2,574

SO2 Te 340 634

nmVOC Te 10,644 -

Flaring

Flared Gas mmscf 9,770 14,715

Air Travel Emissions (in Tonnes CO2, equivalent)

Fleet Operations Te 9,277 9,051

Corporate Te 6,060 8,169

Marine Discharges and Chemical Management

Produced Water Re-Injected bbl  2,055,850 -

Produced Water Discharged to sea bbl  67,657,546  77,657,051 

Oil in Water Content ppm 17.3 18.0

Waste

Total waste Te 1,544 2,245

General Waste Te 404 532

Recyclable Waste Te 824 991

Hazardous Waste Te 316 722

Number of significant oil spills 0 0
 

Reporting boundaries for air emissions calculations include:

- Annual direct emissions (annual calculated estimate)

- Plant combustion processes (calculated daily through environmental reporting system)

- Gas flaring (calculated daily through environmental reporting system)

- Unplanned gas releases (recorded through incident reporting system)

- Air travel emissions recorded by 3rd party agent 

- Global warming potentials taken from IPCC 5th assessment report (2014)

- Emissions are limited to FPSO operations and air travel. Project activities are excluded.

“-“ Indicates data not available
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2019 2018

People 

Employees

Group total 2,126 2,138

 Onshore 809 800

 Offshore 1,317 1,338

Split nationals/expat Offshore 69% / 31% 65% / 35%

Employee turnover rate 7.83% 5.30%

Gender split (female/male)

Group total 13% / 87% 13% / 87%

 Onshore 30% / 70% 31% / 69%

 Offshore 3% / 97% 2% / 98 %

Group Senior and Functional Management 25% / 75% 22% / 78% 

Board of Directors 17% / 83% 20% / 80%

2019 2018

Health and safety 

Sick leave 1.90% 2.10%

Fatalities Employees 0 0

Fatalities Contractors 0 0

Lost Time Injuries rate (per million exposed hours) 0.48 0.68

Total Recordable Injury rate (per million exposed hours) 1.45 1.94

High Potential Incidents (per million exposed hours) 0.78 2.70

Number of Lost Time Injuries 5 8

Total Exposure Hours (million man hours) 10.32 11.67
 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

HSE statistics, per million hours

LTI 1.8 0.3 0.25 0.68 0.48

TRI 3.5 1.6 0.87 1.94 1.45

HPI 1.5 1.2 1.62 2.7 0.78
 

Certificates

ISO 9001

ISO 14001

OHSAS 18001
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Consolidated Statement of Income 

USD MILLION (Year ended 31 December) Note 2019 2018

Revenue 4,5,24  1,153.0  870.4 

Operating expenses 6,8  (386.2)  (333.0)

Other expenses 6  (21.0)  (16.2)

Administrative expenses 6,8,24  (24.6)  (33.4)

Net impairment loss on trade receivables 12  (12.0)  - 

Total expenses  (443.8)  (382.6)

Share of profit/ (loss) of equity-accounted investments 17  0.7  1.4 

Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and sale of assets (EBITDA)  709.9  489.2 

Depreciation and amortisation 14,15,16,24  (412.3)  (338.6)

Impairment and disposal 14,15,16  -  (0.1)

Net gain/ (loss) on sale of tangible fixed assets 15,16  -  7.0 

Operating profit/ (loss) (EBIT)   297.6  157.5 

Interest income   4.2  2.4 

Interest expense  (86.1)  (79.5)

Fair value gain/ (loss) on financial instruments 22  49.8  (13.7)

Net currency gain/ (loss)  (74.3)  13.3 

Other financial items 24  (6.9)  (3.2)

Net financial items  (113.3)  (80.7)

Profit/ (loss) before tax  184.3  76.8 

Income tax expense 10  (78.2)  (40.3)

Net profit/ (loss) for the year  106.1  36.5 

Net profit/ (loss) for the year attributable to

Shareholders of the parent  82.6  33.5 

Non-controlling interests  23.5  3.0 

Net profit/ (loss) for the year  106.1  36.5 

Basic earnings/ (loss) per share net 7  0.45  0.18 

Diluted earnings/ (loss) per share net 7  0.44  0.18 

The notes on pages 68-110 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

USD MILLION (Year ended 31 December) Note 2019 2018

Profit/ (loss) for the year  106.1  36.5 

Other comprehensive income

Items to be reclassfied to profit or loss:

Currency translation differences   (0.5)  (1.6)

Reclassification during the year to profit/ (loss) of cash flow hedges  1.7  2.9 

Net items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss  1.2  1.3 

Items not to be reclassfied to profit or loss:

Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans 9  0.1  (0.5)

Net items not to be reclassified to profit or loss:  0.1  (0.5)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  1.3  0.8 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  107.4  37.3 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to

Shareholders of the parent  83.9  34.3 

Non-controlling interests  23.5  3.0 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  107.4  37.3 

The notes on pages 68-110 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

USD MILLION (As at 31 December) Notes 2019 2018

ASSETS

Vessels 14  2,377.1  2,614.6 

Property and other equipment 15  16.0  13.3 

Right-of-use assets 24  22.0  - 

E&P tangible assets 15  216.1  183.4 

Intangible assets 16  101.1  37.7 

Equity-accounted investments 17  9.8  9.2 

Finance lease receivables 24  35.6  57.3 

Deferred tax assets 10  12.3  12.5 

Pension assets 9  0.2  - 

Derivatives 22  5.7  12.9 

Other non-current assets  1.6  10.8 

Total non-current assets  2,797.5  2,951.7 

Inventories 11  62.6  63.8 

Trade and other current assets 12  235.3  187.8 

Finance lease receivables 24  21.7  20.1 

Tax receivables 10  1.1  0.6 

Derivatives 22  0.7  - 

Cash and cash equivalents 13  250.2  142.1 

Assets held for sale 15,16  -  50.4 

Total current assets  571.6  464.8 

Total assets  3,369.1  3,416.5 

EQUITY 

Share capital 18  92.5  92.5 

Share premium 18  1,095.5  1,095.5 

Other equity 19  (68.4)  (192.4)

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the parent  1,119.6  995.6 

Non-controlling interests 18,27  338.9  325.3 

Total equity  1,458.5  1,320.9 

LIABILITES

Interest-bearing long-term debt 19,22  1,025.7  1,112.8 

Pension obligations 9  5.3  4.6 

Deferred tax liabilities 10  10.1  1.8 

Asset retirement obligations 21  8.9  16.2 

Other non-current liabilities 20  218.6  250.7 

Long-term lease liabilities 24  14.8  - 

Derivatives 22  35.5  112.9 

Total non-current liabilities  1,318.9  1,499.0 

Trade and other payables 20  323.7  322.1 

Contract liabilities 5  1.9  1.9 

Derivatives 22  23.1  2.3 

Interest-bearing short-term debt 19,22  221.1  260.9 

Short-term lease liabilities 24  8.2  - 

Tax liabilities 10  13.7  9.4 

Total current liabilities  591.7  596.6 

Total equity and liabilities  3,369.1  3,416.5 

The notes on pages 68-110 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

USD MILLION Note
Share  

capital
Share 

premium
Treasury 

shares

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Cash  
flow 

hedges

Equity 
comp-

onent of 
convertible 

bonds
Other 

elements

Share- 
holders' 

equity

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total  

equity

Equity at 1 January 2018  92.5  1,095.5  (2.9)  (16.7)  (4.6)  -  (192.3)  971.5  287.9  1,259.4 

Profit/ (loss) for the period  -  -  -  -  -  -  33.5  33.5  3.0  36.5 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  (1.6)  2.9  -  (0.5)  0.8  -  0.8 

Share-based payment 8  -  -  0.1  -  -  -  -  0.1  -  0.1 

Other equity transactions  -  -  2.5  -  -  -  (2.5)  -  -  - 

Dividend to non-controlling interest 18,27  -  -  -  -  -  -  (10.3)  (10.3)  (1.6)  (11.9)

Transactions with non-controlling 
interests 18,27  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  36.0  36.0 

Total equity at 31 December 2018  92.5  1,095.5  (0.3)  (18.3)  (1.7)  -  (172.1)  995.6  325.3  1,320.9 

Equity at 1 January 2019  92.5  1,095.5  (0.3)  (18.3)  (1.7)  -  (172.1)  995.6  325.3  1,320.9 

Profit/ (loss) for the period  -  -  -  -  -  -  82.6  82.6  23.5  106.1 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  (0.5)  1.7  -  0.1  1.3  -  1.3 

Issue of convertible bonds 19  -  -  -  -  -  50.1  -  50.1  -  50.1 

Share-based payment 8  -  -  -  -  -  -  1.0  1.0  -  1.0 

Other equity transactions  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1.5)  (1.5)  -  (1.5)

Dividend to non-controlling interest 18  -  -  -  -  -  -  (9.5)  (9.5)  (1.4)  (10.9)

Transactions with non-controlling 
interests 18,27  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (8.5)  (8.5)

Total equity at 31 December 2019  92.5  1,095.5  (0.3)  (18.8)  -  50.1  (99.4)  1,119.6  338.9  1,458.5 

The notes on pages 68-110 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

USD MILLION (Year ended 31 December) Note 2019 2018

Operating activities

Profit/ (loss) before tax  184.3  76.8 

Adjustments for:

Loss/ (gain) on disposal of property, plant & equipment 14,15,16  -  (7.0)

Fair value change on financial instruments  (49.8)  13.7 

Share of loss/ (profit) from equity-accounted investments 17  (0.7)  (1.4)

Currency exchange differences  (9.7)  (13.3)

Depreciation and amortisation 14,15,16  412.3  338.6 

Share-based payment expense 8  1.0  0.1 

Impairment 15  -  0.1 

Changes in asset retirement obligations through income statement 21  0.3  0.2 

Add back of net interest expense  81.8  77.1 

Instalment on financial lease 24  20.1  18.7 

Changes in inventories  1.2  (32.0)

Changes in trade and other current assets  (47.6)  37.8 

Changes in trade and other payables  24.1  1.7 

Changes in other balance sheet items and items related to operating activities  54.0  (35.8)

Taxes paid 10  (63.0)  (39.4)

Net cash flows from operating activities  608.3  435.9 

Investing activities

Investment in property, plant & equipment and intangible assets 14,15,16  (273.5)  (357.2)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 15,16  44.5  - 

Dividend received  0.1  - 

Interest received  4.2  2.4 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (224.7)  (354.8)

Financing activities

Proceeds from new interest-bearing debt 19  1,001.2  241.0 

Repayment of long-term debt 19  (1,136.5)  (278.3)

Payment of lease liabilities 24  (10.3)  - 

Cash transfer from/ (to) non-controlling interests 27  (3.7)  67.1 

Paid dividend and redemption 18  (33.9)  (36.0)

Interest paid  (92.3)  (78.3)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (275.5)  (84.5)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  108.1  (3.4)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  142.1  145.5 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 13  250.2  142.1 

The notes on pages 68-110 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes 

Note 1 Corporate information

BW Offshore Limited (‘BW Offshore’ or ‘the Company’) 
was incorporated in Bermuda in 2005 and is domiciled in 
Bermuda with its registered address at Clarendon House, 2 
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company is listed on Oslo Stock Exchange (OSE).

BW Offshore Limited and its subsidiaries are referred to 
as the ‘Group‘. The Group build, owns and operates FPSOs 

(Floating, Production, Storage and Offloading vessels). In 
addition, the Group also actively participates in field devel-
opments of discovered oil and gas fields.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 27 February 2020.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared pursuant to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the European Union (‘EU’). 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the historical cost convention with some 
exceptions, as detailed in the accounting policies set out 
below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting esti-
mates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment 
in the process of complying with the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are 
disclosed in Note 3.

All figures are in USD million if not otherwise stated. Because 
of rounding differences, numbers and or percentages may 
not add up to the total. Figures in brackets refer to corre-
sponding figures for 2018.

Functional and presentation currency
Functional currency
The functional currency is determined in each entity in the 
Group based on the currency within the entity's primary 
economic environment. Transactions in foreign currency are 
translated to functional currency using the exchange rate 
at the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting 
period foreign currency monetary items are translated using 
the closing rate, non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction and non-monetary items 
that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the 
fair value was measured. Currency gains and losses are rec-
ognised within net financial items in the consolidated state-
ment of income in the period in which those occur.

Presentation currency
The Group’s presentation currency is United States Dollars 
(‘USD’). This is also the functional currency of the parent 
company and most of its subsidiaries.

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, 
the statement of income, the statement of financial position 
and the cash flows of each entity are translated from the 
functional currency into the presentation currency, USD. The 
assets and liabilities of entities whose functional currencies 
are other than USD, are translated into USD at the foreign 
exchange rate at the balance sheet date. The revenues and 
expenses of such entities are translated using the monthly 
average exchange rates. Exchange differences are recog-
nised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and accumu-
lated in currency translation reserve in other equity.

The accumulated translation differences relating to the 
investments in foreign subsidiaries attributable to the equity 
holders of the parent are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of a foreign subsid-
iary, or when a loss of control, significant influence or joint 
control is present, the accumulated exchange differences 
related to investments accumulated in shareholders’ equity 
are reclassified to the consolidated statement of income.

When a partial disposal of a subsidiary (not loss of con-
trol) is present the proportionate share of the accumu-
lated exchange differences is allocated to non-controlling 
interests.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019. A 
number of other new standards are also effective from 1 
January 2019, but they do not have a material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements. 
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The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective 
approach. Accordingly, the comparative information pre-
sented for 2018 is not restated – i.e. it is presented, as previ-
ously reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations. The 
details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed 
below. Additionally, the disclosure documents in IFRS 16 
have not generally been applied to comparative information.

Definition of a lease
Previously, the Group determined at contract inception 
whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under 
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease. The Group now assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition of a lease under 
IFRS 16.

The Group applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previ-
ously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified 
as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for 
whether there is a lease under IFRS 16. Therefore, the defini-
tion of a lease under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts 
entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

The Group as a lessee
As a lessee, the Group leases mainly office premises, apart-
ments, vehicles, office machines and vessels. The Group 
previously classified leases as operating or finance leases 
based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred 
significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to owner-
ship of the underlying asset to the Group. Under IFRS 16, the 
Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
most of the leases. 

The Group has elected to not separate non-lease compo-
nents and account for the lease and the non-lease compo-
nents as a single lease component. For right-of-use assets 

used in joint arrangements, the partners share of the lease 
payments are classified as other revenue.

The Group used several practical expedients when applying 
IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases 
under IAS 17. In particular, the Group:

	· Did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for 
leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of 
the date of initial application

	· Did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for 
leases of low value assets (e.g. IT- and office equipment) 

	· Used hindsight when determining the lease term

The Group as a lessor
As a lessor, IFRS 16 essentially continues existing principles 
from IAS 17. In line with this, a lessor shall continue to clas-
sify their leases as operating leases or finance leases and 
report these two types of leases separately. The Group is 
not required to make any adjustments on transition to IFRS 
16 for leases in which it acts as a lessor.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers to allocate consideration in the contract to each 
lease and non-lease component.

Impact on financial statements
On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities of USD 29.6 million. 

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were clas-
sified as operating leases, the Group discounted lease 
payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 
2019. The weighted-average rate applied is 4.95%.

 

USD MILLION 1 January 2019

Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 as disclosed under IAS 17 in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements  30.0 

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019  26.0 

Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2018  - 

– Recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets  - 

– Recognition exemption for leases with less than 12 months of lease term at transition  (0.6)

– Extension options reasonably certain to be exercised  - 

+/- Changes in assumptions  (0.9)

– Leases not previously disclosed  5.1 

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019  29.6 
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Amendments to standards and interpretations  
with a future effective date
Standards and interpretations that are issued up to the 
date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements, 
but not effective, are disclosed below.

	· Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in 
IFRS Standards

	· Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)
	· Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)
	· IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

The amended standards and interpretations are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries are legal entities (including special purpose 
entities) over which the Group has control. Control is achieved 
when the Group is exposed or has rights to variable returns 
from its involvement with a company in which it has invested 
and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns from 
this company. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated as of the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
de-consolidated as of the date control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed whenever 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group.

The purchase method of accounting is applied to account 
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of 
an acquisition is measured as fair value of the assets given, 
equity instruments issued, or liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired, and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair value as of 
the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any 
non-controlling interest. 

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the 
statement of income and net assets in the subsidiaries 
not held by the Group, and the amount attributable to the 
non-controlling interest is shown beneath the statement of 
income and is included in equity in the statement of finan-
cial position. Profit and loss and each component of OCI are 
attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group 
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in 
the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

The cost of acquisition exceeding the fair value of the 
Group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired, is recorded 
as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair 
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired; the dif-
ference is recognised directly in the statement of income.

Interests in associated companies and joint arrangements
A joint arrangement is an arrangement over which two 
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the 

contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrange-
ment, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.

Associated companies are those entities in which the 
Group has a significant influence, but not control, or joint 
control over the financial and operating policies, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of 
the voting rights. 

Joint arrangements, which are arrangements of which the 
Group has joint control together with one or more parties, 
are classified into joint ventures and joint operations. 

Joint ventures are joint arrangements in which the parties 
that share control have rights to the net assets of the arrange-
ment. Joint operations are joint arrangements in which the 
parties that share joint control have rights to the assets, and 
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The Group’s investment in associated companies and joint 
ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 

The Group’s investment in associated companies and joint 
ventures includes goodwill and excess values identified as 
per the date of acquisition, net of any accumulated impair-
ment loss. Any excess values that are to be amortised are 
deducted from the profit pursuant to the same principles 
as for consolidated companies. Goodwill is not amortised. 
Dividends received from associates are recognised as a 
deduction from the investment in the balance sheet and 
is regarded as repayment of capital. By this, the balance 
sheet value of associated companies and joint ventures 
represents the original cost price (equalling the fair value 
at the time of purchase) plus profit accumulated up to the 
present, less any amortisation of excess values and accu-
mulated dividends received.

The Group’s share of its associates´ and joint ventures´ 
post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the state-
ment of income, and the share of post-acquisition move-
ments in reserves is recognised as reserves. Unrealised 
gains on transactions between the Group and its associ-
ated companies and joint ventures are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the associates and joint 
ventures. Share of profit of associated companies and joint 
ventures is presented as part of operating profit when 
such investments are considered strategic to the Group. 
See ‘impairment of non-financial assets’ for impairment 
assessment. 

The Group has classified its E&P licences as joint operations 
and recognises investments in the licences by reporting its 
share of related revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
cash flows under the respective items in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. 

Classification of assets and liabilities 
Assets for long-term ownership or use are classified as 
non-current assets. Other assets are classified as current 
assets. Liabilities which fall due more than one year after 
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being incurred are classified as non-current liabilities, 
except for next year’s instalment on long-term debt. This 
is presented as current interest-bearing debt. Liabilities 
which fall due less than one year after they are incurred are 
classified as current liabilities.

Revenues
The Group’s revenues derive from chartering of FPSOs, 
rendering of operational services related to FPSOs and 
from production of crude oil. 

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised 
upon satisfaction of the performance obligations for the 
transfer of services in each such contract. A performance 
obligation is satisfied when or as the customer obtains the 
goods or services delivered. It is recognised at an amount 
that reflects the consideration which the Group expects to 
receive in exchange for those goods or services. Revenues 
are presented net of indirect sales taxes. 

Operational services
Income from the rendering of operational services related 
to FPSOs is recognised as revenue over time in the period 
when the services are rendered. 

Variable consideration 
Some of the contracts contain variable elements like pro-
duction incentive-, KPI- and maintenance bonuses. If the 
consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the 
Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it 
will be entitled. The variable consideration is only recog-
nised when its highly probable that it would not be subject 
to significant reversal in the future. 

Petroleum products
Revenue from the sale of crude oil is recognised when a 
customer obtains control (sales method), normally this is 
when title passes at point of delivery. Revenues from pro-
duction of oil properties are recognised based on actual 
volumes lifted and sold to customers during the period. 
Where the Group has lifted and sold more than the own-
ership interest, an accrual is recognised for the cost of 
the overlift. Where the Group has lifted and sold less than 
the ownership interest, costs are deferred for the under-
lift. Overlift and underlift on the consolidated statement 
of financial position date are valued at production cost. 
Lifting imbalances are a part of the operating cycle and as 
such classified as other current liabilities/assets.

Lease revenue
Chartering of vessels
Revenue from chartering of FPSOs is based on whether the 
contract is considered an operating lease or a finance lease.

Operating lease
Leases, in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are clas-
sified as operating leases. Payments received under oper-
ating leases are recognised as revenue on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit 

derived from the leased asset is diminished. The lease term 
period for each lease contract is the non-cancellable period 
for which the lessee has contracted the asset together with 
an assessment of any further terms that the lessee has the 
option to continue the lease, when management consider it 
reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the option. 
As lease rates can vary over the lease term, this implies that 
there might be significant timing differences between cash 
flow and recognised revenue from a particular lease. 

Finance lease
Leases in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee are classified as finance 
leases. Assets held pursuant to a finance lease are presented 
in the balance sheet as a receivable at an amount equal to the 
net investment in the lease. The recognition of finance income 
on the receivable is based on a pattern reflecting a constant 
periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the 
finance lease. During the construction phase of the asset, the 
contract is treated like a construction contract.
 
Other revenues
Interest income
Interest income, including interest income arising from 
a finance lease, is recognised on a time proportion basis 
applying the effective interest method. Interest income 
arising from a finance lease is classified as part of oper-
ational income while other interest income is classified as 
finance income.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established.

Insurance income
Reimbursement from insurance is recorded as revenue only 
when it is virtually certain that insurance reimbursement 
will be received. Insurance revenues are classified as part 
of operational income.

Profit oil tax
The Group is obligated to pay profit oil tax on the produc-
tion of crude oil. Payment of profit oil tax can either be 
settled in cash or in kind (crude oil). In kind payment of 
profit oil tax is separately lifted by the government for its 
entitled share of crude oil. Profit oil tax settled in kind is 
presented in the consolidated statement of profit and loss 
as income tax expense with a corresponding increase in 
other revenues. 

Royalty
In accordance with the provisions of the Dussafu Profit 
Sharing Contract (‘PSC’), the Group has the obligation 
to make certain royalty payments to the government of 
Gabon with a variable percentage based on gross daily pro-
duction levels. Under the PSC, the Government of Gabon 
may elect to receive payment for royalties either in cash or 
in kind (crude oil). Royalty expense incurred in cash is rec-
ognised in operating expenses in the consolidated state-
ment of income. Royalty settled in kind is presented net 
of revenues. Unpaid royalty expense in cash is accounted 
for in the consolidated statement of financial position as 
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trade and other payables, unpaid royalty expense in kind is 
reflected in the over- underlift position. 

Employee benefits
Defined benefit plans
The Group has both funded and unfunded defined benefit 
pension plans. The funded schemes are funded through 
payments to insurance companies determined by periodic 
actuarial calculations. Unfunded schemes are financed 
through the Group’s operations. 

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined 
contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define an 
amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such 
as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of 
defined benefit pension plans equals the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less 
the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation 
is calculated annually by independent actuaries applying 
the projected unit credit method. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of 
high-quality corporate bonds denominated in the currency 
in which the benefits will be paid and at terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in 
the statement of financial position with a corresponding 
debit or credit to the retained earnings through OCI in the 
period in which they occur. 

Defined contribution plans
In addition to the defined benefit plan described above, 
the Group has contributed to other pension plans. These 
contributions have been made to pension plans for full-
time employees. The pension premiums are charged to 
expenses as they are incurred. The Group has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits relating to employee service in the current and 
prior periods.

Share-based payment
The grant date fair value of equity settled share-based pay-
ment arrangements granted to employees is recognised 
as an employee benefits expense, with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. 
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the number of awards for which the related service and 
non-market performance conditions are expected to be 
met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based 
on the number of awards that meet the related service and 
non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.

Employee-leave entitlement
In some jurisdictions, an accrual is made for the estimated 
liability for unutilised annual leave as a result of services 
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Segments
The Group identifies segments on the basis of those com-
ponents of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the 
chief operating decision maker (‘CODM’). The Group iden-
tified its Top Management as the CODM.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to an acquisition 
or conversion of vessels and development of oil and gas 
field, which take a substantial period to get ready for their 
intended use, are added to the cost of the asset until the 
assets are ready for their intended use. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrow-
ings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets, is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitali-
sation. Borrowing cost consists of interest and other cost, 
which the entity incurs in connection with the borrowing 
of funds.

Taxes
The Company is not subject to any income taxes at 
Bermuda, but the Company and its subsidiaries may be 
subject to income tax in the countries in which they oper-
ate. The Group provides for tax on profit based on the profit 
for financial reporting purposes, adjusted for non-taxable 
revenue and expenses. 

Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently 
payable, changes in deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 
assets, and withholding tax on charter hire and financial 
items. Charter hire and financial items are presented gross 
including withholding taxes payable where applicable.

Deferred tax liabilities/tax assets are calculated on all dif-
ferences between the book value and tax value of assets 
and liabilities, except for:

	· differences linked to goodwill which are not tax deductible
	· differences related to investments in subsidiaries, asso-

ciates or joint ventures when the Group controls when 
the temporary differences are to be reversed and this 
is not expected to take place in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that 
the company will have a sufficient profit for tax purposes in 
subsequent periods to utilise the tax asset. The companies 
recognise previously unrecognised deferred tax assets to 
the extent it has become probable that the company can 
utilise the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the company will 
reduce a deferred tax asset to the extent that the com-
pany no longer regards it as probable that it can utilise the 
deferred tax asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised when 
assets with temporary differences are acquired through 
business combinations.

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are meas-
ured on the basis of the expected future tax rates appli-
cable to the companies in the Group where temporary 
differences exist.
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recog-
nised at their nominal value and classified as non-current 
asset investments (long-term liabilities) in the balance sheet. 

Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognised directly in 
equity to the extent that they relate to equity transactions.

Production sharing contracts (PSCs)
The PSCs provide that the income tax to which the con-
tractor is subject is deemed to have been paid to the gov-
ernment as part of the payment of profit oil as regulated by 
the PSC. The Group present this as an income tax expense 
with a corresponding increase classified as other revenues. 
This accounting presentation have no impact on the state-
ment of comprehensive income. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value. 

Cost of materials and other consumables is determined 
by the weighted average cost method and cost on fuel 
oil is determined by ‘first-in-first-out’ (FIFO) method. The 
cost of inventories comprises the purchase price, import 
duties and other taxes, transport, handling and other costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of finished goods, 
materials and services. 

Crude oil inventory is valued at production cost including 
depreciation. Production cost is the weighted average pro-
duction cost for the period.

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E)
Measurement
PP&E are recognised at cost and subsequently measured 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
charges. This includes costs of material, direct labour and 
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management, includ-
ing financial costs paid during construction, attributable 
overheads and estimate of costs of demobilising the asset. 
PP&E include capital expenditure incurred under terms of 
PSC qualifying for recognition as assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
 
Costs of day-to-day servicing of the asset are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of income as incurred. Costs 
of day-to-day servicing are primarily the costs of labour 
and consumables and may include the cost of small parts.

Depreciation
Depreciation will start when an item of PP&E is ready for 
use as intended by management. 

For FPSOs this will be when the unit is successfully installed 
on the oil field and for crude oil production assets at first oil.

When significant parts of an item of PP&E have different 
useful lives, those components are accounted for as sep-
arate items of PP&E. The different components are depre-
ciated by using a straight-line method over their expected 
useful life, taking into account the residual value. 

The estimated useful lives of the categories of PP&E are 
as follows:

FPSOs:
	· Hull and Marine scope, including associated investments 

like refurbishment: 15-25 years
	· Field specific equipment and associated investment costs 

which are incurred for a specific project, e.g. installation 
costs and transport costs: 3-25 years

	· Process equipment and associated investment. (In case of 
long-term contracts these items can be fully depreciated 
over the contract duration.): 10-25 years

Crude oil production assets are depreciated using the 
unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates are 
based on proved and probable reserves (2P) estimated to 
be recovered from the area during the concession period. 
Oil volumes are considered produced once they have been 
measured onboard the storage tank on the FPSO.

Other PP&Es, like IT equipment, office equipment and  
cars: 3-11 years

The assets’ useful life and residual values are reviewed, and 
if necessary adjusted, at each reporting date. An asset’s 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recov-
erable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is higher than 
its estimated recoverable amount.

Disposal activities
Gains and losses that result from the disposal of vessels, 
vehicles and equipment are recorded in a separate line in 
the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment
Assets including vessels, vessels under construction, con-
version candidates, E&P (assets related to development 
and production of crude oil) assets and other PP&Es, are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount that the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recov-
erable amount, being the higher of an asset’s net selling 
price and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separate identifiable cash flows (cash-gen-
erating units). Each FPSO is identified as a cash-generating 
unit. Each exploration and exploitation licence are consid-
ered a separate cash-generating unit as long as it is con-
nected to the same production facility.

At the end of each reporting period the Group will assess 
whether there is any indication that an impairment rec-
ognised in previous periods may no longer exist or may 
have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Group 
will estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. If the 
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recoverable amount is higher than the carrying amount 
of the asset, the carrying amount of the asset will be 
increased to its recoverable amount. The increase shall not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been deter-
mined if no impairment loss had been recognised in previ-
ous periods. Previously recognised impairments should be 
reversed if there are significant changes with a favourable 
effect in the indicators.

Intangible assets
Computer software
Software licences are capitalised based on the cost 
incurred when acquiring and bringing to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised over the estimated 
useful life of the software. Costs directly associated with 
the development of identifiable and unique software 
products controlled by the Group, estimated to generate 
economic benefits exceeding the cost beyond one year, 
are recognised as intangible assets. Other development 
expenditures are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Exploration and evaluation assets
IFRS 6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’ 
requires exploration and evaluation assets to be classified 
as tangible or intangible according to the nature of the 
assets. The Group uses the ‘successful efforts’-method of 
accounting for exploration and evaluation costs in accord-
ance with IFRS 6. Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
are capitalised when it is considered probable that future 
economic benefits will be generated. Expenditure that fail 
to meet this criterion are generally expensed in the period 
they are incurred.

Licence acquisition costs, exploration costs, geological 
expenses and other directly attributable expenses are clas-
sified as intangible. Exploration assets classified as intangi-
ble are assessed for impairment at regular intervals. 

Once commercial reserves have been discovered, and a 
development plan has been approved, the carrying value 
of the relevant assets are transferred to tangible assets. 
Further expenditure for development of a field, such as 
drilling production wells, installation of platforms and other 
structure is capitalised as tangible assets. 

No amortisation is charged during the development and 
until production commences.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets and groups of non-current assets 
and liabilities are classified as held for sale if their carry-
ing amount will be recovered through a sales transaction 
instead of through continued use. This is only regarded as 
having been fulfilled when a sale is highly probable and 
the non-current asset (or groups of non-current assets 
and liabilities) is available for immediate sale in its present 
form. Management must be committed to a sale and the 
sale must be expected to be carried out within one year 
after the classification date.

Non-current assets and groups of non-current assets and 
liabilities which are classified as held for sale are valued 

at the lower of their former carrying amount or fair value 
minus sales costs.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are derivatives, trade and 
financial lease receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition 
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow char-
acteristics and the Group’s business model for managing 
them. Except for trade receivables that do not contain a sig-
nificant financing component, the Group initially measures a 
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

The Group classifies its financial assets in two categories:

	· Financial assets at amortised cost
	· Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at amortised cost 
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if 
both of the following conditions are met:
	· The financial asset is held within a business model with 

the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows 

	· The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently meas-
ured using the effective interest method and are subject 
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the con-
solidated statement of income when the asset is derecog-
nised, modified or impaired.

The Groups financial assets at amortised cost includes 
trade and other receivables, finance lease and other 
non-current assets. Trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component are measured at the 
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 Revenue from 
contracts with customers.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Derivatives at fair value are carried in the statement of 
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair 
value through profit or loss. The category includes foreign 
exchange contracts and interest rate swaps.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is pri-
marily derecognised when:

	· The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired, or

	· The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
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from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 
party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either

a.	 the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or

b.	 the Group has neither transferred nor retained substan-
tially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has trans-
ferred control of the asset

Impairment of financial assets
For trade and other receivables, finance lease and other 
non-current assets, the Group applies a simplified 
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does 
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a 
loss allowance based on lifetime Estimated Credit Losses 
(ECLs) at each reporting date, based on its historical credit 
loss experience.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when 
internal or external information indicates that the Group 
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts 
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when 
the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering 
the contractual cash flows. The Group individually makes 
an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of 
write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expec-
tation of recovery. This assessment is based on historical 
experience of recoveries of similar assets. The Group 
expects no significant recovery from the amount written 
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply 
with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised 
cost except for financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit of loss (FVTPL). Such liabilities, including derivatives 
that are liabilities, shall be subsequently measured at fair 
value. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in the consolidated statement of income, as 
well as any gain or loss on derecognition.

Derivatives are financial liabilities when the fair value is 
negative, accounted for similarly as derivatives as assets.

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its con-
tractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its 
terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified lia-
bility are substantially different, in which case a new finan-
cial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at 
fair value. The difference between the carrying amount and 
the consideration paid is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of income.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, short-term, 

highly liquid investments readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. Restricted cash 
related to withholding tax from employees is included as 
cash and cash equivalents.

Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in the equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds. Where any Group company purchases 
the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), 
the consideration paid, including any directly attributa-
ble incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted 
from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Any difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reis-
sued, is recognised in other equity. 

Preference shares
Preference shares in subsidiaries are presented as share-
holders equity. For the Group, this is presented as non-con-
trolling interest and the result, equivalent to the preference 
dividend is presented as the non-controlling interests share 
of result regardless of whether dividends have been paid or 
accumulated.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders 
is recognised as a liability in the financial statements in 
the period in which the dividends are approved by the 
Company’s shareholders.

Compound financial instruments
Compound financial instruments issued by the Group com-
prise convertible bonds denominated in USD, that can be 
converted to ordinary shares at the option of the holder, 
when the number of shares to be issued is fixed and does 
not vary with changes in fair value. 

The liability component of compound financial instruments 
is initially recognised at the fair value of a similar liability 
that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity 
component is initially recognised at the difference between 
the fair value of the compound financial instrument and the 
fair value of the liability component. Any directly attrib-
utable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and 
equity components in proportion to their initial carrying 
amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component 
of a compound financial instrument is measured at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest method. The equity 
component of a compound financial instrument is not 
remeasured.

Interest related to the financial liability is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of income. On conversion at matu-
rity, the financial liability is reclassified to equity and no 
gain or loss is recognised.
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Provisions and contingent assets and liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or 
constructive obligation resulting from past events, when 
it is likely that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount 
can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obli-
gation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks spe-
cific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the annual 
accounts. Significant contingent liabilities are disclosed, 
except for contingent liabilities that are unlikely to be incurred.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the annual 
accounts but are disclosed if the probability that the bene-
fit will be added to the Group is more likely than not.

Asset retirement obligations (ARO)
Provisions for ARO are recognised when the Group has a 
legal or constructive obligation to cover expenses associ-
ated with dismantling and removal of assets, and when a 
reliable estimate of this liability can be made. 

The ARO is recognised based on the present value of the 
estimated cash outflows to be incurred to conduct aban-
donment activities, considering relevant risks and uncer-
tainties. The applied discount rate is 6 % (6%), calculated 
based on risk free rate, adjusted for credit risk of the 
Group. The provision is recognised under other non-cur-
rent liabilities in the statement of financial position. The 
corresponding amount is recognised to the related PP&E 
in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
depreciated using the same depreciation method used for 
the asset. 

The ARO will be assessed annually to incorporate the 
annual revisions to the estimated retirement costs, discount 
rate and retirement date estimates. Changes in estimates 
will be recognised as and an adjustment to the provision 
and the corresponding PP&E. 

In the event of decrease in the ARO provision related to a 
producing asset exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, 
the excess is recognised as a reduction of depreciation, 
amortisation and net impairment losses in the consolidated 
statement of income. 

When an asset has reached the end of its useful life, all 
subsequent changes to the ARO provision are recognised 
when they occur in operating expenses in the consolidated 
statement of income. 

Leases
The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retro-
spective approach and therefore the comparative informa-
tion has not been restated and continues to be reported 
under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details of accounting policies 
under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately.

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a con-
tract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract transfers the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract transfers the 
right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group 
uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 
1 January 2019.

The Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement 
approach for all leases except for short-term leases and 
leases of low value. The Group recognises lease liabilities to 
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 
the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease lia-
bility at the commencement date of the lease. This is the 
date the underlying asset is available for use.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost and depreciated 
using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the end of the lease term. Right-of-use assets used 
in BW Offshore’s oil production are depreciated using 
the unit-of-production method. In addition, the right-of-
use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if 
any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease 
liability.

Lease liabilities
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value 
of the lease payments that are not paid at the commence-
ment date. In calculating the present value, The Group uses 
its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not 
readily determinable. After the commencement date, the 
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accre-
tion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise the following:

	· Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
	· Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, 

initially measured using the index or rate as at the com-
mencement date

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate or if the Group changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise an extension or termination option. 
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When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corre-
sponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset or is recorded in the consolidated 
statement of income if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by 
obtaining interest rates from the external bank financing. 

Short-term leases and leases of low value
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemp-
tion to its short-term leases. A short-term lease is a lease 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the com-
mencement date. It also applies the low-value exemption 
to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low 
value. Lease payments for these leases are recognised as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
Group has elected to not separate non-lease components 
and account for the lease and the non-lease components 
as a single lease component.

The Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it assesses whether the 
lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is 
the case, then the lease is a finance lease. If not, then it is 
an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group 
considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is 
for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line 
basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in 
the consolidated statement of income. Contingent rents 
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are 
earned. If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease 
components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the 
consideration in the contract.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019
The Group as a lessee
All contracts where the Group is lessee are operational 
leases. This is mainly related to lease of office premises. 
Lease payments under these contracts are recognised as 
expense in the statement of income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

The Group as a lessor 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risk and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the leased item to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. The evalu-
ation is based on the substance of the transaction rather 
than the form of the contract, and the determination is 
made when the leasing agreement is entered into. 

Most of the lease contracts include one or several options 
for the charterer to purchase the vessel and/or option(s) 
for the charterer to extend the lease period beyond the 
firm period. At the inception of the lease, these options are 
taken into consideration when assessing whether the lease 
is a finance lease or an operational lease. 

Financial lease
Assets held pursuant to a finance lease are presented in 
the balance sheet as a receivable at an amount equal to the 
net investment in the lease. 

Operating lease 
These assets are included in the balance sheet based on 
the nature of the asset. Initial direct costs incurred in nego-
tiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

 

Note 3 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires use 
of estimates and assumptions. The following is a summary 
of the assessments, estimates and assumptions made that 
could have a material effect on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Reserves and resources estimates
Hydrocarbon reserves are estimates of the number of 
hydrocarbons that can be economically and legally 
extracted from the Group’s oil properties. The Group esti-
mates its commercial reserves and resources with support 
from an independent third party. Commercial reserves are 
determined using estimates of oil in place, recovery factors 
and commodity prices. Forecasted oil prices are based on 
available market data. The Group has used oil prices based 
on price deck from an external industry consultant. Future 
development costs are estimated using assumptions as 
to the infrastructure required to produce the commercial 
reserves, whether a platform is needed, number of wells, 

the cost of such wells and other capital costs. The proven 
and probable reserves (2P) are used for calculation of 
depreciation of E&P assets by applying the unit of produc-
tion method. Changes to the reserve estimate might have 
an impact on depreciation and impairment testing.

Asset retirement obligations
Asset retirement costs will be incurred by the Group at the 
end of the operating life of some of the Group’s facilities 
and properties. The Group assesses its retirement obli-
gations at each reporting date. The ultimate asset retire-
ment costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in 
response to many factors, including changes to relevant 
legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration 
techniques or experience at other production sites. The 
expected timing, extent and amount of expenditure can 
also change, for example in response to changes in reserves 
or changes in laws and regulations or their interpretation. 
Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions, including 
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estimated retirement costs, discount rates, and estimated 
retirement dates, are made in determining the provision 
for asset retirement obligations. As a result, there could 
be significant adjustments to the provisions established 
which would affect future financial results. The provision at 
the reporting date represents management’s best estimate 
of the present value of the future asset retirement costs 
required.

Depreciation
The level of depreciation depends on the estimated useful 
life of the different components of the assets and residual 
value at the end of its useful life. The estimated useful life is 
based on experience and knowledge of the vessels owned 
by the Group. Management will have to make assessments 
as to the expected useful life of the hull and marine scope 
as well as the process equipment for a FPSO. Assumptions 
will also have to be made about the expected contract 
period for non-recoverable components for the assets, 
which can deviate significantly from the useful life of hull 
and process equipment. 

Assumptions on residual value are based on knowledge of 
current scrap values which in turn depend on steel prices in 
the world market and demobilisation costs, together with 
an expected inflation. 

Impairment of PP&Es
The Group reviews periodically whether tangible assets, 
FPSO related contracts, FPSOs under construction and 
conversion candidates, have suffered any impairment in 
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2. 
The recoverable amounts of each vessel, being defined as 
a cash-generating unit, is the higher of its fair value less 
cost of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less cost 
of disposal calculation is based on the discounted cash 
flow model and is the same as the value in use. Value in 
use calculations are based on contracted cash flows and 
estimates of uncontracted cash flows for the useful lives 
of each vessel, including residual values discounted by an 
estimated discount rate. Assumptions on uncontracted 
cash flows are based on several variables, such as compar-
ing the specifications on a particular FPSO with planned 
new FPSO projects around the world, assessment of 
investment levels to redeploy the FPSO on a new field and 
assumptions on rates to be achieved from redeployment. 

The key assumptions used for the impairment testing of 
FPSOs are described in Note 14. 

Management must determine whether there are circum-
stances indicating a possible impairment of the Group’s 
E&P assets. The estimation of the recoverable amount 
for the E&P assets includes assessments of expected 
future cash flows and future market conditions, including 
entitlement production, future oil and gas prices, risk fac-
tors, expected reserves and the date of expiration of the 
licences. 

All impairment assessment calculations demand a high 
degree of estimation. Management must make com-
plex assessment of the expected cash flows arising from 
such assets and the selection of discount rates. Changes 
to these estimates could have significant impact on the 
impairments recognised and future changes may lead to 
reversals of recognised impairments.

Income tax
The Group is subject to income taxes payable to various 
jurisdictions worldwide. Significant judgment is required in 
determining the provision for income taxes. 

Presentation of preference shares
In November 2017, BW Catcher Limited, a subsidiary of BW 
Offshore Limited, issued preference shares with a preferen-
tial dividend right to ICBCL, for an aggregate subscription 
price of USD 275,000,000. The Company plans to redeem 
the preference shares in full over an estimated term of 12 
years. The aggregate redemption and dividend payments 
on the preference shares are estimated to reflect approxi-
mately 25-30% of the estimated free cash flow after debt 
servicing in the BW Catcher contract over a similar term. 

If dividend is paid out on the common shares, BW Catcher 
is obligated to pay dividend and redemption on the prefer-
ence shares (dividend pusher). The dividend stopper disal-
lows dividend payments on common equity in BW Catcher 
while any preference share dividend and/or redemption 
amount is outstanding.

As there is no obligation to pay dividend or redeem 
shares under this agreement, this is classified as an equity 
investment.

Note 4 Segment information

The Group’s activities have been construction, ownership and 
operation of FPSOs. From 2017 this has been expanded to 
focus on E&P activities with the acquisition of Dussafu, and 
the investment of Maromba in 2019. The assets and liabilities 
are allocated based on the operations of the segment. 

The Group identifies and reports its segments based on infor-
mation provided to the Top Management and the Board of 
Directors. Resources are allocated and decisions are made 
based on this information. Segment performance is eval-
uated based on operating profit or loss and is measured 
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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2019

USD MILLION FPSO E&P Eliminations Total

Revenues 870.0 241.1 5.0 1,116.1 

Other revenue  - 41.3  (4.4) 36.9 

Revenues inter-segment 77.4  - (77.4)  - 

Total revenues 947.4 282.4 (76.8) 1,153.0 

Share of profit/(loss) from equity accounted investments 0.7  -  - 0.7 

Operating expenses (346.9) (92.6) 29.8 (409.7)

General and administrative expenses (57.6)  -  23.5 (34.1)

EBITDA 543.6 189.8  (23.5) 709.9 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (356.1) (74.6) 18.4 (412.3)

Profit/(loss) on sale of fixed assets (0.3)  0.3  -  - 

EBIT 187.2 115.5 (5.1) 297.6 

Capital expenditure 130.3 142.4  (6.8) 265.9 

Balance sheet information

Equity accounted investments 9.8  -  - 9.8 

Non-current segment assets 2,484.6 547.4 (288.1) 2,743.9 

Non-current assets, not allocated to segments 43.8 

Total non-current assets 2,797.5

2018

USD MILLION FPSO E&P Eliminations Total

Revenues 830.5 28.6 0.7 859.8 

Other revenue  - 10.6  - 10.6 

Revenues inter-segment 31.0  - (31.0)  - 

Total revenues 861.5 39.2 (30.3) 870.4 

Share of profit/(loss) from equity accounted investments 1.4  -  - 1.4 

Operating expenses (348.9) (17.9) 17.6 (349.2)

General and administrative expenses (46.1)  -  12.7 (33.4)

EBITDA 467.9 21.3  - 489.2 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (328.8) (7.9) (2.0) (338.7)

Profit/ (loss) from sale of fixed assets 7.0  -  - 7.0 

EBIT 146.1 13.4 (2.0) 157.5 

Capital expenditure 187.4 207.5  (34.4) 360.5 

Balance sheet information

Equity accounted investments 9.2  -  - 9.2 

Non-current segment assets 2,734.5 227.3 (38.9) 2,922.9 

Non-current assets, not allocated to segments 19.6 

Total non-current assets 2,951.7 
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Revenues by geographical areas

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Americas  240.3 229.9 

Europe/Africa  804.6 521.9 

Asia and the Pacific  108.1 118.6 

Total revenues  1,153.0 870.4 

For the FPSO segment, the classification of revenue per region is determined by the final destination of the FPSO, while the 
classification in the E&P segment is determined by the region where the commodities are produced.

Non-current assets by region

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Americas  635.7 640.2 

Europe/Africa  1,884.0 1,986.2 

Asia and the Pacific  212.5 222.6 

Total non-current assets 1)  2,732.2 2,849.0 

1)	 Excluding deferred tax assets, pension assets, finance lease receivables, derivatives, equity accounted investments and other non-current assets

The Group has a limited number of customers (see also sec-
tion regarding credit risk in Note 22). In accordance with 
IFRS 8.34, the Group has evaluated whether any single cus-
tomers amount to 10% or more of the total revenue. In 2019, 
the Group has identified two such customers. For these, the 
revenue was USD 395.2 million related to the FPSO seg-
ment. In 2018, the Group identified three such customers. 

For these, the revenue was USD 464.7 million related to the 
FPSO segment. The E&P segment consist of two customers. 

USD 282.4 million (39.2 million) of revenues in the Europe/
Africa region is related to the E&P segment. Revenues in the 
other regions are related to the FPSO segment.

Note 5 Revenue

Revenue streams
The Group generates revenue primarily from sale of crude oil, rendering of services on operating FPSOs and chartering of 
FPSOs to its customers. 
 
USD MILLION 2019 2018

Revenue from contracts with customers  555.5  298.7 

Leasing revenue  560.6  561.1 

Other revenue  36.9  10.6 

Total revenue  1,153.0  870.4 

Contract balances
The following table provides information about receivables and contract assets and liabilities.

USD MILLION 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018

Receivables included in trade and other current assets 110.4 94.5

Contract assets included in trade and other current assets 23.9 22.9

Contract liabilities - current 1.9 1.9
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Most of the Groups contracts are a mix of revenues from both 
leasing of FPSOs, as well as service fees for operating FPSOs, 
of which the Group assessed the underlying risk profile to be 
equal. The Group also produces and sells crude oil.

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance con-
sideration received from customers. USD 1.9 million (USD 3.1 
million) recognised in contract liabilities in the beginning of 
the period has been recognised as revenue during 2019. 

Performance obligations and revenue recognition
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified 
in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue 
when it transfers control over goods or services to a cus-
tomer. The Groups performance obligations are (i) to operate 
and lease out FPSOs and (ii) sell crude oil.

The fixed term order backlog to be recognised as revenues 
from contracts with customers over the remaining contract 
period is USD 614.8 million (USD 769 million).

Note 6 Operating, administrative and other expenses

The table below sets out expenses by nature for items included in operating expenses, other expenses and administrative 
expenses.

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Employee benefit expenses crew (Note 8)  214.0  193.8 

Vessel operating expenses  129.3  166.7 

E&P operating expenses  82.7  14.7 

Other expenses  5.8  7.4 

Total operating expenses  431.8  382.6 

Note 7 Earnings per share 

Basic
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net result attributable to the shareholders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. Reference to Note 18 for information of changes in 
ordinary shares from rights issue. 

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Profit/ (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders  82.6  33.5 

Diluted
The calculation of diluted earnings per share has been based on the following profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and weighted‑average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential ordi-
nary shares.

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Profit/ (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders  82.6  33.5 

Interest expense on convertible notes  1.1  - 

Profit/ (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)  83.7  33.5 
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Weighted-average number of ordinary shares
USD THOUSAND 2019 2018

Weighted‑average number of ordinary shares (basic)  184,956  184,956 

Effect of conversion on convertible bonds  3,899  - 

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December  188,855  184,956 

Earnings per share
USD MILLION 2019 2018

Basic earnings/ (loss) per share net  0.45  0.18 

Diluted earnings/ (loss) per share net  0.44  0.18 

Basic and diluted earnings per share excludes treasury shares of 1,513 (1,513) held by the Company.

Note 8 Employee benefit expenses, remuneration to directors and auditors

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Wages, crew  118.8  109.0 

Wages, administrative personnel and E&P  87.6  78.2 

Social security tax  5.5  5.4 

Pension costs (Note 9)  1.1  1.3 

Share-based payment  1.0  0.1 

Total employee benefit expenses  214.0  194.0 

Average number of employees 2,163 2,121
 

Top Management 1) Remuneration 

USD Salary Bonus
Pension 
benefits

Share  
options

Other  
benefits

Number of 
shares

2019  3,527,845  1,209,965  86,961  361,377  80,404  2,960,608 

2018  4,010,445  1,198,246  242,791  -  170,495  2,716,288 

Top Management team was changed with a new CEO, COO and CFO on 1 July 2019.

1)	 Top Management comprises the followings:

	 Full year – Chief Executive Officer (new), Chief Commercial Officer, Chief of E&P and General Counsel

	 First half year – Chief Executive Officer (previous), Chief Financial Officer (previous), Head of Project, Head of Asset Engineering & Maintenance and Head of 
Human Capital.

	 Second half year – Chief Operating Officer (new) and Chief Financial Officer (new)

Loans
Part of Top Management received in 2016 loan in NOK on arm's-length basis. The Group has not provided any loans to affiliates.

USD 2019 2018

Loans to Top Management  56,958  72,349 

Severance
Top Management has agreements that give them the right 

to compensation after termination of employment before 
retirement that equals 100% of the salary for a maximum 
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of 18 months. Compensation received from other employers 
during this period reduces this compensation, but not below 
25% of the compensation. There are no similar agreements 
with the members of the Board of Directors.

Long-term incentive program
The Group has established a long-term incentive program 
for C-suite management (CFO, COO and CCO) as well as 
Head of Projects. This program is intended to reward per-
formance over a three-year period. Pay-out under the long-
term incentive program is based on targets achieved within 
three parameters:

1.	 Company results – 1/3
2.	Project Performance – 1/3
3.	Total shareholder return – 1/3

The assessment of achievement will determine the pay-out. 
The Board of Directors will, discretionary, recognise the 
achievement. Full pay-out is capped at three months' salary. 
The scheme will be on a rolling basis each year, meaning 
maximum obtainable pay-out per year will be equivalent to 
approximately nine months' salary. The total amount due 
under the long-term incentive program will be paid out 
with 50% in cash upon award and 50% granted in restricted 
shares, which vest one year after the award. 2019 is the last 
year of the deferred period.

Board of Directors’ remuneration

USD Directors fee
Number  

of shares
Share  

options

2019  366,868  95,099,605  - 

2018  457,200  92,693,605  - 

The compensation for members of the Board of Directors for the period May 2019 to May 2020 will be decided at the annual 
general meeting in May 2020.

Employee remuneration
Variable compensation scheme 
The Variable Compensation Scheme (VCS) is a system for 
rewarding employees if and when the Group reaches set 
goals, based on financial parameters. The VCS might differ 
from year to year depending on the challenges and goals 
set by the Group, and the financial factors that influence the 
Group’s performance. The VCS for the performance year 
2019 is based on the following parameters:

1.	 Overall company results 
2.	HSEQ performance

The assessment of the Group’s achievement will determine 
the pay out of the VCS. The Board of Directors will, discre-
tionary, recognise the achievement. 

Full pay out is capped at 3 months’ salary for all employees, 
with an exception of a higher cap of 6 months for the Senior 
Management Team. Individual assessment may be added to 
the general pay out. Employees need to be employed at the 
time of VCS payment to be eligible for VCS scheme benefits.

Long-term share option program
On 8 April 2019, the Group established a long-term share 
option program (LTIP) that entitles key personnel to pur-
chase shares in the Company. The program is discretionary, 

and participants are invited on an annual basis. Under the 
program, holders of vested options are entitled to purchase 
shares at the market price of the shares at the grant date.

The number of options awarded under LTIP 2019 is 
1,732,000, where each option will give the holder the right 
to acquire one BW Offshore share. In 2019, a total of 45 BW 
Offshore key employees have been invited to participate in 
the program.

The strike price of the options is calculated based on the 
volume weighted average share price five trading days prior 
to grant date, plus a premium of 15.76% which is corre-
sponding to a 5% increase annually over 3 years. The strike 
price for the options awarded on 8 April 2019 is NOK 54.69.

The options will have a vesting period of three years, fol-
lowed by a three years exercise period. Exercise windows 
will be set by the Company. The options will expire 6 years 
after the award date. The options are non-tradable and 
conditional upon the option holder being employed by the 
Company and not having resigned or being terminated for 
cause prior to the vesting date.

The company’s exposure relating to the 2019 award is 
hedged by a Total Return Swap (TRS) agreement with 
financial exposure to 1,732,000 shares in BW Offshore. 
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Measurement of fair value
The fair value of the employee share options has been measured using the Black-Scholes formula. The inputs used in the 
measurement of the fair value at grant date were as follows:

Fair value at grant date (NOK) 18.53

Share price at grant date (NOK) 49.86

Exercise price (NOK) 54.69

Expected volatility (weighted average) 50 %

Expected life 4 years

Expected dividends n/a

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 1.40 %

Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the Company’s share price particularly over 
the historical period equal to the expected term, adjusted for extreme movements. The expected term of the instruments 
has been based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour.

For details of the related employee benefit expenses, see the employee benefit expenses table. 

Loans to other employees

USD 2019 2018

Loans to other employees  455,661  856,012 

Auditors’ remuneration

USD THOUSAND 2019 2018

Audit  1,456.5  756.3 

Other assurance  49.4  144.6 

Tax  2.3  432.5 

Total fees  1,508.2  1,333.4 

KPMG is the appointed auditor of the Group. The Group changed auditor during 2018 and the 2018 numbers includes fees 
for services rendered from both auditors. Audit fees for 2019 include fees related to audit services provided in light of the 
intended IPO of BW Energy Limited.

Note 9 Retirement benefit assets and obligations

All office employees in Norway, Norwegian seafaring per-
sonnel and parts of office employees in countries other than 
Norway are covered by pension plans, of which one is funded. 
The Group has decided to discontinue the defined benefit 
scheme and has replaced this with a defined contribution 
scheme, with effect from 1 January 2018 for Norwegian 
onshore personnel and with effect from 1 January 2020 for 
Norwegian seafaring personnel.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the plan assets 
and the defined benefit obligations were carried out at 31 
December 2019 by Nordic Insurance Administration.

The Group has also provided for an unfunded obligation for 
its national employees in Indonesia, based on an independ-
ent actuarial report. The actuarial valuations of the defined 
benefit obligations were carried out at 31 December 2019 by 
PT Miliman Indonesia.

The pension assets and obligations are presented under 
assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position, 
depending on whether the plan is over- or underfunded. 
Any change is charged to the statement of income. The 
impact of changed actuarial estimates is charged to other 
comprehensive income. 
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The principal actuarial assumptions considered when calculating the pension obligations and expenses for Norwegians 
were as follows:

2019 2018

Discount rate 1.80 % 2.60 %

Expected return on plan assets 1.80 % 2.60 %

Future salary increases 2.25 % 2.75 %

Future pension increases 1.33 % 1.33 %

Increase in social security base amount related to Norwegian state pension 2.00 % 2.50 %

Social security tax 14.10 % 14.10 %

Actuarial assumptions for demographic factors such as rates for mortality and disability are based on the standard assump-
tions made by the Norwegian Institutes of Actuaries.

Average life expectancy for a person retiring at 67 years of age: 

2019 2018

Male  19.5  19.4 

Female  22.6  22.5 

The reconciliation of fair value of plan assets is as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Fair value of plan assets - beginning of year  9.0  10.0 

Expected return on plan assets  0.2  0.2 

Employer contributions excluding administrative expenses  -  0.3 

Benefits paid - funded plans  (0.2)  (0.4)

Asset gain/ (loss)  (6.1)  (0.7)

Exchange differences  (0.1)  (0.4)

Fair value of plan assets - end of year  2.8  9.0 

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Present value of funded obligations  (2.5)  (9.1)

Fair value of plan assets  2.8  9.0 

Present value of unfunded obligations  (5.4)  (4.5)

Net liability/asset in the statements of financial position  (5.1)  (4.6)

Of which classified as pension obligations  (5.3)  (4.6)

Of which classified as pension assets  0.2  - 

The amounts recognised in the statement of income are determined as follows: 

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Current service cost  1.0  1.1 

Net interest  0.1  0.1 

Administrative cost  -  0.1 

Net periodic pension cost  1.1  1.3 

Best estimate of net pension cost for 2020 amounts to USD 0.9 million (USD 0.9 million). Best estimate of premium pay-
ments in 2020 amounts to USD 0.0 million (USD 0.4 million).
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The movement in the net liability/asset recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

At 1 January  (4.6)  (3.7)

Contributions paid  0.1  0.4 

Pension paid, net of plan asset  -  0.2 

Exchange differences  0.3  0.3 

Re-measurement gain/ (loss) in other comprehensive income  0.2  (0.5)

Charged to statement of income  (1.1)  (1.3)

At 31 December  (5.1)  (4.6)

The pension funds are administered according to certain guidelines set by the authorities. As of 30 September, the funds 
were invested as follows:

2019 2018

Shares and equity instruments 9 % 8 %

Bonds - fixed yield 26 % 26 %

Bonds held to maturity 52 % 52 %

Properties and real estate 10 % 11 %

Money market funds 2 % 3 %

Other 1 % 0 %

Total 100 % 100 %

The actual return on plan assets amounted to 2.9 % at 30 
September 2019.

A 1% decrease in the discount rate could imply an increase in 
present value of funded obligations of approximately 20-25%. 

Expenses related to the defined contribution scheme in 
Norway amounted to USD 1.1 million in 2019 (USD 1.5 million). 

The Group further pays a contribution to a central provident 
fund to Singaporean authorities related to employees with 
Singaporean citizenship. In addition, there pension contribu-
tion plans in all locations where the Group has employees.

Note 10 Income taxes

The income tax expense for the period comprise corporate 
income tax, withholding tax and deferred tax. 

BW Offshore Limited is a company registered in Bermuda. 
Currently, the Company is not required to pay taxes in 
Bermuda on ordinary income or capital gains. 

Depending on the jurisdiction, corporate income tax is due 
on the subsidiary’s actual profits, and withholding tax is lev-
ied on a deemed profit basis or revenue basis (simplified cal-
culation in lieu of profits tax). Deferred tax is calculated on 
temporary differences in jurisdictions where actual profits 
are the basis for taxation. Where the Group’s activities are 

subject to withholding taxes, these are normally deducted 
by the customer who pays the taxes directly to the local tax 
authorities in the name of the Group.

The Group’s operational activities are subject to taxation 
rates which range from 0% to 35%. 

As the Group’s operations are subject to different methods 
of taxation, income tax expenses will not necessarily change 
proportionally with changes in the overall net profit before 
tax. As a consequence of this, a reduction in net profit will 
often lead to a higher effective tax rate, while an increase in 
net profit can lead to a reduction in the effective tax rate. 
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Tax expense for the year

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Deferred tax effect of changes in temporary differences  7.9  (0.5)

Taxes payable current year  28.8  13.6 

Taxes payable prior years  2.6  3.7 

Profit oil tax  36.3  10.6 

Withholding taxes  2.6  12.9 

Total tax expense recognised in statement of income  78.2  40.3 

Effective tax rate

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Net result before tax  184.3  76.8 

Effect on permanent differences  5.5  1.0 

Income tax at Bermuda statutory income tax rate of 0%  -  - 

Withholding taxes  2.6  12.9 

Profit oil tax  36.3  10.6 

Taxes payable current year, non-Bermuda jurisdictions  28.8  13.6 

Taxes payable prior years, non-Bermuda jurisdictions  2.6  3.7 

Deferred tax effect of changes in temporary differences  7.9  (0.5)

Total income tax expense at the effective income tax rate  78.2  40.3 

Effective tax rate 42.4 % 57.7 %

Tax liabilities

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Tax payable at 31 December  13.7  9.4 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income becomes taxable.

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are specified as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Deferred tax assets

Vessels  5.7  3.8 

Losses and unabsorbed capital allowances  5.6  7.5 

Other  1.1  1.2 

Deferred tax assets - gross  12.4  12.5 

Deferred tax liabilities

Unpaid / Unremitted foreign interest income  (3.8)  (1.2)

Other  (6.3)  (0.6)

Deferred tax liabilities - gross  (10.1)  (1.8)

Net recognised deferred tax assets / (deferred tax  liabilities)  2.3  10.7 
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The change from 2018 to 2019 in the net recognised deferred 
tax, was charged to the income statement.

Net recognised deferred tax assets are expected to be 
recovered or settled after more than 12 months.

The Group also has tax losses carried forward in several 
jurisdictions which are not recognised. The losses carried 

forward are USD 583.0 million (USD 726.0 million). These 
losses are not recognised as it is not possible to predict 
with reasonable certainty whether adequate taxable profit 
will be available in the future against which losses can be 
utilised. Of the total amount, USD 27.8 million will expire in 
2020. Some of the tax losses have no expiry date. Note 26 
Contingent assets and liabilities provides information about 
tax audits and uncertainty of tax treatments.

Note 11 Inventories

USD MILLION Fuel oil
Materials and 
consumables Crude oil Total

Cost at 1 January 2019  3.0  48.7  12.1  63.8 

Volumes lifted during the year  -  -  (12.1)  (12.1)

Purchase during the year  -  50.6  -  50.6 

Use during the year  (0.5)  (39.2)  -  (39.7)

Cost at 31 December 2019  2.5  60.1  -  62.6 

Cost at 1 January 2018  3.4  28.4  -  31.8 

Volumes lifted during the year  -  -  12.1  12.1 

Purchase during the year  2.7  47.0  -  49.7 

Use during the year  (3.1)  (26.7)  -  (29.8)

Cost at 31 December 2018  3.0  48.7  12.1  63.8 

Note 12 Trade and other current assets

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Trade receivables – gross  153.5  124.7 

Provision for doubtful debt  (19.3)  (7.3)

Other receivables  56.8  47.1 

Underlift  -  3.9 

Prepayments  44.3  19.4 

Trade and other current assets  235.3  187.8 

The fair value of trade and other current assets is the same as the carrying amount.
 
As of 31 December 2019, trade receivables of USD 15.7 million (USD 15.9 million) were overdue but not impaired. 

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Not past due  118.5  101.5 

Up to 3 months  13.3  14.5 

3 - 6 months  1.1  - 

6 - 12 months  1.3  1.1 

12 - > months  -  0.3 

Trade receivables - net  134.2  117.4 
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The contract for Umuroa was terminated effective 31 
December 2019. Following the termination of the FPSO 
contract and recent developments, the Group assessed 
contractual hire which was due but not paid by the client. 
The assessment identified uncertainties related to payment 
of outstanding overdue hire. The Group has recognised an 
impairment of USD 13 million in 2019.

As of 31 December 2019, the expected credit loss for the 
Group related to other customers is immaterial. As of 31 
December 2018, the expected credit loss for the Group was 
immaterial.

The aging of provision for impairment loss is as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Up to 3 months  -  - 

More than 3 months  19.3  7.3 

Total  19.3  7.3 

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables are mainly denominated in USD.

Movement in allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables are as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Balance at 1 January  7.3  7.0 

Amounts written off  13.0  0.4 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance  (1.0)  (0.1)

Balance at 31 December 19.3  7.3 

Expected credit loss for other classes within trade and other receivables are immaterial. 

Credit risk and foreign exchange risk regarding trade receivables are described in Note 22.

Note 13 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated primarily in USD, SGD, BRL, EUR, GBP, NGN and NOK. Restricted bank deposits 
at 31 December 2019 amounted to USD 5.9 million (USD 1.0 million). This relate to taxes withheld from employees, the Total 
Return Swap related to the long-term share option program (note 8) and cash security provided in relation to a customs 
comprehensive guarantee towards HMRC. 

Note 14 FPSOs and vessels under construction

The owned fleet at 31 December 2019 included the following 
vessels: Abo FPSO, Berge Helene, BW Adolo, BW Athena, 
BW Catcher, BW Cidade de São Vicente, BW Joko Tole, BW 
Pioneer, BW Opportunity (formerly known as FPSO Cidade 
de São Mateus), Espoir Ivoirien, Petróleo Nautipa, FPSO 
Polvo, Sendje Berge, Umuroa and Yùum K’ak’ Náab. 

Vessels available for projects include vessels that are cur-
rently not in operation. BW Athena has been in lay-up since 
2016 and are currently marketed for new projects. Berge 
Helene was disconnected and demobilised in 2018 and is 
now being prepared for redeployment to Maromba field in 
Brazil. The contract on Umuroa was terminated with effect 
from 31 December 2019. The vessel will be demobilised early 
2020, accordingly, a USD 17 million liability was recognised 

and capitalised as part of “Vessels available for projects”. 
Management previously did not recognize a liability for 
decommissioning considering these costs would be carried 
by the lessee. This situation changed due to termination of 
the contract.

Belokamenka was sold for recycling in December 2018.

BW Opportunity is in lay-up. The Group has started the 
repair of the vessel and continues the dialogue with the cli-
ent regarding a plan for the FPSO and the field. This vessel is 
included in “Vessels in operation” in the table below. 

Yùum K’ak’ Náab (reference to Note 24) is accounted for as 
a finance lease and is not included in the table below. 
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2019

USD MILLION
Vessels in 
operation

Vessels 
available for 

projects Total

Cost at 1 January 2019  4,762.9  549.7  5,312.6 

Additions  102.4  11.2  113.6 

Reclassification  (181.6)  181.6  - 

Cost at 31 December 2019  4,683.7  742.5  5,426.2 

 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment charge at 1 January 2019  (2,287.5)  (410.5)  (2,698.0)

Current year depreciation  (334.4)  (16.7)  (351.1)

Reclassification  132.3  (132.3)  - 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment charge at 31 December 2019  (2,489.6)  (559.5)  (3,049.1)

Book Value at 31 December 2019  2,194.1  183.0  2,377.1 

Useful life Up to 25 years

2018

USD MILLION
Vessels in 
operation

Vessels 
available for 

projects Total

Cost at 1 January 2018  4,618.4  571.4  5,189.8 

Additions  144.5  2.5  147.0 

Disposal  -  (24.2)  (24.2)

Cost at 31 December 2018  4,762.9  549.7  5,312.6 

 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment charge at 1 January 2018  (1,983.9)  (397.5)  (2,381.4)

Current year depreciation  (303.6)  (23.7)  (327.3)

Disposal  -  10.7  10.7 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment charge at 31 December 2018  (2,287.5)  (410.5)  (2,698.0)

Book Value at 31 December 2018  2,475.4  139.2  2,614.6 

Useful life Up to 25 years

Capitalised interest cost for vessels under construction  1.6 

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was on average 
approximately 5% in 2018. 

The Group has performed an impairment trigger assess-
ment and two vessels were identified related to one vessel 
operating in Brazil and one vessel operating in the Gulf of 
Mexico as both vessels are close to its contract expiry date 
and uncertainty exists around the future deployment of the 
vessel. The Group has performed an impairment assessment 
of these two vessels for 2019. The impairment testing did not 
identify any required impairments or reversals of impairment. 

Each vessel is regarded as a cash-generating unit for impair-
ment testing. The recoverable amount is based on a value-in-
use calculation for each of the vessels in the fleet. To estimate 
the recoverable amount, the Group has to make assumptions on 
contracted cash flows as well as uncontracted cash flows over 
the useful life for each vessel. Uncontracted cash flows have 

been estimated based on experience, expectations on future 
market conditions and return on invested capital. The assump-
tions made are built into different scenarios with different cash 
flows for each unit. The Group expects an improved market as 
a result of recovery in the oil price where it is expected that it 
will be possible to extend contracts for certain units already 
in operation as well as more likely to achieve redeployment of 
units that are currently idle. Each of the scenarios are weighted 
to provide for a recoverable amount for each unit that is a 
weighted average of all scenarios. Scenarios will also include a 
weighted probability that a unit cannot be redeployed beyond 
current contract and will have to be recycled. 

Cash flows were discounted at a rate of 8.0% (8.0%) on 
a pre-tax basis. The discount rate is based on Weighted 
Average Cost of Capital (WACC) for the Group. The follow-
ing assumptions have been made for the WACC:

	· The equity risk premium is based on empirical data of 
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similar listed companies and is in consensus with the mar-
ket risk premium observed from the study performed by 
the Norwegian Society of Financial Analysts. The Group 
has also included a small cap premium in setting the over-
all equity risk premium

	· The equity ratio is based on long-term assumptions on 
the Group’s financial strategy and capital structure, as 
well as peer group balance sheet data for listed oil service 
companies

	· 	For the risk-free rate, the Group is using the US 10-year 
treasury yields as the basis for calculations, based on a 
weighted average contract length of the FPSO fleet

	· 	The debt margin used is based on an assessment of the 
cost of providing long-term funding given the current 
market outlook and current company risk profile and con-
tract structure

	· 	For estimating beta, the Group have employed various 
regression models and peer averages to reach a metric of 
future equity risk for the FPSO segment and BW Offshore

	· 	Due to the structure of the Group’s operations, there 
is very little effect on the WACC when adding debt, as 
most of the Group’s taxes are based on withholding tax 
deducted at source. The Group has therefore assumed 
that effect from tax in calculating WACC is zero

The critical assumptions for impairment are the discount 
rate, assumptions used for cash flows and weight given to 
each of the scenarios. The recoverable amount for each ves-
sel would be sensitive to changes for any of the above-men-
tioned assumptions. 

An increase of the WACC for the Group by 1% would require 
an impairment of USD 10.5 million.

The Group make assumptions on redeployment of vessels 
after contemplated end of current contract. An additional 
one-year before redeployment of vessels in the weighted 
scenarios would lead to a USD 5 million impairment. 

A further rate reduction of 10% from the weighted scenario 
on the same vessels would require an additional impairment 
of USD 17 million.

The Group has performed an impairment assessment of the 
fleet for 2018. The impairment testing did not identify any 
required impairments or reversals of impairment. 

Note 15 E&P tangible assets, property and other equipment

2019

USD MILLION

E&P assets 
under 

development

E&P  
production 

assets 

Property 
and other 

equipment Total

Cost at 1 January 2019  5.2  190.5  31.4  227.1 

Additions 1)  81.4  (7.6)  4.3  78.1 

Exchange differences  -  -  (0.1)  (0.1)

Reclassification from intangible assets  1.6  -  -  1.6 

Disposals  -  -  (0.2)  (0.2)

Reclassification to assets held for sale  -  0.8  -  0.8 

Cost at 31 December 2019  88.2  183.7  35.4  307.3 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2019  -  (12.3)  (18.1)  (30.4)

Current year depreciation  -  (43.5)  (1.4)  (44.9)

Exchange differences  -  -  0.1  0.1 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2019  -  (55.8)  (19.4)  (75.2)

Book value at 31 December 2019  88.2  127.9  16.0  232.1 

Useful life UoP 2) 0-25 years

1)	 Asset Retirement Cost has been reduced due to extended field life estimate

2)	UoP = Unit-of-Production. Revenue from oil production is recognised based on barrels sold while the E&P production assets are depreciated using the unit-of-
production method. Since the assets are used in the production process, the variance is considered to be a part of the crude oil inventory and crude oil underlift 
value. Depreciation of USD 3.6 million at 31 December 2018 was included in inventory and depreciation of USD 1.1 million at 31 December 2018 was included in other 
current asset in the in the Statements of financial position. There are no depreciation included in inventory and other current asset at 31 December 2019.
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E&P assets under development are not depreciated. 

The negotiations related to the farm-in of a 10% stake by 
Gabon Oil Company (GOC) in the Dussafu licence was com-
pleted in March 2019, reducing the Group’s stake to 81.67%.

Reference to note 26 for further information on Tullow 
back-in right. Following the Tullow 10% back-in right, the 
Group’s ownership of the Dussafu license was reduced to 
73.5%.

Assets held for sale at 31 December 2018, included both 
GOC farm-in right and Tullow back-in right in the Dussafu 
licence. Pan-Petroleum Gabon B.V. holds 7.5% (8.33 %) of 
the licence.

The Group has performed an impairment trigger assess-
ment on E&P assets and concluded that no impairment 
triggers exist. Each exploration and exploitation licence are 
considered a separate cash-generating unit for the purpose 
of the impairment trigger assessment and, if applicable, 
impairment testing. 

2018

USD MILLION

E&P assets 
under 

development

E&P  
production 

assets 

Property 
and other 

equipment Total

Cost at 1 January 2018  63.3  -  27.5  90.8 

Additions  170.7  4.9  4.8  180.4 

Exchange differences  -  -  (0.2)  (0.2)

Reclassifications  (228.8)  228.8  -  - 

Disposals  -  -  (0.7)  (0.7)

Reclassification to assets held for sale  -  (43.2)  -  (43.2)

Cost at 31 December 2018  5.2  190.5  31.4  227.1 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2018  -  -  (17.4)  (17.4)

Current year depreciation  -  (12.3)  (1.5)  (13.8)

Disposals  -  -  0.6  0.6 

Exchange differences  -  -  0.2  0.2 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2018  -  (12.3)  (18.1)  (30.4)

Book value at 31 December 2018  5.2  178.2  13.3  196.7 

Useful life UoP 1) 0-25 years

1)	 UoP = Unit-of-Production. Revenue from oil production is recognised based on barrels sold while the E&P production assets are depreciated using the unit-of-
production method. Since the assets are used in the production process, the variance is considered to be a part of the crude oil inventory and crude oil underlift 
value. Depreciation of USD 3.6 million at 31 December 2018 was included in inventory and depreciation of USD 1.1 million at 31 December 2018 was included in other 
current asset in the in the Statements of financial position. There are no depreciation included in inventory and other current asset at 31 December 2019.

The Dussafu licence expires in 10 years from commencement of production. At the end of this term, the Group can file for 
additional two 5-year extensions.
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Note 16 Intangible assets

USD MILLION Software

E&P 
intangible 

assets

 Total  
intangible 

assets

Cost

At 1 January 2019  16.6  35.8  52.4 

Additions  3.6  68.4  72.0 

Reclassification to tangible assets -  (1.6)  (1.6)

Reclassification to assets held for sale  -  (5.2)  (5.2)

Carrying amount, 31 December 2019  20.2  97.4  117.6 

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2019  (14.5)  (0.2)  (14.7)

Amortisation and impairment  (1.2)  (0.6)  (1.8)

At 31 December 2019  (15.7)  (0.8)  (16.5)

Net book value

At 31 December 2019  4.5  96.6  101.1 

Useful life 1 - 3 years

Amortisation method linear

 

USD MILLION Software

E&P 
intangible 

assets

 Total  
intangible 

assets

Cost

At 1 January 2018  15.4  3.9  19.3 

Additions  1.2  31.9  33.1 

Carrying amount, 31 December 2018  16.6  35.8  52.4 

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2018  (12.6)  -  (12.6)

Amortisation and impairment  (1.9)  (0.2)  (2.1)

At 31 December 2018  (14.5)  (0.2)  (14.7)

Net book value

At 31 December 2018  2.1  35.6  37.7 

Useful life 1 - 3 years

Amortisation method linear

Reference to note 15 for further information of assets held 
for sale.

In 2019, the Group started further exploration and evaluation 
of the Ruche area of Dussafu. Drilling operations at Hibiscus 
proved a significant oil reservoir in the structure and the 
Group has revised the Ruche development plan including 
the Hibiscus discovery which will accelerate production 
growth from Ruche phase 1.

In March 2019, the Group entered into agreements to 
acquire 100% of the Maromba licence in Brazil field offshore 

Brazil from Petrobras (70%) and Chevron (30%). In August 
2019, The Brazilian National Agency of Petroleum, Natural 
Gas and Biofuels (ANP) has granted the Group status as 
operator in Brazil and approved the transfer of Chevron 
and Petrobras’ participating interest in the Maromba field 
to the Group. The closing of the transaction with Chevron 
and Petrobras is subject to certain condition precedents. 
The approval as operator satisfies the main condition prec-
edent for the closing of the Maromba field acquisition and 
triggered the first milestone payment of USD 30 million to 
Chevron and Petrobras. The total acquisition price for the 
Maromba field is USD 115 million, which will be paid over 
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three milestones as the development progresses towards 
first oil. The second milestone is due at start of drilling activ-
ities and the third milestone is due at fist oil or 3 years after 
the start of drilling activities, whichever comes first. Under 
the current Maromba licence terms, the production licence 
expires in 2033 (27 years starting from 26 December 2006). 

Subsequent to the agreements, the Group signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with Magma Oil 
& Gas Ltda ("Magma") granting an option to Magma for the 
acquisition of 5% of the Group's participating interest in the 
Maromba Field upon occurrence of the first oil. 

The Group also holds a 56% stake of the Kudu production 
licence, PL-003, offshore Namibia. National Petroleum 
Corporation of Namibia (NAMCOR), the Namibian state-
owned oil company, holds the remaining 44% of the licence. 
The licence expires in November 2036.
E&P intangible assets that are under the exploration and 
evaluation phase and are not amortised except for the 
Intellectual Property agreement described in Note 27, are 
amortised over 12 years.

Note 17 Equity-accounted investments 

Associates  
 
2019

USD MILLION

Entity OCS Services Limited Euro Techniques Industries

Country British Virgin Islands France

Industry Manning Office Technology Total

Carrying amount 1 January 2019  7.2  1.7  8.9 

Dividend  -  (0.1)  (0.1)

Share of net profit  0.2  0.5  0.7 

Carrying amount 31 December 2019  7.4  2.1  9.5 

2018

USD MILLION

Entity OCS Services Limited Euro Techniques Industries

Country British Virgin Islands France

Industry Manning Office Technology Total

Carrying amount 1 January 2018  6.0  1.6  7.6 

Dividend  -  (0.1)  (0.1)

Share of net profit  1.2  0.2  1.4 

Carrying amount 31 December 2018  7.2  1.7  8.9 

OCS
The Group does not have joint control over this investment. 
The partner is in charge of the daily operation of the com-
pany while the Group act as an investment partner. The 
Group does not have power over more than half of the 
voting rights in OCS. Further, the Group does not have the 

power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the Board 
of Directors or equivalent governing body. As the Group is 
only acting as an investment partner, OCS is considered an 
associate. The Group’s interest in OCS is accounted for using 
the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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Note 18 Share capital

Share capital 

Authorised share capital:

At 1 January 2019: 214,000,000 ordinary shares at par value USD 0.50 each

At 31 December 2019: 214,000,000 ordinary shares at par value USD 0.50 each

USD THOUSAND

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2019 92,478.2 

At 31 December 2019 92,478.2 

The Company held a total of 1,513 own shares at 31 December 
2019 (1,513). These shares are held as “treasury shares”. 
Book value of the treasury shares was USD 0.3 million at 31 
December 2019 (USD 0.3 million).

Reference to “Shareholder information” section for informa-
tion of the 20 largest shareholders at 31 December 2019.

ICBCL Agreement
In November 2017, the Group closed an agreement with a 
nominee of the financial leasing firm, ICBC Financial Leasing 
Co., Ltd. (ICBCL), whereby such nominee becomes an 
equity partner in BW Catcher Limited. BW Catcher Limited 
has issued preference shares with a preferential dividend 

right to ICBCL, for an aggregate subscription price of USD 
275,000,000. The company plans to redeem the preference 
shares in full over an estimated term of 12 years. The aggre-
gate redemption and dividend payments on the preference 
shares are estimated to reflect approximately 25-30% of the 
estimated free cash flow after debt servicing in the Catcher 
contract over a similar term. The net proceeds from the 
issue of the preference shares will be used for general cor-
porate purposes. The investment by ICBCL is presented as 
a non-controlling interest in the statement of financial posi-
tion of BW Offshore. USD 11.0 million (USD 11.9 million) has 
been paid in dividend during 2019 and the redemption for 
2019 amounts to USD 22.9 million (USD 22.9 million).

Note 19 Loans and borrowings

USD MILLION Effective interest rate Maturity date

 Carrying 
amount 

2019

 Carrying 
amount 

2018

USD 672.5 million Corporate Facility 3 month LIBOR + 2.25% 16-May-24  180.2  - 

Convertible bonds 2.50% 12-Nov-24  245.2  - 

USD 2,400 million facility 3 month LIBOR + 2.25% 09-Mar-20  -  199.7 

Catcher facility 3 month LIBOR + 2.25% 15-Jul-24  483.0  595.8 

Petróleo Nautipa facility 3 month LIBOR + 1.70% 14-Sep-22  15.9  27.5 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 15-Mar-20  -  41.7 

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 21-Sep-20  -  57.8 

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 11-Mar-21  -  86.6 

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.25% 16-Mar-22  -  103.7 

BWO05 – NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 04-Dec-23  101.4  - 

Total long-term debt  1,025.7  1,112.8 
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USD MILLION Effective interest rate Maturity date

 Carrying 
amount 

2019

 Carrying 
amount 

2018

USD 672.5 million Corporate Facility 3 month LIBOR + 2.25% 16-May-24  (2.3)  - 

Convertible bonds 2.50% 12-Nov-24  (0.6)  - 

USD 2,400 million facility 3 month LIBOR + 2.25% 09-Mar-20  -  137.5 

Catcher facility 3 month LIBOR + 2.25% 15-Jul-24  112.8  112.5 

Petróleo Nautipa facility 3 month LIBOR + 1.70% 14-Sep-22  11.6  11.6 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 15-Mar-20  27.1  (0.1)

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 21-Sep-20  10.4  (0.1)

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 11-Mar-21  37.5  (0.2)

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.25% 16-Mar-22  25.0  (0.3)

BWO05 – NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 04-Dec-23  (0.4)  - 

Total short-term debt  221.1  260.9 

Total interest-bearing debt  1,246.8  1,373.7 

The Group is in compliance with all covenants at 31 
December 2019. Covenants are calculated and reported on 
consolidated financials.

USD 672.5 million Corporate Facility
During the second quarter of 2019, the Group refinanced 
the previous USD 2,400 million facility into a five-year sen-
ior secured USD 672.5 million revolving credit facility. The 
facility is priced at a margin of 225 basis points above USD 
LIBOR and if utilisation exceeds 50%, the margin increases 
by another 25 basis points. The facility is reduced semi-an-
nually with USD 52.5 million. The Group had USD 375.0 
million undrawn under the revolving credit facility at 31 
December 2019.

The new USD 672.5 million Corporate Facility is subject to 
certain covenants, including minimum book equity of at least 
25% of total assets, debt to EBITDA of maximum 5.5, min-
imum USD 75 million available liquidity including undrawn 
amounts and interest coverage ratio of minimum 3.0.

Catcher USD 800 million facility
During the third quarter of 2014, the Group entered into a 
USD 800 million senior secured pre-and post-delivery term 
loan facility being a project specific bank financing in rela-
tion to construction of an FPSO to operate on the Catcher 
oil field in the UK North Sea. The facility has a margin of 225 
basis points above USD LIBOR and is subject to financial 
covenants similar to the covenants under the USD 672.5 mil-
lion Corporate Facility.

Petróleo Nautipa USD 80 million facility
During the first quarter of 2015, the Group entered into a 
USD 80 million senior secured loan facility in respect of the 
FPSO Petróleo Nautipa. The loan has a tenor of 7.5 years 
and will be used for general corporate purposes. The facility 
is subject to financial covenants similar to the covenants 
under the USD 672.5 million Corporate Facility. 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond
During the first quarter of 2012, BW Offshore Limited suc-
cessfully completed the placement of a NOK 500 million 
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 15 March 2017. 

The maturity was extended to 15 March 2020 with NOK 140 
million partial redemption on 15 March 2017 as part of the 
amendment exercise. The proceeds from the Bond loan can 
be used for general corporate purposes. As per 31 December 
2019 NOK 237.6 million was outstanding. Upon placement of 
BW005 and the convertible bond, the remaining balance is 
repaid mid-January 2020 upon expiry of the 60 days Call 
Notice period.

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond
During the first quarter of 2013, BW Offshore Limited suc-
cessfully completed the placement of a NOK 500 million 
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 21 March 2018. 
The maturity was extended to 21 September 2020 with NOK 
100 million partial redemption on 23 March 2020. The pro-
ceeds from the Bond loan can be used for general corporate 
purposes. As per 31 December 2019 NOK 91.5 million was 
outstanding. Upon placement of BW005 and the converti-
ble bond, the remaining balance is repaid mid-January 2020 
upon expiry of the 60 days Call Notice period.

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond
During the first quarter of 2014, BW Offshore Limited suc-
cessfully completed the placement of a NOK 750 million 
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 11 March 2019. 
The maturity was extended to 11 March 2021 with NOK 150 
million partial redemption on 11 September 2020. The pro-
ceeds from the Bond loan can be used for general corporate 
purposes. As per 31 December 2019 NOK 329 million was 
outstanding. Upon placement of BW005 and the converti-
ble bond, the remaining balance is repaid mid-January 2020 
upon expiry of the 60 days Call Notice period.

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond
During the second quarter of 2015, BW Offshore Limited 
successfully completed the placement of a NOK 900 mil-
lion senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 16 June 
2020. The maturity was extended to 16 March 2022 with 
NOK 90 million partial redemption on 16 March 2021 and 
NOK 180 million partial redemption on 16 December 2021. 
The proceeds from the Bond loan can be used for general 
corporate purposes. As per 31 December 2019 NOK 220 mil-
lion was outstanding. Upon placement of BW005 and the 
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convertible bond, the remaining balance is repaid mid-Jan-
uary 2020 upon expiry of the 60 days Call Notice period.

BWO05 – NOK 900 million Bond
During the fourth quarter 2019, BW Offshore Limited suc-
cessfully completed the placement of a NOK 900 million 
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 4 December 
2023. The proceeds from the Bond loan was used to partly 
repay existing bond loans. The bond loan is subject to cer-
tain covenants, including minimum book equity of at least 
25% of total assets and minimum USD 75 million available 
liquidity including undrawn amounts available for utilisation 
by the Group. 

Convertible bonds
During the fourth quarter 2019, BW Offshore Limited issued 
a USD 297.4 million convertible bond with a five-year tenor 
and coupon of 2.50% per annum, payable semi-annually in 
arrears. The convertible bond has no regular repayments 
and matures in full on 12 November 2024. There are no 
financial covenants in the convertible bond agreement. The 
proceeds from the convertible bond loan is used to refi-
nance the existing bond loans and general corporate pur-
poses. The initial conversion price of USD 10.24 corresponds 
to a conversion premium of 37.5% over the volume weighted 
average price of the shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange at 5 
November 2019 (converted at the prevailing USD:NOK spot 
rate equal to NOK 9.1921 / USD 1.00).

USD MILLION

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds  297.4 

Transaction costs  (3.8)

Net proceeds  293.6 

Amount classified as equity (net of transaction costs of USD 0.7 million)  (50.1)

Accreted interest  1.1 

Carrying amount of liability at 31 December 2019  244.6 

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities and equity to cash flows arising from financing activities 

2019 Liabilities Equity

USD MILLION
Interest 
payable

Other 
liabilities

Interest-
bearing  

short-term 
debt

Interest-
bearing  

long-term 
debt

Share  
capital/ 

premium
Other  
equity

Non-
controlling 

interests Total

Balance at 1 January 2019  260.9  1,112.8  1,188.0  (192.4)  325.3 

Proceeds from loans and borrowings  -  -  -  1,001.2  -  -  -  1,001.2 

Repayment of borrowings  -  -  (138.9)  (997.6)  -  -  -  (1,136.5)

Transferred to/from non-controlling 
interests  -  (5.0)  -  -  -  -  (32.6)  (37.6)

Payment of lease liabilities  (10.3)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (10.3)

Interest paid  (78.2)  -  (3.6)  (10.5)  -  -  -  (92.3)

Total changes from financing cash flows  (88.5)  (5.0)  (142.5)  (6.9)  -  -  (32.6)  (275.5)

Effects of changes in foreign exchange rate 
and interest rate swaps  (5.8)  70.8  -  -  -  65.0 

Liability-related:

Expensed capitalised borrowing costs  2.6  3.9  -  -  -  6.5 

Accreted interest  -  1.1  -  -  -  1.1 

Non-cash movements  105.9  (105.9)  -  -  -  - 

Total liability-related other changes  108.5  (100.9)  -  -  -  7.6 

Total equity-related other changes  -  (50.1)  -  124.0  46.2  120.1 

Balance at 31 December 2019  221.1  1,025.7  1,188.0  (68.4)  338.9 
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2018 Liabilities Equity

USD MILLION
Interest 
payable

Other 
liabilities

Interest-
bearing  

short-term 
debt

Interest-
bearing  

long-term 
debt

Share  
capital/ 

premium
Other  
equity

Non-
controlling 

interests Total

Balance at 1 January 2018  222.8  1,198.0  1,188.0  (216.5)  287.9  

Proceeds from loans and borrowings  -  -  -  241.0  -  -  -  241.0 

Repayment of borrowings  -  -  (38.3)  (240.0)  -  -  -  (278.3)

Transferred to/from non-controlling interests  -  7.1  -  -  -  -  24.0  31.1 

Interest paid  (78.3)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (78.3)

Total changes from financing cash flows  (78.3)  7.1  (38.3)  1.0  -  -  24.0  (84.5)

Effects of changes in foreign exchange rate  (0.1)  (15.2)  -  -  -  (15.3)

Liability-related:

Expensed capitalised borrowing costs  1.6  3.9  -  -  -  5.5 

Non-cash movements  74.9  (74.9)  -  -  -  - 

Total liability-related other changes  76.5  (71.0)  -  -  -  5.5 

Total equity-related other changes  -  -  -  24.1  13.4  37.5 

Balance at 31 December 2018  260.9  1,112.8  1,188.0  (192.4)  325.3  

Note 20 Trade, other payables and other non-current liabilities

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Trade payables  49.3  33.0 

Accrued vessel expenses  40.0  44.4 

Accrued other expenses 138.5  109.5 

Public duties payables  11.8  11.5 

Deferred revenues 84.1  123.7 

Total trade and other payables  323.7  322.1 

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Deferred revenues  212.1 244.2

Long-term deposit  5.7  5.7 

Other long-term liabilities  0.8  0.8 

Total other non-current liabilities  218.6  250.7 

Deferred revenues primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers for which revenue is recognised 
over time, mainly over the remaining contract period.
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Note 21 Provisions 

The Group has made a provision for asset retirement obli-
gations (ARO) related to future demobilisation of FPSOs 
operating for the Group, removal and decommissioning 
umbilicals and other production assets, plugging and aban-
donment of production or exploration wells and removal 
of other subsurface equipment and facilities in Gabon. The 

amount recognised is the present value of the estimated 
future expenditures determined in accordance with local 
conditions and requirements. The applied discount rate is 6 
% (6%), calculated based on risk free rate, adjusted for credit 
risk of the Group.

USD MILLION Asset retirement obligations

Provision during 2018  16.0 

Accretion expense 2018  0.2 

Provision at 31 December 2018  16.2 

Change in estimate during 2019  (7.6)

Accretion expense 2019  0.3 

Provision at 31 December 2019  8.9 

Note 22 Financial instruments – fair values and risk management 

The Group’s central finance division has the responsibil-
ity for financing, treasury management and financial risk 
management.

Financial risk factors
Activities expose the Group to a variety of financial risks: 
market risk (including currency risk, and commodity price 
risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. A finance management team led by the Chief 
Financial Officer identifies and evaluates financial risks in 
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The 
finance management team’s activities are governed by 
policies approved by the Board of Directors for overall risk 
management, as well as policies covering specific areas 
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
and investing excess liquidity. The finance management 
team will report to the Group’s Top Management, the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors on the status on 
activities on a regular basis. 

The Group does not use financial instruments, including 
financial derivatives, for trading purposes.

Market risk
BW Offshore expects the global balance of crude oil supply 
and demand outlook to remain challenging for producers. 
Supply is dominated by growth in US shale in the short term 
and this is increasing pressure on OPEC to prolong produc-
tion cuts to stabilise the market. Demand growth estimates 
are being revised downwards as global turmoil is increasing, 
led by the deterioration in trade relations between US and 
China.

Recent years have seen cash flow from offshore field devel-
opments improving. Focus on cutting cost and increasing 
efficiency as well as focus on phasing has reduced time to 
first oil and payback for these developments. As free cash 
flow from offshore field developments are improving it is 
expected that this segment will see growth with an increas-
ing number of projects being sanctioned going forward. 
This development with shorter cycle investments and more 
phasing is considered to be reflected in increased demand 
for leased FPSOs.

Through the investment in Dussafu an integrated asset and 
field development strategy has been deployed. Focus is on a 
phased low risk approach, with short term from final invest-
ment decision (‘FID’) to first oil, short term to payback and 
a low break even. As BW Offshore is intended to separately 
list BW Energy Limited (‘BW Energy’), the integrated asset 
and field development strategy will continue. The majority 
of BW Offshore’s fleet remains on long-term contracts with 
national and independent oil companies. These contracts 
will continue to generate significant cash flow in the time 
ahead. However, as contracts are coming to an end, BW 
Offshore is well positioned to continue to generate cash 
flow from the fleet through redeployments proactively ena-
bled through BW Energy as well as through new contracts 
with clients of BW Offshore.

BW Offshore generates such cash flows that it enables a 
reduced leverage, good liquidity and a strong financial 
position.

Credit risk
Most of the Group’s customer contracts are long-term. The 
Group assesses the credit quality of the customers on a 
regular basis, considering its financial position, experience 
and other factors. There are no guarantees that the financial 
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position of the Group’s major customers will not materially 
change during the contracted period, as it happens from 
time to time that customers decides to sell the production 
licence, which exposes the Group to a new customer on 
an existing lease contract. The Group will normally have 
contractual clauses to prevent a customer to novate the 
lease contract without consent. Given the limited number 
of major customers of the Group and the significant portion 
these represent to the Group’s revenue, the inability of one 
or more of them to make full payment on any of the Group’s 
contracted units may have a significant adverse impact on 
the financial position.

As most of the Group’s portfolio is with historically solid coun-
terparties, where a significant number are also rated by inter-
national credit rating agencies, the Group believes that the 
credit risk related to counterparties is at a manageable level. 

Another risk factor to be addressed is whether negative res-
ervoir development may affect the oil company’s ability to 
fulfil its obligations within the fixed contract. The probability 
for options to be exercised and extension of contracts to 
be entered into will be negatively affected by a reduction 
in actual reservoir reserves. It is common for customers, 
i.e. the oil companies, to contract the firm period for the 
FPSO lease corresponding to the expected producing life 
of the reserves. A low oil price creates an additional risk 
factor where the price of oil is so low that it does not cre-
ate sufficient cash flow for the oil companies to carry out 
their obligations during the fixed contract term. The existing 
contracts are seeking to protect the Group against these 
risks through termination fees, cash-flow arrangements and 
financial- and corporate guarantees. However, there are situ-
ations where the Group might suffer losses due to situations 
beyond the Group’s control. The Group will continue its 
active risk management to mitigate these risk factors. This 
is, amongst other things, done through regular evaluation 
of counterparties and their financial situation, as well as 
through having a close dialogue with clients.

Overdue trade receivables were USD 35.0 million at the end 
of 2019, compared to USD 23.2 million at the end of 2018. 
The overdue situation was mainly related to units operating 
in New Zealand and West Africa (reference to Note 12). 

The Group is also exposed to certain credit risk related 
to agreements entered into with suppliers such as yards 
used for conversion projects. The Group manages its expo-
sure to such risks through a thorough evaluation of the 

counterparty and subsequently by continuous monitoring 
of larger counterparties. 

The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit expo-
sure against any financial institution. Cash deposits, deriva-
tives and financial guarantees are predominantly maintained 
with investment grade financial institutions. The maximum 
risk exposure is represented by the carrying amount of the 
financial assets in the balance sheet except for financial 
guarantees. 

The Group regards its maximum credit risk exposure to the 
carrying amount of trade receivables (reference to Note 12), 
other current assets and financial lease receivables (refer-
ence to Note 24).

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities and the ability to close out market positions in 
order to meet obligations of finance liabilities when they 
become due. Due to the dynamic nature of the underly-
ing businesses, the Group maintains sufficient cash for its 
daily operations and its investment program via short-term 
cash deposits at banks and a commitment to make availa-
ble funds from the unutilised portion of revolving facilities 
offered by financial institutions to the Group.

The Group monitors the liquidity through cash flow fore-
casting of operational and investment activities in the short-, 
medium- and long-term. 

The refinancing of the USD 672.5 million Corporate Facility, 
the placement of BWO05 bond and the Convertible bond 
has extended tenors of the Groups financing and has mit-
igated short term refinancing and liquidity risk. Cashflows 
from continuing operations are sufficient to fulfil short-term 
financial obligations. Production from BW Catcher through-
out 2019 has been a significant contributor to the cash flow 
of the Group and together with the production of oil from 
BW Adolo in the Dussafu licence.

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the 
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undis-
counted payments. When counterparties have a choice of 
when to settle an amount, the liability is included based 
on the earliest date of which the counterparty can require 
settlement. 
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Maturity profile - financial liabilities, Year ended 2019

USD MILLION Q1 20 Q2 20 Q3 20 Q4 20 2020 2021 2022-2024
2025 and 

beyond Total

USD 672.5 million Corporate 
Facility  -  -  -  -  -  -  185.0  -  185.0 

Convertible bonds  -  -  -  -  -  -  297.4  -  297.4 

Catcher facility  28.6  28.6  28.6  28.6  114.3  114.3  371.4  -  600.0 

Petróleo Nautipa facility  5.8  -  5.8  -  11.6  8.0  8.0  -  27.6 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond 1)  42.8  -  -  -  42.8  -  -  -  42.8 

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond 1)  15.5  -  -  -  15.5  -  -  -  15.5 

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond 1)  54.4  -  -  -  54.4  -  -  -  54.4 

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond 1)  28.3  -  -  -  28.3  -  -  -  28.3 

BWO05 - NOK 900 million Bond 1)  -  -  -  -  -  -  98.8  -  98.8 

Interest rate swaps  2.5  5.3  1.6  5.4  14.9  14.0  35.0  -  63.9 

Interest payments  9.1  8.2  8.0  7.6  32.9  27.0  46.0  -  105.9 

Other  1.3  1.4  1.4  1.2  5.3  5.0  5.0  -  15.3 

Trade and other payable current  117.9  68.6  68.6  68.6  323.7  -  -  -  323.7 

Total  306.2  112.1  113.9  111.3  643.6  168.3  1,046.6  -  1,858.5 

1)	  Bond loan illustrated at swapped USD/NOK rate

Maturity profile - financial liabilities, Year ended 2018

USD MILLION Q1 19 Q2 19 Q3 19 Q4 19 2019 2020 2021-2023
2024 and 

beyond Total

USD 2,400 million facility  92.6  -  46.3  -  138.9  200.0  -  -  338.9 

Catcher facility  28.6  28.6  28.6  28.6  114.4  114.4  342.8  142.8  714.4 

Petróleo Nautipa facility  5.8  -  5.8  -  11.6  11.6  16.0  -  39.2 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond 1)  -  -  -  -  -  65.0  -  -  65.0 

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond 1)  -  -  -  -  -  86.8  -  -  86.8 

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond 1)  -  -  -  -  -  24.8  99.2  -  124.0 

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond 1)  -  -  -  -  -  -  117.0  -  117.0 

Interest rate swaps  6.3  6.3  6.4  6.4  25.4  19.2  4.2  (3.6)  45.2 

Interest payments  14.5  13.0  12.9  11.5  51.9  32.0  49.1  3.5  136.5 

Other  0.5  0.5  0.6  0.5  2.1  2.1  3.4  0.2  7.8 

Trade and other payable current  105.3  72.3  72.3  72.3  322.1  -  -  -  322.1 

Total  253.6  120.7  172.9  119.3  666.4  555.9  631.7  142.9  1,996.9 

1)	 Bond loan illustrated at swapped USD/NOK rate

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities, which can be utilised if the Group is in compliance with its loan covenants:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Expire within one year  -  - 

Expire beyond one year  375.0  273.9 
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Foreign currency risk
The functional currency of the Company and most of its 
subsidiaries is USD. In general, most operating revenues and 
a significant portion of operating expenses as well as most 
interest-bearing debt are denominated in USD. The Group 
is exposed to expenses and investments incurred in curren-
cies other than USD (‘foreign currencies’); the major cur-
rencies being Norwegian Kroner (‘NOK’), Singapore Dollars 
(‘SGD’), British Pounds (‘GBP’) and Brazilian Reals (‘BRL’). 
Operating expenses denominated in NOK, SGD, GBP, BRL 
and EUR constitute a part of the Group´s total operating 
expenses. Capital expenditures related to construction, con-
version and life extension activities on FPSOs would also to 
some extent be denominated in other currencies than USD. 
Consequently, fluctuations in the exchange rate on NOK, 
SGD, GBP, BRL, and EUR may have significant impact on the 
financial statements of the Group.

The Group enters into forward/futures contracts to reduce 
the exchange rate risk on cash flows nominated in foreign 
currencies, both related to construction and conversion 
projects and to operating and administrative expenses. The 
exchange rate risk is calculated for each foreign currency 
and takes into account assets and liabilities, liabilities not 
recognised in the balance sheet and expected purchases 
and sales in the currency in question. Currency hedges and 
other currency effects include changes in fair value of cur-
rency hedges, effects or settlement of these hedges, and 
other currency effects related to operating cash flows. Most 
of the cash flows in foreign currencies related to construc-
tion and conversion projects will be hedged. As a conse-
quence, the Group´s exposure to fluctuations in foreign 
currencies against USD will be limited.

Total nominal value of the Group’s foreign currency contracts 
was USD 163.5 million at 31 December 2019. Fair value of the 
foreign currency contracts amounted to negative USD 0.6 
million (compared to USD 104.7 million and negative USD 
3.0 million in 2018) and are presented gross in the state-
ment of financial position. Net effect of forward exchange 
contracts recognised in the statement of income in 2019 is 
positive by USD 2.4 million (negative USD 4.2 million). 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on bonds 
issued in NOK, respectively bond BWO01, BWO02, BWO03, 
BWO04 and BWO05. The Group had per 31 December 2019 
issued bonds totalling NOK 1,778 million. The foreign currency 
exposure on bond BWO01, BWO02, BWO03 and BWO05 is 
hedged through cross-currency interest swaps, amended, with 
a nominal value of USD 211.6 million, while BWO04 is hedged 
through cross-currency swaps with a nominal value of USD 
28.3 million. The market value of the cross-currency interest 
swaps and the cross-currency swaps was negative by USD 
39.8 million at 31 December 2019 (negative USD 111.3 million). 

The Group does not apply hedge accounting and net 
financial income/expense fluctuate due to mark-to-market 
changes of the swaps and due to currency gains/losses of 
the bonds.

Sensitivity Analysis
A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the 
NOK and SGD against USD at 31st December 2019 would 
have affected the measurement of financial instruments 
denominated in a foreign currency and effected equity and 
profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, 
remain constant and ignores any impact of forecasts. 

Profit or loss Equity, net of cash

USD THOUSAND Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

At 31 December 2019

NOK (6% movement)  36  (36)  28  (28)

SGD (3% movement)  807  (807)  670  (670)
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Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its fund-
ing activities. All of the Group’s interest-bearing debt has 
floating interest rate conditions, making the Group influ-
enced by changes in the market rates. The Group aims to 
hedge at least 50% of its interest rate exposure.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group’s floating rate debt 
amounted to 1,312.6 USD million (USD 1,383.0 million). 

The Group holds interest rate swaps with a nominal value of 
USD 513.8 million and interest rate caps with a nominal value 
of USD 100 million with maturity during 2020-2028. The 
weighted average interest swap rate was 2.2% at 31 December 
2019, and the average cap rate was 3.5%. The swaps and caps 
are held to hedge the quarterly cash flows from floating rate 
interest payments on the Corporate Facility - loan of USD 
620 million, the USD 800 million-loan facility and the Petróleo 
Nautipa loan facility. The market value of the interest swaps 
and caps was negative by USD 11.7 million at 31 December 2019 
(positive USD 11.7 million) and the changes in fair value has 
been recognised as a fair value gain on financial instruments. 

The cross-currency interest swaps held to hedge the BWO01, 
BWO02, BWO03 and BWO05 bonds also hedge the interest 
rate risk on these bonds with a nominal value of USD 211.6 
million with a maturity during 2020-2023. The weighted 
average interest swap rate was 6.6% at 31 December 2019. 
In December 2019 when BWO05 was settled, bond hold-
ers of BWO01, BWO02, BWO03 and BWO04, that was 
participating in BWO05, executed buy-backs of the shares 
to be invested in BWO05 and the cross-currency interests 
rates swaps was respectively partially reversed in accord-
ance with the buy-back volumes. The market value of the 
cross-currency interest rate swaps was negative by USD 
35.6 million at 31 December 2019 (negative USD 94 million) 
and the changes in fair value has been recognised as a fair 
value gain on financial instruments. 

The following table shows the Group’s sensitivity for 
fluctuations in interest rates. The calculation includes all 
interest-bearing instruments and interest rate financial 
derivatives.

Increase/decrease
in basis points

Effect on profit/loss
 before tax (USD million)

2019 +/- 50 +/- 2.3

2018 +/- 50 +/- 3.6

Of the total interest-bearing debt of USD 1,312.6 million, USD 853.7 million is hedged. 

The weighted average interest rate on financial instruments at year-end was as follows:

2019 2018

Loans secured by collateral 2.2 % 4.2 %

Loans - unsecured 4.4 % 7.1 %

Interest rate on cash deposits was 1.39% as per year-end 
2019 (2.4%).

Commodity price risk
The Groups revenues are partly derived from the sale 
of petroleum products related to the Dussafu licence. 
Therefore, the Group’s revenue is increasingly exposed to 
fluctuations in the oil price.

BW Offshore will assess the benefits of forward hedging 
monthly sales contracts on a continuous basis and oil price 
hedging will be performed in accordance with instructions 
from the Board of Directors. The Group has not entered into 
oil price hedging contracts per 31 December 2019. 

Fair values
IFRS 13 requires disclosures of fair value measurements by 
the following hierarchy: 

	· Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (level 1) 

	· Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2) 

	· Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market date (unobservable inputs) (level 3)

The fair value of the Group’s currency hedges is determined 
using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date, 
with the resulting value discounted to present value (level 
2). This is presented on separate lines in the statement of 
financial position. 

The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows based 
on observable yield curves (level 2). The fair value of the 
cross-currency interest swaps is presented as non-current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
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The fair value of the Group’s interest rate swaps, foreign exchange contracts and cross-currency interest swaps are as follows:  

USD MILLION
 Fair value 

2019
 Fair value 

2018

Derivatives current net asset/(liability)  (0.1)  (2.5)

Derivatives non-current net asset/(liability) FX  (0.6)  (0.5)

Derivatives non-current net asset/(liability) interest rate swaps  (11.7)  11.7 

Derivatives non-current net asset/(liability) cross-currency swaps  (39.8)  (111.3)

Total  (52.2)  (102.6)

The carrying amounts and fair value of borrowings are as follows:

USD MILLION

 Carrying 
amount 

2019

 Carrying 
amount 

2018
 Fair value 

2019
 Fair value 

2018

USD 672.5 million Corporate Facility  177.8  -  185.0  - 

Convertible bonds  244.7  -  297.4  - 

USD 2,400 million facility  -  337.2  -  338.9 

Catcher facility  595.8  708.3  600.0  714.4 

Petróleo Nautipa facility  27.5  39.1  27.6  39.2 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond  27.1  41.6  27.1  41.6 

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond  10.4  57.7  10.4  57.2 

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond  37.5  86.4  37.5  87.0 

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond  25.1  103.4  25.1  103.1 

BWO05 – NOK 900 million Bond  101.0  -  102.5  - 

Total  1,246.9  1,373.7  1,312.6  1,381.4 

The fair value of bonds has been measured in level 2 of the 
FV hierarchy. Other loans have been measured in level 3. The 
difference between carrying amount and fair value relates 
to amortised loan costs and the equity portion of the con-
vertible bond. Other loans were extended in July 2016 based 
on market terms at that time, and the Group has not made 
observations indicating there has been any changes in the 
Group’s credit rating subsequent to that time and hence 
no significant differences between fair value and carrying 
amount except for amortised loan costs and the equity por-
tion of the convertible bond. 

Capital structure and equity
Capital structure is monitored by the Group. The primary 
focus of the Group’s financial strategy is to ensure a healthy 
capital structure to support its business, fulfil all financial 
obligations and maximise shareholder values.

The Group also monitors and manages its capital structure in 
light of changes in the economic conditions. To maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust dividend 
payments to its shareholders, return capital to shareholders 
or issue new shares. The Group is no longer restricted from 
paying dividends.

Construction and conversion projects will normally be 
funded through current loan facilities and/or specific pro-
ject loan facilities equalling 70-80% of the cost of the pro-
ject. Project loan facilities can be established either before 
a contract for the conversion project is signed, during the 
conversion phase of a project or when the FPSO commence 
operation.

The Group has also since 2012 issued bonds in NOK. Going 
forward the Group will consider continuing issuing bonds 
when the market is attractive and if it provides competitive 
funding as an alternative to traditional bank financing. The 
Group has also recently placed a convertible bond and has 
now more diversified sources of funding. 

The Company has no specific targeted equity ratio. However, 
the loan facilities of the Group have certain covenants 
related to equity and equity ratio, both closely monitored by 
the Company (reference to Note 19). 
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Note 23 List of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries Country of incorporation Ownership 2019 Ownership 2018

Belokamenka Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
Berge Carmen Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
Bergesen Worldwide Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Mexico 100% 100%
Bergesen Worldwide Offshore Mexico S. de RL de CV Mexico 100% 100%
BW Adolo Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
BW Athena Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 0%
BW Berge Helene Pte Ltd 2) Singapore 100% 100%
BW Bergesen Worldwide Pte Ltd 2) Singapore 100% 100%
BW Carmen Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Catcher Limited 3) Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Cidade de São Vicente Pte Ltd 2) Singapore 100% 100%
BW Energy Dussafu B.V. 4) Netherlands 100% 100%
BW Energy Gabon Pte Ltd 4) Singapore 100% 100%
BW Energy Gabon SA 4) Gabon 100% 100%
BW Energy Limited 5) Bermuda 69% 0%
BW Energy Maromba B.V. 4) Netherlands 100% 0%
BW Energy Maromba do Brazil Ltda 1) 4) Brazil 100% 100%
BW Energy Holdings Pte Ltd 4) Singapore 100% 67%
BW Espoir Ivoirien Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 0%
BW Kudu Holding Pte Ltd 4) Singapore 100% 100%
BW Kudu Limited 4) United Kingdom 100% 100%
BW KMZ Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Maromba Holdings Pte Ltd 4) Singapore 100% 0%
BW Nisa Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Offshore Catcher (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
BW Offshore China Ltd China 100% 100%
BW Offshore Cyprus Limited Cyprus 100% 100%
BW Offshore do Brazil Ltda Brazil 100% 100%
BW Offshore do Brazil Servicos Maritimos Ltda Brazil 100% 100%
BW Offshore (Ghana) Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
BW Offshore Global Manning Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
BW Offshore Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 0%
BW Offshore Management B.V. Netherlands 100% 100%
BW Offshore Nautipa AS Norway 100% 100%
BW Offshore Netherlands B.V. Netherlands 100% 100%
BW Offshore Norway AS Norway 100% 100%
BW Offshore Norwegian Manning AS Norway 100% 100%
BW Offshore Opportunity I Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Offshore Peregrino Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Offshore Poland sp z o.o. Poland 100% 100%
BW Offshore Shipholding Cyprus Limited Cyprus 100% 100%
BW Offshore Shipholding Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Offshore Shipholding Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 0%
BW Offshore Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
BW Offshore TSB Invest Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
BW Offshore (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
BW Offshore USA Management, Inc. USA 100% 100%
BW Offshore USA, LLC USA 100% 100%
BW Opportunity Limited Bermuda 100% 100%
BW Pioneer (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
BW Polvo Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 0%
BW Sendje Berge Pte Ltd 2) Singapore 100% 100%
BW Umuroa Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 0%
BWO-Premier Ghana Limited Ghana 70% 70%
Egyptian Winlines Shipping Co. SAE Egypt 100% 100%
Prosafe GFPSO I B.V. Netherlands 100% 100%
Prosafe Production B.V. Netherlands 100% 100%
Prosafe Production Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100% 100%
Prosafe Services Cote d’Ivoire Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
PT BW Offshore TSB Invest 6) Indonesia 49% 49%
Tinworth Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%
Tinworth France SAS 7) France 100% 100%
Tinworth Gabon SA Gabon 100% 100%

Associates
OCS Services Limited British Virgin Islands 50% 50%
Euro Techniques Industries France 40% 40%

Joint ventures
BW Offshore Nigeria Limited Nigeria 49% 49%

1) Formerly known as BW Offshore Production do Brazil Ltda

2) Redomiciled from Bermuda to Singapore in May as part of the restructuring exercise

3) Preference shares are issued with a preferential dividend right to ICBCL. The preferential dividend is a fixed percentage of outstanding preference shares, and 
accordingly the result allocated to non-controlling interest is independent of underlying result in the subsidiary.

4) Owned by BW Energy Limited, ownership effectively reduced to 69% due to Maple Company Limited and Arnet Energy Pte Ltd investment

5) Maple Company Limited owns 30% and Arnet Energy owns 1% with effect from October

6) The company is 51% owned by Indonesian shareholders. The company is recognised in the balance sheet without non-controlling interests, as the Group has put in 
place, and have finalised agreements that ensure that 100% of profits are retained by the Group.

7) Formerly known as BWO Rouen SAS
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Companies with material non-controlling interests

Percentage non-controlling interests

Company Country of incorporation 2019 2018

BW Energy Holdings Pte Ltd 1) Singapore 0% 33%

BW Energy Limited Bermuda 31% 0%

1)	 In preparation for the planned separate listing of BW Energy Limited, the holding in BW Energy Holdings Pte Ltd by Maple Company Limited and Arnet Energy Pte 

Ltd are transferred on an arms-length basis to BW Energy Limited. Reference to Note 27 Related parties

Note 24 Leases

The Group as a lessee (IFRS 16) 
The Group leases office premises, apartments, warehouses 
and vessel. Leases of office premises generally have lease 
terms between 1 and 7 years, while apartments and ware-
houses and vessel generally have lease terms between 1 and 
3 years. Previously, these leases were classified as operating 
leases under IAS 17. 

The Group has leases of certain office equipment (i.e., personal 
computers, printing- and photocopying machines, coffee 
machines) that are considered of low value. 

Total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash 
flows is USD 10.3 million.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

USD MILLION
Land and 
buildings Vessels

Right-of-use 
assets

Lease  
liabilities

Balance at 1 January 2019 24.5 5.1 29.6 29.6 

Additions 1.9  - 1.9 1.9 

Interest adjustments 0.4  - 0.4 0.4 

Depreciation expense (6.7) (3.2) (9.9) n/a

Interest expense n/a n/a n/a 1.2 

Lease payments n/a n/a n/a (10.3)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss)  -  -  - 0.2 

Balance at 31 December 2019 20.1 1.9 22.0 23.0 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
2019 Leases under IFRS 16

USD MILLION 2019

Interest on lease liabilities 1.2

Expenses relating to short-term leases 0.6

Extension options
Some leases, such as lease of office leases, contain con-
tractual rights and options, such as extension and cancel-
lation options, exercisable only by the Group and not by 
the lessors. These options may impact the estimated lease 
term. The Group assesses at lease commencement, and 
subsequently when facts and circumstances which under 
the control of the Group require it, whether it is reasonably 
certain to exercise these options and reflects this in the 
lease term. 

The Group has estimated that the potential future lease pay-
ments, should it exercise the extension option, would result 
in an increase in lease liability of 10.4 million. 

The Group as a lessor
The Group has entered into lease contracts as lessor. 

Finance lease
The FPSO Yùum K’ak’ Náab commenced operations in 
Mexico in July 2007 on a firm 15-year lease contract. The 
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title of the vessel will automatically be transferred to the 
customer at the end of the lease term without compensa-
tion. The net present value of the minimum lease payments 
amounts to substantially all the fair value of the FPSO at 
the inception of the lease. In addition, the firm contract 
period is for the major part of the economic life of the FPSO. 

Accordingly, this contract is classified as a finance lease. The 
Group will operate and maintain the FPSO over the 15-year 
contract period. Revenues and expenses arising from this 
operation are recognised as revenues from contracts with 
customers, lease interest and operating expenses on vessels. 

The future minimum lease payments receivable from finance lease is presented in the table below: 

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Not later than one year  25.3 25.3

Later than one year and not later than five years  37.7 63.0

Later than five years  -  - 

Gross receivables from finance leases  63.0 88.3

Unearned future finance income on finance leases  (5.7)  (10.9)

Net investment in finance leases 57.3 77.4

Included in non-current assets

(Financial lease receivables)  35.6 57.3

Included in current assets

(Financial lease receivables)  21.7 20.1

Operating leases 
BW Athena and Berge Helene are not on contract as 
of December 2018. Berge Helene is being prepared for 
redeployment to Maromba filed in Brazil. The contract on 
Umuroa is terminated with effect from 31 December 2019. 
The vessel will be demobilised early 2020. Belokamenka was 
sold for recycling in December 2018.

BW Opportunity is currently in lay-up but still on contract 
with Petrobras. The Group has decided to start repairing the 
unit awaiting an agreement with Petrobras on whether the 
client would like the FPSO to return on the field. 

The rest of the FPSOs owned by year-end are on firm oper-
ating lease contracts. BW Adolo commenced operation in 
September 2018 on the Dussafu field offshore Gabon. 

Future minimum payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases contract as at 31 December are as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Not later than one year  382.5  442.2 

Later than one year and not later than five years 785.9 907.1 

Later than five years - 150.7 

Total amount 1,168.4 1,500.0 

Note 25 Commitments and guarantees

Commitments related to life extension activities, conversion projects, development of oil fields and operations, contracted 
for at the balance sheet date, but not recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Nominal amount  170.0  111.8 

Fair value  157.4  103.5 

Interest rate 8.0 % 8.0 %
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The commitment included committed contract values for 
conversion of BW Adolo, development of the Dussafu field, 
committed contract values related to life extension activities 
on the fleet, as well as for ongoing operations. 

The Group has issued bank guarantees in favour of various 
customers totalling USD 69.1 million (USD 69.2 million). 

The bank debt related to the USD 672.5 million Corporate 
Facility, as referred to in Note 19, is secured by:
	· a parent company guarantee from BW Offshore Limited
	· first priority mortgages over ten FPSOs 
	· first priority secured interest in all earnings and proceeds 

of insurance related to the same ten FPSOs 

The bank debt related to the Catcher loan facility, as referred 
to in Note 19, is secured by:
	· a parent company guarantee from BW Offshore Limited

	· a first priority mortgage over the FPSO BW Catcher, 
owned by BW Catcher Limited, Bermuda

	· first priority secured interest in all earnings and proceeds 
of insurance related to the FPSO 

The bank debt related to the Petróleo Nautipa facility, as 
referred to in Note 19, is secured by:
	· a parent company guarantee from BW Offshore Limited
	· a first priority mortgage over the FPSO Petróleo Nautipa 

owned by Tinworth Pte Ltd
	· first priority secured interest in all earnings and proceeds 

of insurance related to the FPSO Petróleo Nautipa 

The carrying value of vessels pledged as collateral per 31 
December 2019 was USD 2,226.3 million (USD 2,469.8 million). 
In addition, the shares in certain vessel owning companies in 
the Group are pledged.

Note 26 Contingent assets and liabilities 

In December 2019, Tullow exercised its 10% back-in right 
into the Dussafu license as stipulated in the production 
sharing contract (PSC), reducing the Group’s ownership of 
the Dussafu license to 73.5%. The exercise of the back-in 
right was subject to Tullow reimbursing the other Parties 
for its share of historic costs related to the Dussafu devel-
opment. The total amount has been disputed by the Parties. 
However, the Parties have now reached an agreement for 
the undisputed share of the costs, representing a total of 
USD 40.9 million as at the end of 2019. The net amount 
payable by Tullow to the existing partners is USD 19.8 mil-
lion. The Group’s share of USD 15.9 million was received in 
December 2019. Negotiations are ongoing to resolve the 
disputed costs, which amount to an additional USD 18.7 
million. A receivable is recognised in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position based on management best esti-
mate. If an agreement is not reached, then the dispute will 
be submitted to a simplified arbitration. The Groups’ share 
of the disputed costs is 81.67%.

In March 2019, the Group entered into agreements to acquire 
100% of the Maromba licence in Brazil field offshore Brazil 
from Petrobras (70%) and Chevron (30%). In August 2019, 
The Brazilian National Agency of Petroleum, Natural Gas and 
Biofuels (ANP) has granted the Group status as operator in 
Brazil and approved the transfer of Chevron and Petrobras’ 
participating interest in the Maromba field to the Group. 
The closing of the transaction with Chevron and Petrobras 
is subject to certain condition precedents. The approval 
as operator satisfies the main condition precedent for the 
closing of the Maromba field acquisition and triggered the 
first milestone payment of USD 30 million to Chevron and 
Petrobras. The total acquisition price for the Maromba field 
is USD 115 million, which will be paid over three milestones 
as the development progresses towards first oil. The second 
milestone is due at start of drilling activities and the third 
milestone is due at first oil or 3 years after the start of drilling 
activities, whichever comes first.

In April 2016, the Group received a tax assessment and tax col-
lection letter issued by the Indonesian Tax Office related to a 
tax audit for 2013 and 2014. The tax office disagrees with the 
revenue recognition method used by the Group. The Group 
has obtained written expert advice in respect of the revenue 
recognition method adopted by the Group confirming that this 
is supported by Indonesian GAAP and International Financial 
Reporting Standards. A tax audit for 2015 was concluded in 
June 2017. Similar to the tax audit for 2013 and 2014, the tax 
office disagrees with the revenue recognition method used by 
the Group. The Group brought its case to the Tax Court and on 
10 February 2020 the result of the appeal was announced in 
favour of the Group. The Tax Office may seek an appeal to the 
Supreme Court. Total claim is USD 26.5 million, including interest 
USD of 7.6 million, which could also be subject to 100% penal-
ties. Management assesses this claim to be unmerited and no 
amounts have consequently been provided for in the accounts.

BW Opportunity is currently in lay-up. The FPSO is still on con-
tract with Petrobras. The Group continues the dialogue with 
the client regarding a firm plan for the FPSO and the field. 

The Group has an ongoing tax audit in Brazil related to allo-
cation of revenue between the local entities and the vessel 
owning entities outside Brazil. Based on an evaluation of 
the case in collaboration with legal advisors, it is not found 
probable that the final tax assessment will result in additional 
tax expense for the Group, and no provision has been made.  
The total exposure is approximately USD 5.1 million.

In June 2019 the Group received a tax assessment letter issued 
by Gabon tax authorities related to a tax audit for 2014-2017. 
Total claim is USD 8.5 million including penalties. The Group 
has provided for the probable amount of the exposure.

In addition to the cases mentioned above, the Group also 
from time to time have tax audits and other minor disputes 
with clients or vendors. Provisions or claims are recognised in 
accordance with the accounting policies as stated in Note 2. 
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Note 27 Related parties transactions

The largest individual shareholder, BW Group Limited own-
ing 49.9%, is incorporated in Bermuda and is controlled by 
Sohmen family interests.

Investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 23. 

Investments in associates are disclosed in Note 17.

Remuneration to the Board of Directors, Top Management 
and auditors is detailed in Note 8.

During 2018, BW Offshore, in partnership with the BW 
Group Limited (the partnership), finalised an agreement 
with Seaboard Production Partners, LLC (SPP) for the 
transfer of Intellectual Property, including but not limited 
to development plans, reservoir and geological analysis 
and economic modelling to be utilised in the development 
of the Dussafu field. The manager, also a shareholder of 
SPP is now a key employee of BW Offshore. Under the 
terms of the agreement, the partnership has paid an 
upfront payment of USD 7.5 million for the intellectual 
property. The agreement is built on an earn out model 
with a defined set of performance targets, which would 
entitle SPP further payments conditional upon these tar-
gets being met. Nominal payments under the agreement 
could amount to a further USD 67.5 million over the life of 
the Dussafu development. No performance targets were 
met by December 2019.

During 2016, BW Offshore, in partnership with the BW Group 
Limited entered into an agreement to acquire 66.67% of the 
Dussafu production sharing contract (PSC) offshore Gabon. 
BW Offshore formed a company known as BW Energy 
Holdings Pte. Ltd. (BWEH), for the purpose of pursuing 
oil and gas interests. As per year-end 2016 the company 
was owned 100% by BW Offshore, after the closing of the 
transaction in 2017, the company was owned 66.67% by BW 
Offshore and 33.33% by Maple Company Limited, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of BW Group Limited. 

In March 2019, Carl Arnet the former CEO of BW Offshore 
Limited became the holder of 1% shares in BWEH. The new 
shares in BWEH were allotted to Arnet Energy, a wholly 
owned entity by Carl Arnet for a total consideration of USD 
1.85 million, including a pro rata share of shareholder loans.

Following this transaction, the shareholders of BWEH are 
the BW Offshore Group (66%), BW Group (33%) and Arnet 
Energy (1%). Similar to the other shareholders in BWEH, 
Arnet Energy is obliged to provide continued funding in 
respect of BWEH’s business and development costs for its 
projects, whether through equity or shareholder loans. 

In October 2019, BW Offshore Singapore Pte Ltd (BWOS), 
a wholly owned subsidiary of BW Offshore entered into 
share swap agreements pursuant to which the shares in 
and receivables on certain subsidiaries through which the 
Company holds its E&P assets are transferred to BW Energy. 
BW Energy Limited is a newly established Bermuda Limited 
company and will serve as parent company for the E&P 
business.

The E&P assets include the Group’s shareholding interest in:
	· BW Energy Holdings Pte Ltd, which holds the ownership 

interest in the Dussafu production sharing contract. As 
consideration, BWOS, Maple Company Limited and Arnet 
Energy Pte Ltd will receive, respectively, 66%, 33% and 1% 
of the shares in BW Energy, which mirrors their sharehold-
ings in BW Energy Holdings Pte Ltd.

	· BW Kudu Holding Pte Ltd, which holds a 56% participat-
ing interest in the Kudu licence.

	· BW Maromba Holdings Pte Ltd which, through its wholly 
owned subsidiary has entered into definite agreements to 
acquire 100% of the participating interest in the Maromba 
licence.

Following completion of the above transactions, the Group’s 
ownership interest in BW Energy Limited is 68,6%, while BW 
Group Limited and Arnet Energy Pte Ltd own 30,5% and 
0,9% respectively.

During 2019, Arnet Energy provided a short-term loan 
amounting to USD 0.6 million to BWEH related to develop-
ment activities on Dussafu. USD 0.3 was repaid in the same 
period. By the end of 2019, total short-term loan provided 
by Arnet Energy Limited to BWEH amounted to USD 0.3 
million was converted into equity in BW Energy Limited, a 
subsidiary of BW Offshore Limited.

During 2019, Maple Company Limited provided BWEH with 
a short-term loan amounting to USD 4.1 million related to 
development activities on Dussafu. In the same period, 
BWEH repaid USD 9.4 million. By the end of 2019, total 
short-term loan provided by Maple Company Limited to 
BWEH amounted to USD 10.3 million (USD 15.6 million) was 
converted into equity in BW Energy Limited, a subsidiary of 
BW Offshore Limited.

In 2019, the Group signed a Memorandum of Understanding 
("MOU") with Magma Oil & Gas Ltda (Magma) granting an 
option to Magma for the acquisition of 5% of the Group's 
participating interest in the Maromba Field upon occurrence 
of the first oil (reference to note 16). In July 2019, the Group 
appointed a shareholder in Magma as country manager for 
BW Energy in Brazil.
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Note 28 Subsequent events 

Trading in the shares of BW Energy on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange commenced on 19 February 2020.

BW Group Limited has been allocated 6,378,971 Offer 
Shares, which is equivalent to NOK 156 million (approxi-
mately USD 17 million). 

The Group has resolved to distribute approximately 
37,741,000 shares in BW Energy (the “Dividend Shares”) to 

the eligible BW Offshore shareholders (the “BW Offshore 
Dividend Distribution”). The total value of the Dividend 
Shares is approximately NOK 921 million (approximately 
USD 100 million). 

Following the completion of the Offering (excluding over-al-
lotment) and the BW Offshore Dividend Distribution, the 
free float of BW Energy’s shares are approximately 25% and 
the retained share interest in BW Energy Limited is 38.8%.

Note 29 Reserves (unaudited)

The Group has used the services of Netherland, Sewell & 
Associates, Inc. (NSAI) for estimating and certifying the 
reserves and resources. 

Evaluations have been based on standard petroleum 
engineering and evaluation principles. This include use of 
standard engineering and geoscience methods, or a com-
bination of methods, including volumetric analysis, analogy, 
and reservoir modelling, considered to be appropriate and 

necessary to classify, categorize, and estimate volumes in 
accordance with the 2007 PRMS definitions and guidelines. 
The reserves and contingent resources in this report have 
been estimated using deterministic methods. 

As in all aspects of oil and gas evaluation, there are uncer-
tainties inherent in the interpretation of engineering and 
geoscience data; therefore, conclusions necessarily repre-
sent only informed professional judgment.

 
Estimated remaining gross oil reserves as of December 31, 2019:

As of 31.12.2019
1P Gross 

mmbbl
1P Net
mmbbl

2P Gross
mmbbl

2P Net
mmbbl

Dussafu Marine Permit  76.0  55.9  111.4  81.9 

As of 31.12.2018
1P Gross 

mmbbl
1P Net
mmbbl

2P Gross
mmbbl

2P Net
mmbbl

Dussafu Marine Permit  25.9  19.2  35.1  24.2 

Proved reserves (1P) are those quantities of oil and gas 
which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, 
can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be commer-
cially recoverable; probable and possible reserves are those 

additional reserves which are sequentially less certain to be 
recovered than proved reserves and 2P is proved and prob-
able reserves. 

During 2018 and 2019, the Group had the following reserve development:

2P reserve
mmbbl 

Balance as of 31 December 2017  23.5 

Production 2018  (1.2)

Revision of previous estimate  12.8 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  35.1 

Production 2019  (4.3)

Revision of previous estimate  80.6 

Balance as of 31 December 2019  111.4 
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Statement of Income 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
 

USD MILLION (Year ended 31 December) Note 2019 2018

Dividend income  54.2  - 

Operating expenses

Other expenses 3  (35.0)  (34.8)

Total operating expenses  (35.0)  (34.8)

Operating profit/(loss)  19.2  (34.8)

Interest income  35.8  30.1 

Interest expense  (39.1)  (30.8)

Net currency exchange gain/ (loss)  (72.0)  15.6 

Fair value gain/ (loss) on financial instruments  69.3  (17.5)

Loss on sale of subsidiaries 11  (196.4)  - 

Impairment 11,13  (10.4)  (15.1)

Other financial income  -  0.3 

Other financial expenses  (2.1)  (0.5)

Net financial items  (214.9)  (18.0)

Profit / (loss) before tax  (195.7)  (52.8)

Income tax expense  (1.0)  (0.1)

Net profit/ (loss) for the year  (196.7)  (52.9)

USD MILLION (Year ended 31 December) Note 2019 2018

Profit / (loss) for the year  (196.7)  (52.9)

Other comprehensive income

Reclassification during the year to profit of cash flow hedges 10  2.0  2.9 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (194.7)  (50.0)

The notes on pages 117-125 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position  

USD MILLION (As at 31 December) Note 2019 2018

ASSETS

Intangible assets 14  2.9  - 

Shares in subsidiaries 11  1,250.3  1,034.3 

Intercompany receivables long-term 13  520.4  - 

Derivatives  4.4  0.7 

Total non-current assets  1,778.0  1,035.0 

Trade and other receivables  0.2  0.1 

Intercompany receivables short-term 13  280.3  546.3 

Derivatives  0.5  - 

Cash and cash equivalents 5  21.4  12.0 

Total current assets  302.4  558.4 

Total assets  2,080.4  1,593.3 

EQUITY 

Share capital 6  92.5  92.5 

Share premium  1,095.5  1,095.5 

Other equity  (323.3)  (179.5)

Total shareholders' equity  864.7  1,008.5 

LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing long-term debt 7,9  346.6  289.7 

Intercompany payables long-term 13  130.4  - 

Derivatives  23.2  111.7 

Total non-current liabilities  500.2  401.4 

Interest-bearing short-term debt 7,9  99.0  (0.6)

Trade and other payables 8,9  2.8  2.4 

Intercompany payables short-term 13  590.8  180.4 

Derivatives  22.9  1.3 

Total current liabilities  715.5  183.5 

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities  2,080.4  1,593.3 

The notes on pages 117-125 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

USD MILLION
Share  

capital
Share  

premium
Treasury 

shares
Cash flow 

hedges

Equity 
component 

of convertible 
bonds

Other 
elements

Total  
equity

At 1 January 2018  92.5  1,095.5  (2.9)  (4.9)  -  (121.8)  1,058.4 

Profit/(loss) for the period  -  -  -  -  -  (52.9)  (52.9)

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  2.9  -  -  2.9 

Share-based payment  -  -  0.1  -  -  -  0.1 

Other equity transactions  -  -  2.5  -  -  (2.5)  - 

Total equity at 31 December 2018  92.5  1,095.5  (0.3)  (2.0)  -  (177.2)  1,008.5 

At 1 January 2019  92.5  1,095.5  (0.3)  (2.0)  -  (177.2)  1,008.5 

Profit/(loss) for the period  -  -  -  -  -  (196.7)  (196.7)

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  2.0  -  -  2.0 

Issue of convertible bonds  -  -  -  -  50.1  -  50.1 

Share-based payment  -  -  -  -  -  1.0  1.0 

Other equity transactions  -  -  -  -  -  (0.2)  (0.2)

Total equity at 31 December 2019  92.5  1,095.5  (0.3)  -  50.1  (373.1)  864.7 

The notes on pages 117-125 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

USD MILLION (Year ended 31 December) Note 2019 2018

Operating activities

Profit/ (loss) before tax  (195.7)  (52.8)

Taxes paid 4  (1.0)  (0.1)

Impairment charges 13  10.4  15.1 

Loss from sale of shares 11  196.4  - 

Fair value change on financial instruments  (71.1)  12.5 

Changes in receivables and accounts payable  0.3  0.2 

Share-based payment expense  1.0  - 

Add back of net interest expense  5.2  1.2 

Other items from operating activities  9.7  (11.6)

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (44.8)  (35.4)

Investing activities

Investments in subsidiaries  (6.0)  (9.0)

Investment in intangible assets 14  (2.9)  - 

Interest received  35.8  30.1 

Dividend received  54.2  - 

Net cash flows from investing activities  81.1  21.1 

Financing activities

Changes in intercompany receivables/payables 13  (130.4)  28.6 

Repayment of long-term debt 7  (251.7)  - 

Proceeds from new interest-bearing debt 7  396.2  - 

Interest paid  (41.0)  (31.2)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (26.9)  (2.6)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  9.4  (16.9)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  12.0  28.9 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 5  21.4  12.0 

The notes on pages 117-125 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes 

Note 1 General information

BW Offshore Limited (“BW Offshore” or the “Company”) 
was incorporated in Bermuda in 2005 and is domiciled 
in Bermuda with registered address Clarendon House, 
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. BW Offshore 
Limited is the holding company.

The Company is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange (OSE).

All figures are in USD million if not otherwise stated. As a 
result of rounding differences, numbers and or percentages 
may not add up to the total. Figures in brackets refer to 
corresponding figures for 2018.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 27 February 2020.

Note 2 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Company have been pre-
pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the European Union (‘EU’). 
The financial statements have been prepared pursuant to 
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation  
of certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative 
instruments) at fair value through equity or the statement 
of income.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. 

Accounting for subsidiaries
The subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose 
entities) over which the Company has control. Control is 
achieved when the Company is exposed or has rights to var-
iable returns from its involvement with a company in which 
it has invested and has the ability to use its power to affect 
its returns from this company. Investments in subsidiaries 
are stated at cost less any impairment.

Currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The Company’s presentation currency is United States 
Dollars (“USD”). This is also the functional currency of the 
Company and most of its subsidiaries.

Transactions and balances
Transactions in a currency other than the functional  
currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the  
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of transactions. Currency translation gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation of financial year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in  

foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of 
income. Currency translation gains and losses, from items 
which are hedged as part of a connecting cash flow hedge, 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Revenue recognition
Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis 
applying the effective interest method.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
The Company’s financial assets are derivatives, trade- and 
intercompany receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition 
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow char-
acteristics and the Company’s business model for manag-
ing them. Except for trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component, the Company initially 
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, (in the case 
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss), 
transaction costs.

The Company classifies its financial assets in two categories:
•	Financial assets at amortised cost
•	Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at amortised cost 
The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if 
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both of the following conditions are met:
•	The financial asset is held within a business model with 

the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows 

•	The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments  
of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured  
using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes 
trade- and intercompany receivables and other short-term 
deposits. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Derivatives at fair value are carried in the statement of 
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair 
value through profit or loss. The category includes foreign 
exchange contracts and interest rate swaps.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily  
derecognised when:
•	The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 

expired, or
•	The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash 

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to 
a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 
either

a.	 the Company has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or

b.	 the Company has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset

Impairment of financial assets
For intercompany receivables, the Company applies a simpli-
fied approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Company 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises 
a loss allowance based on lifetime Estimated Credit Losses 
(ECLs) at each reporting date, based on its historical credit 
loss experience.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when 
internal or external information indicates that the Company 
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts 
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the  
contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured 
at amortised cost except for financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit of loss (FVTPL). Such liabilities, including 
derivatives that are liabilities, shall be subsequently measured  
at fair value. Other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Derivatives are financial liabilities when the fair value is  
negative, accounted for similarly as derivatives as assets.

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its  
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its 
terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified liability  
are substantially different, in which case a new financial  
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair 
value. The difference between the carrying amount and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an  
insignificant risk of changes in value, and short-term deposits  
with an original maturity of three months or less.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. Where the Company purchases the company’s 
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration 
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs 
(net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable  
to the company’s equity holders until the shares are  
cancelled or reissued.

Compound financial instruments
Compound financial instruments issued by the Company 
comprise convertible bonds denominated in USD, that can 
be converted to ordinary shares at the option of the holder, 
when the number of shares to be issued is fixed and does 
not vary with changes in fair value. 

The liability component of compound financial instruments 
is initially recognised at the fair value of a similar liability 
that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity  
component is initially recognised at the difference between 
the fair value of the compound financial instrument and the 
fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable  
transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity 
components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a 
compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. The equity component  
of a compound financial instrument is not remeasured.

Interest related to the financial liability is recognised in profit 
or loss. On conversion at maturity, the financial liability is 
reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is recognised.

Provisions for other liabilities and charges
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when 
it is likely that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount 
can be made. Where the Company expects a provision to 
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expendi-
tures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.  
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is  
recognised as interest expense.

Classification of assets and liabilities 
Assets for long-term ownership or use are classified as 
fixed assets. Other assets are classified as current assets. 
Liabilities which fall due more than one year after being 

incurred are classified as long-term liabilities, except for 
following year’s instalments on long-term debt. This is  
presented as current interest-bearing debt. Liabilities 
which fall due less than one year after they are incurred are  
classified as current liabilities.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies.  
It also requires the use of accounting estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial year. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may 
ultimately differ from those estimates.

Shares in subsidiaries and intercompany receivables are 
subject to impairment testing at the end of each reporting  
period. Valuation is subject to assessment of the  
recoverability in the underlying investment or receivable. 
Management’s assessment can affect the level of impairment  
loss, or reversal of such, that is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in accounting policies
There are no changes in the accounting policies. The 
Company has no lease agreements so IFRS 16 does not 
impact the financial statements.

Note 3 Operating expenses

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Management fee  20.8  20.1 

Lawyer’s fee  1.8  2.1 

Consultant’s fee  2.2  2.4 

Auditor’s fee  0.3  0.1 

Other operating expenses  9.9  10.1 

Total operating expenses  35.0  34.8 

Management fee is fee for management services provided to the Company by subsidiaries in the Group. 

Note 4 Income tax

BW Offshore Limited is a Bermuda company. Currently, 
the Company is not required to pay taxes in Bermuda on 
ordinary income or capital gains. The Company has received 
written assurance from the Minister of Finance in Bermuda 
that it will be exempt from taxation until 2036. 

The income tax for 2019 concerns withholding tax which 
the Company is subject to in certain countries where the 
Company has financial income.
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Note 5 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following items:
 
USD MILLION 2019 2018

Bank deposits  21.4  12.0 

Total cash and cash equivalents  21.4  12.0 

Note 6 Share capital

Authorised share capital:

At 1 January 2019  214,000,000 ordinary shares at par value USD 0.50 each 

At 31 December 2019  214,000,000 ordinary shares at par value USD 0.50 each 

USD THOUSAND

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2019  92,478.2 

At 31 December 2019  92,478.2 

The Company held a total of 1,513 own shares at 31 December 2019 (1,513).

Note 7 Loans and borrowings

USD MILLION Effective interest rate Maturity date

 Carrying 
amount 

2019

 Carrying 
amount 

2018

Convertible bonds 2.50% 12-Nov-24  245.2  - 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 15-Mar-20  -  41.7 

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 21-Sep-20  -  57.8 

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 11-Mar-21  -  86.6 

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.25% 16-Mar-22  -  103.6 

BWO05 – NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 04-Dec-23  101.4  - 

Total long-term debt  346.6  289.7 

BW Offshore Limited  |  Annual Report 2019120



USD MILLION Effective interest rate Maturity date

 Carrying 
amount 

2019

 Carrying 
amount 

2018

Convertible bonds 2.50% 12-Nov-24  (0.6)  - 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 15-Mar-20  27.1  (0.1)

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 21-Sep-20  10.4  (0.1)

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 11-Mar-21  37.5  (0.2)

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.25% 16-Mar-22  25.0  (0.2)

BWO05 – NOK 900 million Bond 3 month NIBOR + 4.50% 04-Dec-23  (0.4)  - 

Total short-term debt  99.0  (0.6)

Total interest-bearing debt  445.6  289.1 

BWO01 - NOK 500 million Bond
During the first quarter of 2012, BW Offshore Limited  
successfully completed the placement of a NOK 500 million 
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 15 March 2017. 
The maturity was extended to 15 March 2020 with NOK 140 
million partial redemption on 15 March 2017 as part of the 
amendment exercise. The proceeds from the Bond loan can 
be used for general corporate purposes. As per 31 December 
2019 NOK 237.6 million was outstanding. Upon placement of 
BW005 and the convertible bond, the remaining balance is 
repaid mid-January 2020 upon expiry of the 60 days Call 
Notice period. 

BWO02 - NOK 500 million Bond
During the first quarter of 2013, BW Offshore Limited  
successfully completed the placement of a NOK 500 million  
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 21 March 2018.  
The maturity was extended to 21 September 2020 with 
NOK 100 million partial redemption on 23 March 2020.  
The proceeds from the Bond loan can be used for general  
corporate purposes. As per 31 December 2019 NOK 91.5  
million was outstanding. Upon placement of BW005 and  
the convertible bond, the remaining balance is repaid 
mid-January 2020 upon expiry of the 60 days Call Notice 
period.

BWO03 - NOK 750 million Bond
During the first quarter of 2014, BW Offshore Limited  
successfully completed the placement of a NOK 750 million  
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 11 March 2019.  
The maturity was extended to 11 March 2021 with NOK 
150 million partial redemption on 11 September 2020. The  
proceeds from the Bond loan can be used for general  
corporate purposes. As per 31 December 2019 NOK 329  
million was outstanding. Upon placement of BW005 and  
the convertible bond, the remaining balance is repaid 
mid-January 2020 upon expiry of the 60 days Call Notice 
period. 

BWO04 - NOK 900 million Bond
During the second quarter of 2015, BW Offshore Limited  
successfully completed the placement of a NOK 900 million 
senior unsecured bond with maturity date on 16 June 2020. The 
maturity was extended to 16 March 2022 with NOK 90 million  
partial redemption on 16 March 2021 and NOK 180 million  
partial redemption on 16 December 2021. The proceeds from 
the Bond loan can be used for general corporate purposes. As 
per 31 December 2019 NOK 220 million was outstanding. Upon 
placement of BW005 and the convertible bond, the remaining 
balance is repaid mid-January 2020 upon expiry of the 60 days 
Call Notice period.

BWO05 – NOK 900 million Bond
During the fourth quarter 2019, BW Offshore Limited success-
fully completed the placement of a NOK 900 million senior 
unsecured bond with maturity date on 4 December 2023. 
The proceeds from the Bond loan was used to partly repay 
existing bond loans. The bond loan is subject to certain cove-
nants, including minimum book equity of at least 25% of total 
assets and minimum USD 75 million available liquidity including 
undrawn amounts available for utilisation by the Group. 

Convertible bonds
During the fourth quarter 2019, BW Offshore Limited issued a 
USD 297.4 million convertible bond with a five-year tenor and 
coupon of 2.50% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. 
The convertible bond has no regular repayments and matures 
in full on 12 November 2024. There are no financial covenants in 
the convertible bond agreement. The proceeds from the con-
vertible bond loan will be used to refinance the existing bond 
loans and general corporate purposes. The initial conversion 
price of USD 10.24 corresponds to a conversion premium of 
37.5% over the volume weighted average price of the shares on 
the Oslo Stock Exchange at 5 November 2019 (converted at the 
prevailing USD:NOK spot rate equal to NOK 9.1921 / USD 1.00).
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USD MILLION

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds  297.4 

Transaction costs  (3.8)

Net proceeds  293.6 

Amount classified as equity (net of transaction costs of USD 0.7 million)  (50.1)

Accreted interest  1.1 

Carrying amount of liability at 31 December 2019  244.6 

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

2019 Liabilities

USD MILLION Interest payable
Intercompany 

payables
Interest-bearing 
short-term debt

Interest-bearing 
long-term debt Total

Balance at 1 January 2019  -  -  (0.6)  289.7 

Proceeds from loans and borrowings  -  -  -  396.2  396.2 

Repayment of borrowings  -  -  -  (251.7)  (251.7)

Interest paid  (35.7)  -  (1.0)  (4.3)  (41.0)

Changes in intercompany receivables  -  (130.4)  -  -  (130.4)

Total changes from financing cash flows  (35.7)  (130.4)  (1.0)  140.2  (26.9)

Effects of changes in foreign exchange rate  (5.8)  70.6  64.8 

Liability-related:

Non-cash movements  105.8  (105.8)  - 

Accreted interest  -  1.1  1.1 

Expensed capitalised borrowing costs  0.6  0.9  1.5 

Total liability-related other changes  106.4  (103.8)  2.6 

Total equity-related other changes  -  (50.1)  (50.1)

Balance at 31 December 2019  99.0  346.6 

2018 Liabilities

USD MILLION Interest payable
Intercompany 

payables
Interest-bearing 
short-term debt

Interest-bearing 
long-term debt Total

Balance at 1 January 2018  -  -  (0.7)  304.3 

Repayment of borrowings  -  -  -  -  - 

Interest paid  (31.2)  -  -  -  (31.2)

Changes in intercompany receivables  -  28.6  -  -  28.6 

Total changes from financing cash flows  (31.2)  28.6  -  -  (2.6)

Effects of changes in foreign exchange rate  -  (15.2)  (15.2)

Liability-related:

Expensed capitalised borrowing costs  -  0.7  0.7 

Total liability-related other changes  -  0.7  0.7 

Balance at 31 December 2018  (0.6)  289.7 
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Note 8 Trade and other payables

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Other accruals  2.8  2.4 

Total trade and other payables  2.8  2.4 

Note 9 Financial assets and liabilities

As of 31 December, the Company had financial assets and liabilities in the following categories:

USD MILLION Year ended 31 December 2019 Financial assets

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 21.4  -  21.4 

Derivatives 4.9  -  4.9 

Interest-bearing debt  -  445.6  445.6 

Other current liabilities  -  25.7  25.7 

Total  26.3  471.3  497.6 

USD MILLION Year ended 31 December 2018 Financial assets

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents  12.0  -  12.0 

Derivatives  0.7  -  0.7 

Interest-bearing debt  -  289.1  289.1 

Other current liabilities  -  3.7  3.7 

Total  12.7  292.8  305.5 
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Note 10 Financial risk management 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial 
risks. Overall risk management follows and is handled by 
the BW Offshore Group. These processes and policies are 
described in more detail under Note 22 of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Foreign currency risk 
The Company’s business is not exposed to significant foreign 
exchange risk as its operating expenses are mainly denom-
inated in United States Dollars, which is the functional cur-
rency of the Company. The Company enters into forward/
futures contracts to reduce the exchange-rate risk in cash 
flows nominated in foreign currencies related to adminis-
trative expenses. The exchange-rate risk is calculated for 
each foreign currency and considers assets and liabilities, 
liabilities not recognised in the balance sheet and expected 
purchases and sales in the currency in question. Currency 
hedges and other currency effects include changes in fair 
value of currency hedges, effects or settlement of these 
hedges, and other currency effects related to operating 
cash flows. 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on bonds 
issued in NOK, respectively bond BWO01, BWO02, BWO03, 
BWO04 and BWO05. The foreign currency exposure on 
bond BWO01, BWO02, BWO03 and BWO05 are hedged 
through cross-currency interest swaps with a nominal 
value of USD 211.6 million, while BWO04 is hedged through 
cross-currency swaps with a nominal value of USD 28.3 
million.

Interest rate risk 
Except for the amount due to and from subsidiaries, 
the Company’s operating cash flows are independent of 
changes in market interest rates.

The Company holds interest rate caps with a nominal value 
of USD 100 million in total with maturity in 2023. The caps 
are held to hedge the quarterly cash flows from floating rate 
interest payments on the Corporate Facility loan.

The cross-currency interest swaps held to hedge the BWO01, 
BWO02, BWO03 and BWO05 bonds also hedge the interest 
rate risk on these bonds.
 
Credit risk 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to the 
amount due from the subsidiaries (non-trade). At the balance 
sheet date, this amount due from subsidiaries (non-trade) is 
not past due. The maximum exposure is represented by the 
carrying amount of this financial asset on the balance sheet. 

Liquidity risk and capital risk 
The funding requirements of the Company are met by the 
subsidiaries of the BW Offshore Group. The Company’s 
objective when managing capital is to ensure that the 
Company is adequately capitalised and that funding  
requirements are met by the BW Offshore Group.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed  
capital requirements.

Note 11 Shares in subsidiaries

Name of companies Country of incorporation 2019 2018

Belokamenka Limited  Bermuda 100 % 100 %

Berge Carmen Singapore Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 0 % 100 %

BW Catcher Limited  Bermuda 100 % 100 %

BW Nisa Limited  Bermuda 100 % 100 %

BW Offshore Cyprus Limited  Cyprus 0 % 100 %

BW Offshore do Brazil Ltda.  Brazil 100 % 100 %

BW Offshore Holdings Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 100 % 0 %

BW Offshore Opportunity I Limited  Bermuda 100 % 100 %

BW Offshore Peregrino Limited  Bermuda 100 % 100 %

BW Offshore Shipholding Ltd  Bermuda 100 % 100 %

Berge Carmen Singapore Pte. Ltd. and BW Offshore Cyprus 
Limited was sold to a 100% owned Group company. Net 
loss from sale of subsidiaries was USD 196.4 million. In 
2018, the Company recorded an impairment of 7.5 million, 

mainly related to investments in subsidiaries, to reflect the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries as of 31 
December 2018.
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Note 12 Guarantees 

The Company has issued parent guarantees as security for 
its subsidiaries’ bank debts, relating to the USD 672.5 million 
Corporate facility, the Catcher USD 800 million facility and 

the Petróleo Nautipa USD 80 million facility, as listed in Note 
25 of the consolidated financial statements of BW Offshore 
Group.

Note 13 Intercompany receivables and payables

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Intercompany receivables long-term  520.4  - 

Intercompany receivables short-term  280.3  546.3 

Intercompany payables long-term  130.4  - 

Intercompany payables short-term  590.8  180.4 

Intercompany loan agreements with subsidiaries are set 
up based on regular market rates. Outstanding balances at 
year-end are unsecured. For the year ended 31 December 
2019, the Company has recorded an impairment of USD 

10.4 million on intercompany loan (9.3 million). In 2018, the 
Company recorded a reversal of impairment of USD 1.6 
million.

Note 14 Intangible assets

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Software 2.9  - 

Total 2.9  - 
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Responsibility 
statement 
We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the 
financial statements for the period 1 January to 31 
December 2019 have been prepared in accordance with 
current applicable accounting standards and give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of the Company and the Group taken 
as a whole. We also confirm that the Board of Directors’ 
Report includes a true and fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the 
Company and the Group, together with a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company 
and the Group. 

27 February 2020

Mr. Andreas  
Sohmen-Pao

Chairman

Mr. Christophe  
Pettenati-Auzière

Vice Chairman

Ms. Clare  
Spottiswoode

Director

Mr. René 
Kofod-Olsen

Director

Mr. Carl K. 
Arnet

Director

Mr. Maarten  
Scholten
Director
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Alternative performance  
measures

The Group discloses alternative performance measures in 
addition to those required by IFRS, as we believe these pro-
vide useful information to management, investors and secu-
rity analysts regarding our historical financial performance. 

EBIT
EBIT, as defined by the Group, means earnings before inter-
est and tax. Reference to Consolidated Statement of Income 
in the Financial Statements for calculation of EBIT. 

EBITDA
EBITDA, as defined by the Group, means EBIT excluding 
depreciation and amortisation, impairment and disposal 

and gain from sale of tangible fixed asset. EBITDA may 
differ from similarly titled measures from other companies. 
Reference to Consolidated Statement of Income in the 
Financial Statements for calculation of EBITDA. 

Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures means investments in vessels, E&P 
assets, intangible assets and property and other equip-
ment, including capitalised interest and asset retirement 
obligations. Capital expenditure may differ from investment 
in operating fixed assets and intangible assets presented 
in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, as capital 
expenditure may also contain non-cash transactions. 

 
 

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Vessels  113.6  147.0 

Tangible E&P assets  73.8  175.6 

Property and other equipment  4.3  4.8 

Intangible assets  72.0  33.1 

Total capital expenditures  263.7  360.5 

Adjustment between years  2.2  12.7 

Asset retirement obligation  7.6  (16.0)

Investment in operating fixed asset and intangible assets  273.5  357.2 

 
 
Net interest-bearing debt
Net interest-bearing debt is defined as short-term and long-term interest-bearing debt less cash and cash equivalents. 
 

USD MILLION 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents  (250.2)  (142.1)

Long-term interest-bearing debt  1,025.7  1,112.8 

Short-term interest-bearing debt  221.1  260.9 

Net interest-bearing debt  996.6  1,231.6 

 

Order backlog
Order backlog is defined as the aggregated revenue back-
log from firm contracts and probable options. 

Equity ratio
Equity ratio is an indicator of the relative proportion of 
equity used to finance the Group's assets, defined as total 
equity divided by total assets.
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Independent auditor’s report

KPMG AS
Sørkedalsveien 6 
Postboks 7000 Majorstuen 
0306 Oslo

Telephone +47 04063
Fax +47 22 60 96 01
Internet www.kpmg.no
Enterprise 935 174 627 MVA

 
 
To the General Meeting of BW Offshore

Independent auditor’s report

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of BW Offshore Limited, which comprise:

• The consolidated financial statements of BW Offshore and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the
consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

• The financial statements of the parent company BW Offshore (“the Company”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the statement of 
income, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations.

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the EU.

• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BW Offshore Limited  |  Annual Report 2019128



Audtor’s report 2019
BW Offshore Limited

2 

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of FPSO and FSO fleet

Reference is made to Note 14 FPSOS and vessels under construction in the Consolidated Financial 
statements.
 

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
The Group's FPSO and FSO fleet represents a 
significant portion of total assets. The Group 
regularly reviews whether there are any 
impairment indicators and test the individual 
assets for impairment if an indicator is identified. 

To determine the recoverability of these assets 
management uses valuation models which
includes management's estimates of the future 
cash flows that these assets are expected to 
produce. The carrying value of these assets are
particularly sensitive to management's 
assumptions made around utilisation of the 
vessels beyond the current contract period. 
These assumptions are, by nature, dependent 
upon the application of judgement and are 
subject to estimation uncertainty. Key 
assumptions that are subject to significant 
judgement in the valuation models include, 
capex for modifications, redeployment 
expenses, future charter rates and discount rate.

For those assets where management identified 
an impairment (reversal) indicator, an 
impairment test was performed. Management 
concluded that no impairment or reversal of 
impairment should be recognised in 2019.

We assessed whether all material assets 
requiring impairment testing had been identified 
by management. For this purpose we have 
assessed key input factors in the impairment 
(reversal) trigger assessment, including 
remaining contract period and field lifetime 
expectancy.

For those assets where management identified 
an impairment (reversal) trigger, we evaluated 
the impairment calculations performed, including 
the assumptions applied.

We assessed the estimates of future cash flows 
and challenged whether these were appropriate 
considering:
• historical performance and budgets; 
• remaining contract period and status of 

contract renegotiations;
• long term market views published by 

consultancies and respected industry bodies 
which were sourced by the Group and 
independently by us; and 

• previous estimates. 

We also assessed by reference to market data 
the inputs to and calculation of the discount rate 
used by management. The key inputs included 
the risk-free rate, market risk premium and 
industry financing structures (gearing and cost of 
debt and equity). In testing these assumptions 
we made use of KPMG valuation experts.

We assessed the mathematical accuracy of the 
valuation models used to calculate the value in 
use. 

We assessed the adequacy of disclosure related 
to impairments in Note 14 FPSOs, FSOs and 
vessels under construction in the Consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (“Management”) are responsible for the 
preparation in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
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exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Oslo, 27 February 2020
KPMG AS

Arve Gevoll
State Authorised Public Accountant
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Addresses

BW Offshore Limited
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton, HM11
Bermuda

BW Offshore Singapore Pte Ltd
30 Pasir Panjang Road
#14-31/32 & #15-32 Mapletree Business City
Singapore 117440
Tel: +65 6632 7888
Fax: +65 6323 1263

BW Offshore Norway AS
Drammensveien 151
P.O. Box 33 Skøyen
NO-0212 Oslo
Norway
Tel: +47 2313 0000
Fax: +47 2313 0001

BW Offshore do Brasil Ltda
Rua Lauro Muller 116 Sala 703 Torre do Rio Sul - Botafogo
Rio de Janeiro
22290-160
Brazil
Tel.: +55 21 2244 8350

BW Offshore Management USA Inc
2925 Briar Park, Suite 1295
Houston, Texas 77042 
USA
Tel.: +1 713 781 0670 
Fax: +1 713 781 1216

contact@bwoffshore.com
www.bwoffshore.com

Global presence
Bermuda: Hamilton
Singapore
Norway: Oslo, Arendal
Brazil: Rio de Janeiro, Cidade de Santos
USA: Houston, New Orleans
Mexico: Ciudad del Carmen
New Zealand: New Plymouth
India: Mumbai
Nigeria: Lagos
Republic of Côte d’Ivoire: Abidjan
Gabon: Port Gentil, Libreville
The People’s Republic of China: Shanghai
Indonesia: Jakarta
United Kingdom: Aberdeen
Cyprus: Limassol
Netherlands: Hoofddorp



 



We deliver efficient offshore 
production by meticulously 
integrating BW Offshore's  
and our clients' know-how  
for ever better solutions

www.bwoffshore.com

D
esig

n
: A

rtb
o

x A
S

. Trykk: P
rin

tb
o

x A
S

. 


